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POSSIBLE ABUSE AND MALADMINISTRATION OF HOME
REHABILITATION PROGRAMS FOR THE ELDERLY

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 8, 1980

U.S. SENATE,
SPECIAL COMMI rrrE ON AGING,

Santa Fe, N. Mess.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9 a.m., in the auditorium,

National Guard Armory, Senator Lawton Chiles, chairman, presiding.
Present: Senators Chiles, Melcher, and Domenici.
Also present: E. Bentley Lipscomb, staff director; David A. Rust,

minority staff director; Charles H. Morley, chief investigator; and
Kathleen L. Makris, minority office manager.

WELCOMING REMARKS BY SENATOR PETE V. DOMENICI

Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, before you make your opening
statement, let me welcome you, Senator Chiles and Senator Melcher,
to New Mexico and to this day of hearings. I know it is inconvenient
and very difficult for both of you, in the middle of our recess, to take
time from your busy schedules to be here. I am sure that all New
Mexicans will appreciate it. We think we have a problem which de-
serves the attention of the Senate. By your presence, and by this
hearing, we are hopeful we can take care of some of the issues that have
been discovered in our State.

Therefore, on behalf of our State, we are most appreciative of your
being here. We welcome you. We hope it hasn't been too difficult for
you. We hope the hearing will go well.

All the witnesses the committee has asked for are here. We are ready
to proceed.

Thank you, again.

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR LAWTON CHILES, CHAIRMAN

Senator CYmCE. Thank you very much, Senator Domenici. I know
that Senator Melcher and I are glad to be here. We wish it were under
better circumstances. We are delighted to have an opportunity to be
in your State.

The Senate Committee on Aging is a committee that has been oper-
ating for a number of years in a very bipartisan manner, and continues
to do so. Even now, when we are in very partisan times, a time of the
year which is very partisan, the work that you have done on the com-
mittee as the ranking minority member is exemplary, and certainly
Senator Melcher has long been interested in the problems that we are
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dealing with, and problems of our senior citizens. He also is an expert
in rural problems.

Today's hearing is the result of our investigation into the Farmers
Home Administration home rehabilitation program in northern New
Mexico. An investigation was conducted by the committee at the re-
quest of our ranking minority member, Senator Domenici. Though we
will focus primarily on the Farmers Home grant under section 504 of
the Housing Act, we will also discuss other home rehabilitation pro-
grams which provide similar services to the same constituents.

One of my concerns over a number of years has been the extent
of the duplication and overlap which arises when Federal programs
are administered by several agencies. The Federal housing program is
a program in point. Among the housing programs available in New
Mexico are those administered by Farmers Home, by the Community
Services Administration, by the Department of Housing and Urban
Development, the Department of Energy's weatherization grant pro-
gram, and the New Mexico Housing and Rural Development Author-
ity rehabilitation grant.

It has been my experience that unless these types of similar agency
programs are very tightly managed, they can easily overlap and result
in a waste of the taxpayer's money. Congress, of course, intended for
these various programs to complement each other. After seeing some
of the programs discovered in New Mexico, we decided that we would
take a quick look at some of the section 504 programs, and look at the
way the program was working in several other States.

We found, in looking at Florida and Pennsylvania, that Farmers
Home make excellent use of the community, State, and Federal pro-
grams to get more productivity out of their limited section 504 funds
that could otherwise be possible. This type of efficiency is going to be
required of all of our Federal programs in the future as inflation
makes us tighten our belts more and more.

In the two rural counties we were able to look at in Florida, we
found that Farmers Home uses CETA labor supplied by a multi-
county organization to rehabilitate the houses receiving 504 grants.
Workmanship on the houses that we inspected appeared to be quite
good. In Pennsylvania, CETA workers are used in several counties to
locate people eligible for the 504 grants. The CETA workers then
assist the applicants in packaging their application and finding con-
tractors and otherwise assisting them throughout the grant process.

In Pennsylvania, we saw another instance where Farmers Home
offices used both CETA and Green Thumb part-time help in their
programs to help assist them in their heavy caseload.

In contrast, we are going to hear from several witnesses today who
have received two or more grants from different agencies, and whose
houses still have not been properly rehabilitated. Rather than com-
plement each other, one program was apparently trying to remedy the
problem created by a previous program. This, of course, is not at all
what Congress had in mind in establishing the various housing pro-
grams. It looks like the failure was right from the outset. Once that
failure had occurred, then we were kind of throwing good money after
bad.

For those of you who are not familiar with the various programs,
I would like to briefly outline the four we will be looking at today.
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The Farmers Home section 504 grants provide up to $5,000 to
rehabilitate homes of the rural elderly of limited income so as to
remove health and safety hazards.

Then we have the Department of Energy's weatherization program,
which is administered at the local level through community action
agencies. It provides up to $560 in grant funds to be used by people of
limited income to purchase insulation, doors, windows, et cetera. The
labor for this program is generally provided by CETA workers.

Then we have HUD block grants that can be used in part to re-
habilitate homes owned by low-income families. Unlike the Farmers
Home grants, these HUD grants are not restricted solely to the elderly.

Finally, the State Housing and Rural Development Administration
grants are Federal grants that are matched with State funds for use
in home repair and rehabilitation of low-income families.

We know that these programs have been effective in other locations.
We hope that this is the rule rather than the exception. Unfortunately,
we have received information that there are some rather severe prob-
lems in northern New Mexico. Our hearing today is going to take a
closer look at these programs and hope that if such a problem exists,
we, as a committee and Members of Congress, will be able to prevent
their recurrence elsewhere.

Another thing we will be looking into today, and perhaps in the
future, is when these problems come to light, as they have by the in-
vestigation that Senator Domenici triggered originally, what is hap-
pening then? Ts the corrective process working? Once someone rings
the bell, once the auditors come in, is someone following up? What we
find many times is that even where auditors discover problems, and
it looks like this is true in northern New Mexico too, no one follows up
on that auditors' report. No one determines whether the auditor has
found what amounts to frand or not. We pride ourselves with thinking
that we have now established an Inspector General in most of the
agencies of the Federal Government. The Inspector General is to be
that force within that agency that is to self-police it. Yet. if the audi-
tors are not meshing with the inspectors, if they are not talking to each
other, if the auditors' findings are not looked at by someone in author-
ity, someone in management who is going to do something about it,
then we have created one more layer of bureaucracy, but nothing is
going to happen. We will see what the results of that have been today,
too.

Senator Domenici, again we are glad to be in your State. This is a
problem that certainly needed to be brought to the attention of the
committee. We are glad that you have done that. We look forward to
hearing about it.

Senator DOMENICT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I wonder if I mi-ht vield to Senator Melcher and let him make his

opening remarks. Then I will make mine last, if that is all right with
you, John.

STATEMENT BY SENATOR JOHN MELCHER

Senator MELOCIER. Thank you. Pete, and Mr. Chairman.
I first became aware of this set of circumstances when the committee

met in executive session .fnne 30 of this vear. We then reviewed
Dr. La Vor's memo, which was dated June 27, in the executive session.
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I was quite shocked to learn that a very fine program, designed to help
the elderly in their homes, was apparently being abused. I think there
is, to put it in the vernacular, strong evidence of ripoffs of the elderly
by contractors who are certainly not delivering fully in terms of labor
and materials.

My State of Montana is pretty much like New Mexico. I suspect we
could argue the better aspects of each State, but, frankly, I think they
are pretty much alike.

We depend on the Farmers Home Administration and the Depart-
ment of Agriculture programs in Montana, just as you do here in
New Mexico, and just as so many other States do throughout the
country.

In States like New Mexico and Montana where there are vast areas
of big agricultural land but relatively few people, we look up to these
agricultural programs as being part and parcel of what we are doing
about the livelihoods of people in our States. Those of us who come
from States like this have looked for years at how to improve the
programs for rural areas. We chose the Farmers Home Administra-
tion to carry the ball for a great number of programs, including this
one for the elderly, section 504.

It is not working very well in your area. The evidence isn't all in,
and we can't draw a final conclusion.

But make no mistake, we want these programs to work. We are
determined that they are going to work well. They are modest fund-
ing programs. When you look at the total funding-I think it is
around $24 million this year. That is a relatively small program out
of the Federal budget. Nevertheless, it must work. It has got to work
and it can't be allowed to falter or deteriorate.

I hope this committee hearing today will lead to a more effective
504 program and strengthen related housing programs for the elderly
here in New Mexico and throughout the country. I am going to pay
careful attention to just how these services are being delivered in my
State of Montana. I have confidence in the Farmers Home Admtinis-
tration. If they sustain a black eye in one program, that may jeop-
ardize their funding in a whole host of other programs. We could see
going down the tube 10 years of hard work in Congress trying to move
up the delivery of programs that are needed for the rural areas. To
have them go down the tube because of slipshod management in a
program such as 504, and have the rest of FmHA suffer as a result
would be tragic. We want this program to work just as we want the
rest of the elderly programs to work and as much as we want all
worthy Federal programs to work. We have got to get the dollar's
worth out of them.

STATEMENT BY SENATOR PETE V. DOMENICI

Senator DOMENIC1. Thank you very much, John.
Mr. Chairman, you know it is my pleasure to have both of you here.

You have traveled ua great distance to be with us: to help with this
program. Your concern, both as lepislators and taxpayers, about the
efficient, effective, and honest use of our Nation's resources is appre-
ciated.
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This is the first time the Senate Committee on Aging has held an
investigative hearing in New Mexico to explore possible abuse and
maladministration in Federal programs. I have played an active role
in efforts to shape legislation and to help you, Mr. Chairman, in re-
questing appropriations, regulations, and public policies to better
meet the needs of our older Americans. I have taken a special interest
in the needs of rural New Mexicans and Americans. In many cases,
they are the poorest, most isolated, and most underserved of our Na-
tion's needy senior citizens.

Our committee has taken oversight responsibilities for a wide range
of aging programs. On April 11 of this year, I chaired hearings of
this committee in Las Vegas, N. Mex. These hearings were entitled
"Rural Elderly-The Isolated Population: A Look at Services in
the 80's." We heard testimony from senior citizens, service providers.
State and local officials, and representatives of Federal agencies. Dur-
ing the hearing and the town forum which followed, several senior
citizens raised questions about the operation of some of the Federal
Government's programs in their counties.

An elderly resident from one of our very isolated communities
charged that those individuals responsible for the housing rehabilita-
tion program in Mora County used the program to "play favorites."
He went on to state that the elderly firmly believed that many times
the improvements made to homes went to those who least needed them,
rather than to those that needed them the most. He said he knew of
people who were pretty well off getting help, while those who were
very poor didn't receive any help.

Another citizen complained of favoritism or nepotism, and later
provided documentation to support his contention. As a result of rev-
elations emerging from that hearing, I approached Senator Chiles
to ask that he commence an investigation. The services of Dr. Martin
La Vor were secured to carry out this investigation.

Over the last 4 months, Dr. La Vor and other members of our staff,
have made numerous trips to New Mexico. They visited homes in three
different towns, had conferences with Federal, State, and local officials,
and met with numerous senior citizens who felt they had been poorly
served.

I believe that the testimony we are about to receive will reveal an
unfortunate pattern of shoddy workmanship, weak and ineffective
supervision, and possible fraud. This is especially tragic because the
victims are the old and very poor, many of whom are defenseless in
the face of these abuses. They cannot cope with the complexities of
government. Their plight sends a very strong signal that something is
wrong. It has to be corrected.

It all boils down to making sure that those who run the programs
are accountable. This hearing is an accumulation of this process. I
hope it will help all of us to understand the problems and why they
exist and where the responsibility lies. We must determine what steps
can be taken to insure there won't be a repetition.

I hope these hearings will be constructive, Mr. Chairman, and en-
able us, as national legislators. to identify specific problems; and then
apply specific solutions to eliminate them.
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Mr. Chairman, some of our witnesses may have difficulty with Eng-
lish. We have an interpreter. I can help them translate to some extent.
I hope they will all try to speak as much as they can in English be-
cause we do have limited time. You have to leave early. I hope you will
understand some them will have difficulty. I think this also points to
the nature of the bilingual problems we have in terms of contracts.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CHILES. Dr. Martin La Vor will be our first witness.
Dr. La Vor, we are going to swear all our witnesses because this is

an investigative hearing.

STATEMENT OF DR. MARTIN LA VOR, INVESTIGATOR/CONSULT-
ANT, U.S. SENATE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING

Dr. LA -VoR. I would like to take this opportunity to extend my ap-
preciation to you, Mr. Chairman, to you, Senator Domenici, and
Senator Melcher, and your personnel and committee staffs for the
kindness and cooperation given me throughout this investigation. It
is thoroughly appreciated and most helpful to me.

Mr. Chairman, I have prepared a detailed report.
Senator CHILS. Without objection, it will be made a part of the

record.
Dr. LA VOR. As well as the first investigative report?
Senator CHiLES. Yes.'
Dr. LA VOR. So in the interest of time, let me summarize the major

findings of the investigation.
We found the rehabilitation work done on most of the homes was

generally incomplete and of poor quality.
We found that the Farmers Home Administration-FmHA-and

Community Services Administration-CSA-guidelines and proce-
dures for awarding money and their methods for audit and evaluation
are so loose they almost invite misuse.

We found elderly, low income, and handicapped individuals truly
need help in rehabilitating their homes, since a large number of their
houses are substandard and in need of repair.

We found that mismanagement of existing programs has resulted in
the expenditure of Federal and State funds to such an extent as to
actually frustrate and even circumvent the objectives Congress estab-
lished to meet the pressing needs of low-income rural elderly.

We found the rules, regulations, and procedures promulgated by
the national FmHA office were generally not adhered to in the three
counties investigated. This breakdown in the management of the pro-
gram appears to be a major cause of the problems which were observed.

We found duplication and overlap of programs.
We found programs funded by different agencies and authorized by

different laws being used for the same purposes and for the same
target populations.

We found money provided by one program is often used to do,
redo, or correct work that was already done by another.

We found there is little, if any, coordination or communication be-
tween the Farmers Home Administration, the State Housing and

1 Retained in committee files.
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Rural Development Authority, the Department of Housing and Urban
Development, the Department of Health and Human Services, the
Department of Energy, the Office of Community Affairs in New
Mexico. or at the regional or Federal levels.

We found evidence that nepotism was a factor in the awarding of
grants and the selection of contractors.

We found some evidence of possible double billing for the same job.
Mr. Chairman, at this point, a brief explanation about how this

investigation evolved is in order. In late May, I came to New Mexico
for the first time to examine the operation of several programs for
the elderly. Except for a courtesy call on the New Mexico State
Agency on Aging, I made no contact with any of the agencies involved.
I met primarily with older New Mexicans, including John Haberl,
who was one of the senior citizens who spoke up at the April 11 hear-
ing. Mr. Haberl and others showed me several homes in the Las Vegas
area which had received Federal rehabilitation assistance grants. Each
contact seemed to lead to another. I visited homes in other parts of
San Miguel, Mora, and Rio Arriba Counties and was surprised by
what I found. Many homes were small and in need of extensive repair
even though they had already received one or more home improve-
ment grants funded by the Federal Government. I took pictures of
each home and made notes about what I had observed.

Mr. Chairman, I would like to show the committee some slides made
from photographs I took of these houses so that you may gain a better
understanding of what I found.

I would point out, Mr. Chairman, that the owner of this home is
not here today and has not been called as a witness.

Let me first describe what this home received from grants. There
was a weatherization grant for $791.37. I have the purchase order
here. The $791 goes for material only. They purchased three storm
windows, one storm door, two solid core doors, 38 12-foot tin roof
strips, six pieces of sheetrock, four rolls of insulation, miscellaneous
lumber, and other materials.

Senator Ci-iLs. Is this an "after" picture?
Dr. LA VoR. This is after these three grants that I am going to

describe to you.
That was the weatherization grant.
They received a Farmers Home 504 grant. I will read from the

actual file what that grant was supposed to do.
"Grant will repair roof, sheetrock in bedroom and kitchen, replace

two exterior doors, replace three windows and one plate glass." That
grant was for $3,400. So we have $791.37 for the first grant, $3,400
for the second. -That home subsequently received a grant from the
State housing authority. I will read the official description from that
grant. "Grant will be used to repair roof," which is a duplication of
the first one, "install new windows," which is a duplication of the first
grant, weatherization grant and the Farmers Home grant. "and door
in kitchen," which is a duplication, "and install new electrical wiring
in the dwelling."

At this point, Mr. Chairman, we are going to show nine slides. I
would just like to point out what we found. These were taken in July
of this year after all the work was completed.
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This [indicating] is the window that was put in in the weatheriza-
tion grant, the storm door. This is what you find throughout northern
New Mexico. The windows are put in solidly, but the house generally
needs to be painted. That is not the problem. On this house there was
electrical work put in. The contractor broke into the wall here [indi-
cating]. When I came 1 year after the work was done, this [indicat-
ing] area was still exposed.

These [indicating] are two more windows in the back that were not
done by the weatherization. You can see the difference. There are bet-
ter slides coming up.

One of the reasons this house was fixed was that the roof leaked.
The roof was repaired and this [indicating] is still open. Right here
[indicating] you can see through. That [indicating] is sunlight. Right
here [indicating] is sunlight. The house is still open. The owner of
the home told me that the roof leaked worse now than before they
started working.

This [indicating] just shows you what the condition of the wall is.
This [indicating] door was supposed to have been replaced and it

was not. There is so much wind coming in that they have actually used
cardboard for insulation at this point.

Here [indicating] is a window put in by the contractor. You can see
here an example of how it is just kept open. Also the roof was sup-
posed to have been fixed. The wood up there is rotting. There are no
soffits on the roof and there is no insulation. Also, when it rains, the
water comes down and comes through the window.

The next slide, this is the drainpipe coming from the sink. The
water just comes out and goes right into the ground.

The contractor put these steps up. There is no railing. This is the
steps. The purpose of the grant is to make homes safe and sanitary.

The total that this house received was $7,691.37. There are many
other examples, but this house is a reflection of the others and they will
be presented later on in the morning as the witnesses seek to give their
testimony.

Mr. Chairman, getting back to how the investigation evolved, after
meeting with senior citizens and visiting approximately 10 homes, I
drove to Villanueva and had an unscheduled meeting with Pete Gal-
legos, Sr., who is a leader of senior citizen activities in San Miguel
County. During a lengthy conversation, in which many senior activi-
ties were discussed, I just happened to ask him whether any of the
nearby homes had received rehabilitation grants from the Farmers
Home Administration. Mr. Gallegos directed me to four homes which
were within a few hundred yards of the general store he owns in the
center of town. I found a striking difference between these homes and
those I had observed earlier. The contrast was overwhelming because
these homes were beautifully done and had received more and better
work than anything I had seen before or since. Mr. Chairman, I would
like to show some additional slides which will demonstrate what was
done to these homes for their $5,000 grants.

There are four slides of this home. This [indicating] is the outside.
You can see the condition of the house was much better than most you
will see later. They put on an entire new tin roof.

You can just go through the four slides. I will read what this house
received. Installed a complete new tin roof, new kitchen cabinets, new
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panel in several rooms, a new water heater, a new bathroom heater, two
new windows, two new storm doors. They also had 10 to 15 sheets of
sheetrock left over. The owner claimed that she still had money left
over after all this work was done.

The next home, there are three slides. This home, installed a com-
plete new tin roof, two storm doors, a new cement floor in the kitchen
and dining room, the entire house was carpeted. They also installed a
new water heater, and a new sink and a vanity. Finally, a cabinetmaker
made a magnificent set of kitchen cabinets and he also hung the screen
doors. In this home the owner also claimed to have had money left
over.

Those [indicating] are the kitchen cabinets.
This is the outside of the next home. This home received a complete

new tin roof, the entire ceiling in the house was replaced. New cement
floor was laid throughout the house and it was covered with new vinyl
linoleum. In addition, two rooms were paneled, a new space heater was
placed in the bedroom, three storm doors, and four windows were
installed. Finally, the kitchen received a new light and a double
kitchen sink. The owner of this home also claimed to have money left
over.

The next set. This is the fourth home I visited in Villanueva. The
first three were done by the borrower method. In other words, the
individuals who received the money did the work themselves with
somebody to do it.

Senator DoMENIci. In other words, there was no contractor involved
in completing this work?

Dr. LA VoR. Right, and all the money supposedly went just for
materials.

Senator DOMENICI. Thank you.
Dr. LA VOR. This [indicating] home was done by a contractor. It

was the same contractor who did the first home that I showed you.
The only thing that was done on this home for $5,000, the next slide,
please, was a tin roof was added to part of the roof. I was told that the
ceiling in the kitchen was plastered and the house was rewired. That
was for a total of $5,000.

So that was the contrast that I saw.
It was not until I left Villanueva that I learned that each of the

four homes I just described belonged to relatives of Mr. Gallegos, who
had sent me to them. The family relationship was further complicated
when I discovered one of these homeowners was the grandmother. and
it was the last home that I showed you, was the grandmother of Rob-
ert Madrid, an employee of the State Housing and Rural Develop-
ment Authority, who was working in the county FmHA office in Las
Vegas. Mr. Madrid had principal staff responsibility for dispensing
funds in Mora and San Miguel Counties. In addition, FmHA County
Supervisor Roberto Maese, delegated to Mr. Madrid the primarv re-
sponsibility for managing the FmHA section 504 program in those
counties as well. Later I learned he had developed at least 11 section
504 contracts and an undetermined number of State housing authority
contracts that his cousin, Pete Galleaos, Jr., received. Mr. Gallegos,
Jr., was the principal partner in the P. & P. Construction Co. and he
is the son of Pete Gallegos, Sr., from Villanueva. His brother, Etimio
Gallegos, was until several months ago, the director of the Sierra y
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Llanos Community Action Agency, and the man responsible for dis-
pensing the weatherization funds in San Miguel, Mora, and Colfax
Counties.

In addition to these relations, I learned that FmHA applications,
which are supposed to be processed in the order that they are rA-ceived, were actually packaged and promoted by Mr. Madrid out of
turn on a regular basis.

In early June, I returned to Washington and drafted my first in-vestigative memorandum, which was submitted to the committee onJune 27, 1980. Based upon my initial findings, the committee met andunanimously issued subpenas requesting information from the P. & P.Construction Co., the First National Bank of Las Vegas, which ad-ministers a number of the "supervised bank accounts" under the sec-tion 504 program, and the Sierra y Llanos Community Action Agency,
which administered the Department of Energy's weatherization pro-
gram until a few months ago. In addition, records were requested andreceived from the FmHA and the State Housing and Rural Develop-
ment Authority.

I subsequently made three additional trips to New Mexico, visited
more homes, and had an opportunity to meet with State and local em-ployees of the agencies involved, to explore with them, the problems
I had detected.

Mr. Chairman, I visited approximately 20 homes in the area ofnorthern New Mexico. These are the counties which receive 90 per-cent of the section 504 money and almost all of the State housing andrural development authority funding in the State. Every home Ivisited, regardless of the funding agency, with the exception of those
homes of the family members that I just showed you in Villanueva,
had poor or incomplete work. In every case, there was a failure tocomplete the work described in the development plan and, in mostcases, a failure to meet State building code requirements.

The thrust of section 504 is to do work designed to make homes safeand sanitary. Judging from the homes this investigation touched,
and those evaluated by the Department of Agriculture's Inspector
General, the fundamental intent of Congress was not achieved.

As I gained access to additional files, I had an opportunity to com-pare homes that were funded by more than one agency. My wider
access to official files opened a new avenue in the investigation thathad not previously been anticipated.

By cross-referencing the files, I discovered that a number of thehomes had received more than one grant. In some cases, I found evi-
dence that homes had received grants from one or more agencies todo the same basic work. While agencies may argue that "piggybacking"
is a way of "leveraging" additional funds from other sources, it ap-
peared that they were using the resources of the other agencies tohide or cover up poor workmanship done under their own auspices.
Instead of requiring a contractor to correct shoddy or incomplete workor take legal action to recover funds, the agencies tended to seek addi-
tional funds f rom another source to quiet complaints.

Mr. Chairman, it is difficult to specifically pinpoint why these prob-lems exist. The explanation most often heard is that these programs
are so small that they are not carefully monitored.
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The section 504 program administered by FmHA spends, as Sen-
ator Melcher said, only $24 million a year nationally. Of that,
approximately $500,000 was spent in New Mexico during the fiscal
year 1980, 90 percent of it went to Mora, San Miguel, Rio Arriba, and
Taos Counties.

Since it is small when compared to other programs administered
by that agency, FmHA, it seems to just fall through the cracks. To
illustrate how low a priority the Department of Agriculture places
on the 504 program, you only have to look at the number of audits
done on it.

During the last 3 years, there have been only three section 504 audits
done nationally, throughout the entire country. All three were in
northern New Mexico. None of the three was planned. They were initi-
ated in response to a newspaper expos6 and a complaint by a grant
recipient.

The responsibility for many of the problems found in New Mexico
must be placed on the shoulders of the directors of the State and local
agencies who administer them. State and local supervisors have failed
to exert adequate leadership in the administration of rural housing
programs, particularly the section 504 program.

Mr. Chairman, one of the most frustrating aspects of this investiga-
tion was the discovery that the Inspector General's Office of the U.S.
Department of Agriculture had already conducted three audits in Rio
Arriba, Mora, and San Miguel Counties. These audits found many of
the same problems that we have detected. One of these audits was com-
pleted 6 months before I first came to New Mexico.

In spite of the findings of these three audits and the voluminous
backup material which accompanies each-Mr. Chairman, this is the
actual backup material from the auditors that they found in this
State-in spite of the findings of the three audits and the voluminous
backup material which accompanies each. few actions appear to have
been taken to correct the basic defects of the program and no discern-
ible effort was made to locate and correct, these homes which had re-
ceived less than they were entitled.

The primary exceptions to this rule were those homes where the
seniors themselves or their family members, were extremely vocal.
In Rio Arriba County, attention was given to the four homes which
were featured in a series of articles by the Rio Grande Sun.

Even though an intense effort was made by FmHA to correct the
four houses in Rio Arriba County, it is my understanding that two of
them have still not been completed, and that is almost 1 year ago.

Mr. Chairman, as I mentioned at the beginning of my remarks, I
have a lengthy memorandum. It will be made as part of the record and
I would proceed as you suggested.

Senator CHILES. Senator Domenici.
Senator DoMENIcI. Mr. Chairman, I am aware that Dr. La Vor will

be here for the remainder of the hearing. From my standpoint, I want
to call him back during the day for additional questions.

I will ask one or two now.
I understand testimony concerning six different homes will be heard

today by people owning them. Has there been an appraisal of what the
value of the work actually is from an outside appraiser's standpoint?
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Dr. LA VOR. Yes; the way we will present each of the six homes, I
will read the development plan from the agency. We will show what
was done through slides and I will read from the estimator's evaluation
of what he felt the work, including labor, was worth.

Senator DOMENICL Second, you indicate you have visited approxi-
mately 20 homes, including the 4 in Villanueva. These seemed to have
received their money's worth, although not completed by contractors.
How did you find the other 20 homes you visited?

Dr. LA VOR. As I said the first weekend I came into New Mexico, I
didn't speak to any agencies. As a matter of fact, I didn't know what
section 504 was that weekend. I was merely looking at programs for
the elderly in general.

I met with some senior citizens from New Mexico and I just asked
them what was happening and they started complaining. I said, "Can
I see what you are talking about?" They took me to a home.

I was surprised and I took some pictures and then they said, "Let us
take you to another home." I said, "Are there any other examples of
this ?" They took me to, I think, four or five homes that day.

Then I kept saying to the person who was driving me around,
"There have to be other things that are going on in this area. Who are
some of the senior citizen leaders?" Pete Gallegos, Sr.'s name came
up. I said "Where does he live?"

Senator DoMENICI. To make it brief then, you do not know whether
the condition of the remaining homes which were repaired, were ex-
emplified by these 20?

Dr. LA VOR. Except-that was the first trip and that is how I got
into it. I came back a second time. I had official lists from the agencies
and all I did was pick homes at random. I pointed to a home and I said,
"Let's go see this."

Senator DOMENIcI. How many of the 20 are derived in this manner?
Dr. LA VOR. Fourteen. I also picked homes in Rio Arriba County

that were not done by the Farmers Home order. I specifically picked
homes that were done several years ago to see if it was just a new
phenomenon that existed today, or it was a pattern from day No. 1.

Senator DOMENIcI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CHrLES. John.
Senator MELCHER. No questions.
Senator CHILES. Would you tell me, Doctor, when you finally got a

chance to see this audit-and you told me you didn't know the audits
were being done at the time you made the investigation-was it clear
from the fact of the audit report itself the extent of what the problems
were here?

Dr. LA VOR. Audits are generally very bland because they are
cleansed down, but in these audits there was no question they had found
everything we had found through our investigation.

But it wasn't until we called down to the Inspector General's Office
that we asked for the backup material, that we were stunned, because
there is more information in the backup material, in such detail, and
it's far more detailed than I had the time or the opportunity to dis-
cover.

Senator CHILES. Do you know what happened as a result of the au-
dits? What action, if any, had been taken by Farmers Home, USDA,
the Inspector General of the USDA?
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Dr. LA VoR. As I said and as you will see this morning, when rela-
tives are the grantees or the grantees become very vocal, then there is
some action taken. The first house I showed you is the home of a wo-
man who never complained. So, the home wasn't repaired.

In Rio Arriba County, the four homes that were cited in the order
have received an unbelievable amount of attention. In fact, somebody
from the State office spent almost 21/2 months up there just monitoring
those three homes. He made at least 23 inspections on each one of them,
and he actually helped the builder to complete some of the work on
one of the homes. That was because the Rio Grande Sun was continu-
ously investigating, so there was some pressure.

The homes that nobody pointed to, or they didn't receive complaints
on, apparently nothing has ever been done.

Senator CHILEs. As a result of the audits, were there any real man-
agement changes?

Dr. LA VoR. There were a few but I would suggest they are mini-
mal. It just isn't apparent to us, yet, that there are substantive changes
in the program.

Senator CHTLES. All right, I suppose that we will go on now and put
on our next panel.

Thank you, Doctor.
Our next panel will consist of individuals and people that were con-

cerned with some of the housing in Mora and San Miguel Counties. I
will ask them to all come up. I suppose we will have them all here at
one time. Part will sit at the table and the rest will have to stand be-
hind them.

If Mrs. Frank Maestas would come up, Roberto Maese, Mrs. Steven
Handy, Robert Madrid, Pete Gallegos, Lee Pacheco, Steven Handy.

Do you all understand English?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Part ways.
Senator CHILES. I am going to ask you to stand and be sworn, if you

would, please.
Do each of you swear the testimony you are about to give before

the committee will he the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you God?

Dr. LA VoW. Mr. Chairman, the procedure we would like to follow
with each of the panel is, I will introduce by reading what they re-
crived and then show vou what we found: with the exception of this
panel. I am going to read from the memo by the county supervisors.

This is the home of Mrs. Maestas. The Farmers Home narrative
says:

The grant will replace the entire roof on dwelling, stucco cracks around win-
dows and doors. Living room will he repaired 9,nd linoleum will he plaeed on the
bathroom floor, as it is presently rough wood floor. Paneling and insulation will
be installed on east and south wall in living room. Three new locks and doors
will be installed. These factors will bring dwelling to decent and safe and
sanitary living conditions.

The total for this grant was $5.000.
Senator CHILES. These, again, are all after pictures?
Dr. LA VOR. These are all-these pictures were taken in June of this

year, after all of the work was done. Rather than tell you what I
found, Mr. Chairman, I am going to read a report from Mr. Maese,
the county supervisor, that was written September 19 of this year.

79-347 0 - SI - 2
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What he does is he describes that Vernon Stoddard was supposed to
have been the contractor. Mr. Stoddard was busy and Robert Madrid
arranged for Pete Gallegos of P. & P. Construction to do the work.

I am going to read the evaluations that Mr. Maese wrote. Also
present when Mr. Maese inspected this house was Bill Horton and
John Moore, who were inspectors from the Department of Agriculture
Inspector General's Office and Robert Madrid, who is on the panel.

I am reading from Mr. Maese's letter.
Senator DoMENICI. Mr. Chairman, could I ask a question first?
Senator CHILES. Yes.
Senator DOMENIcI. Dr. La Vor, you talk about Stoddard Construc-

tion not having the ability to do the work, so P. & P. does it. My un-
derstanding of this program is that the owner and a contractor of the
owner's choosing enter into an agreement. The money is put in a bank.
The money is drawn down for the job by signature of the owner and
cosignature of a Farmers Home employee.

How can we have two contractors if we already have a contract
with another contractor to do the work?

Dr. LA VOR. I was trying, in the interests of time, to shortcut it.
Let me go back to the first page of Mr. Maese's letter and I think you
will have your explanation.

Senator boMENIcI. Wait a minute now. Is there a contract signed
between the owner and the Stoddard Construction Co.?

Dr. LA VOR. I don't think in this case there was.
Senator DOMENICI. Will we find out?
Dr. LA VOR. That's why they are all here.
Senator DoMENIcI. Go ahead.
Dr. LA VOR. I will read from his letter verbatim.
The original bid was to replace the roof, replace exterior doors, repair the

deteriorated floor in one room, and weatherize the dwelling.
She stated she had been in the office on several occasions and explained

she needed assistance to contact Mr. Stoddard, the contractor, to do the work
on the roof. She stated that Mr. Madrid told her that Mr. Stoddard was build-
Ing homes and it would be some time before he could do work on her house. She
asked if anyone else was available to do the type of work, as it had become
extremely hazardous to her and her family.

As an aside, Mr. Chairman, the roof had collapsed during a storm.
She stated that within a few days, Mr. Madrid brought Pete Gallegos

of P. & P. Construction and work was started immediately. I asked her if
there had been any changes made in the development of the plan and whether
or not she had been consulted in the change of contractors and she said she
had not.

She said she was confident the FmHA could find someone who would do a
good job. I asked her if the development plan was discussed with her and the
contractor and she said it had not and she trusted the original development
would be done.

Then he goes on describing the house.
The roof facing the street was not replaced. It was only coated with two coats

of aluminum paint. The tin on the southwest and north sides of the roof was
removed and one-half inch plywood decking was nailed to the old rafters. The
old rafters where the eaves were, were approximately 6 feet from the wall,

or 6 inches from the wall. I can't make it out on this.
Rolled roofing was installed over the plywood decking on the west roof. The

rafters were nailed down flat, and this was to the old roof instead of the edge,
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as it should be, in order to give support to the roof. The exterior doors, which
were installed, were not solid core. They were hollow core and filled with saw-
dust inside. They were hung on the old frames and the west doors have already
fallen off the hinges once. They were installed with very small screws.

Mr. Moore and Mr. Horton asked me to estimate the amount of money in
materials that went into this project and on a rough calculation I have esti-
mated about $800 worth of materials with current prices.

Mrs. Maestas explained she was told the original bid was for $4,500 includ-
ing labor and materials. She stated that a day or so later, after she got the
contract, she was told to sign a $500 check for contingencies over to Pete
Gallegos for the labor.

In evaluating this project, I feel the inspection on this job was negligent.
There is not sufficient work for the amount of money given to the eontractor
for the job. The development plans were never revised to reflect the new con-
tract. New estimates were not received. The job is not complete and it does not
eliminate the existing health hazards.

The most dangerous problem in this house is the vent for the hot water
heater, which is LP gas. pushed to one side, thus disconnecting it from the
heater instead of cutting a hole in the eave of the roof and leaving the vent in
the same place.

Mrs. Maestas says she realized she was using the water heater at her own
risk and I recommended she contact the gas company which supplies LP gas,
to properly install ventilation.

It is my opinion that this job is not complete. It is hazardous to the family
and more so than prior to the construction being started.

Finally, Mr. Chairman, there is a little more and I am going to
skip it. I will read to you from tehe estimator's report. This is an
independent estimator who went to this house last week.

He estimated that the quality of materials and workmanship on
the foregoing components is fair to good and he wrote a note.

The narrative that was provided indicates the roof on the entire dwelling was
to be replaced. Rolled roofing was installed on the lower pitched portion of the
house. The main portion of the house covered by the corrugated steel roofing
appeared to only have been painted.

There is no evidence that the linoleum was placed in the bathroom, nor that
paneling or insulation were installed in the living room, as called for in the
narrative.

The estimator felt, that including materials and labor, the cost on
this house was $1,025 at today's cost, out of the $5,000 grant.

Mr. Chairman, briefly, if we can just go through these slides, then
we can go to the witnesses. We can go through it quickly.

This is the roof that was tarred and it was tarred back here, too
[indicating]. This is one of the new doors that was replaced. This
is, again, another picture of that door.

This is a picture not taken by me. This was taken last week by the
estimator. This is the roof that was simply painted with aluminum
paint. TDhis is the roof that was tarred. But this is the major problem.
This vent is the heating vent, and this house is totally unsafe at this
time. That vent should have been anchored and should be straight up.

This is not a good picture, but this will show you the existing roof.
The existing roof on one side where the tarpaper is placed, 1/2 -inch ply-
wood was placed on the existing roof and tarpaper over it.

This, Mr. Chairman, is the door. This shows the leaking in the house
where the roof was leaking, and the next one shows the linoleum
wasn't placed.

That is my presentation.
Senator CHImEs. Senator Domenici.
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Senator DOMENICI. Are you the county supervisor for Farmers
Home Administration in Las Vegas?

Mir. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. How long have you been the supervisor?
Mr. MAESE. I was in Las Vegas, a supervisor from 1970 to 1976,

when I was transferred to Espanola; and then I was brought back in
October 1978, back to Las Vegas.

Senator DOMENICI. Do I understand correctly, Mr. Maese, you wrote
the letter. from whioh Dr. La Vor just read, dated September 19?

Mr. MAESE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. I have the letter in front of me and it has your

name as county supervisor.
Mr. MAESE. Yes; it was written on his request that he wanted a

report and we met with him over there at the district office.
Senator DOMENIcI. Mr. Maese, weren't you the supervisor of the area

where this home is located? Isn't it right there in your area?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. How did the $5,000 get paid out, if this kind of

work was done and you are the supervisor? Did you just find out on
September 19 that it was done wrong?

Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir, I have two assistants that were working under
me. One of them was Steve Handy, and the other one was a housing
employee of the State, Robert Madrid, and they had authority to make
inspections and Steve had authority to countersign checks.

Senator DoMIENICI. You are telling our committee that as county
supervisor you had no responsibility to see whether this was being done
properly?

Mr. MAESE. No, sir, I didn't say that. I said they were under me
and they were capable of doing the work. They had been trained, and
I did not check every job they inspected, Mr. Domenici. I would in-
spect some of the reports and the reports seemed adequate and I had
not had any complaints, so I couldn't follow up on complaints, which
I didn't have.

Senator DOMENIC1. Is Steve Handy here?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOIENICI. Mr. Handy, what was your role in San Miguel

County during the period of time this house was remodeled and the
$5,000 paid out?

Mr. HANDY. I worked mostly on 502 housing loans.
Senator DOMENICI. So you didn't have anything to do with the

504 program?
Mr. HANDY. I did some inspections occasionally.
Senator DOMIENICI. Are you telling the committee you inspected this

house?
Mr. HANDY. Pardon me?
Senator DOmIENIcI. Did you inspect this house or not?
Mr. HANDY. I believe so.
Senator DOMENICI. Your former boss is sitting right by you. He

was in charge. You just heard him tell the committee what he found.
How could you have countersigned checks paying out $5,000 for this
kind of work?

Mr. HANDY. Well, sir, the instructions for grants reads, the house
cannot be made totally safe and sanitary, the grant will not be made.
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That house was in pretty bad shape. I don't think at that time that
$5,000 would have made that house totally safe, decent, and sanitary.

The roof structure probably would have needed all to be replaced.
That's rafters and the whole works.

Senator DoMENICI. Wait a minute. We are going from one to one
here and none of you wants to accept the blame for this.

Now you are telling the committee the loan grant shouldn't have
been made from the beginning, because they couldn't have completely
repaired it with $5,000? Is that what you are telling us?

Mr. HANDY. Well. if you go by the instructions, that is what I am
telling you.

Senator DOMENICI. So as an inspector, charged with seeing whether
the work contracted for was done, it is your testimony that you would
approve the issuance of the full $5.000 even if the work wasn't done
properly, because the $5,000 could not have made the house safe any-
way? Is that what, you are telling us?

Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator DOMENICI. What are you telling us then?
Mr. HANDY. I was not properly trained on rehabilitating houses, so

I have no idea how much money in labor and any materials went into
that house. I didn't do the development plan. I made no inspection-I
made one inspection.

Senator CHILES. I am looking at an inspection report in which you
state, and I guess this is in your handwriting, "All work is completed
according to the development plan." Is that correct?

Mr. HANDY. That's my report.
Senator CHILES. Take a look at that. It says, "100 percent complete?"
Mr. HANDY. Right.
Senator CHILES. "All work done according to the development plan."

Is that your report, your handwriting, your signature?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator CHILES. The development plan said all the roof was going to

be replaced. Was it?
Mr. HANDY. No, sir.
Senator CHILES. Do you have to be trained to know whether or not

the roof was replaced? You knew whether the roof was replaced or
not, didn't you?

Mr. HANDY. Yes, the part of it that was.
Senator CHILES. So that had nothing to do with your training?
Mr. HANDY. No; it could be that there was another development

plan or something like this going about that time, that is no longer
there in the file.

What happened on many of these old houses is when they started
working on them they ran into more things, so they claimed, than what
they could do, what they felt they could do originally. This accounted
for a lot of the problems we have.

Senator CHILES. Do you see anything they ran into there that they
couldn't have done? The roof looks like it's got to be one of the most
important things on that, and they didn't replace the roof.

We now see that estimators say, one of them said $800. I think that's
what Mr. Maese said, $800. The other guy says, "Work and labor,
$1,200." The development plan called for replacement of the floor in
the bathroom and that wasn't done.
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Mr. HANDY. [No response.]
Senator DoMENIci. Mr. Maese, who is responsible to determine if

the inspectors, such as Mr. Handy, are trained for the job?
Mr. MAESE. The supervisor in charge, plumb up to the State level.
Senator DOMENICI. Who was responsible for Mr. Handy? He says he

isn't trained.
Mr. MAESE. I was immediately responsible for him.
Senator DOMENICI. How did you hire him? A field inspector, who

doesn't know how to inspect. How did that happen?
Mr. MAESE. He was already in my office when I was transferred back

up there to Last Vegas, Mr. Domenici. He came there about 1 year be-
fore I was transferred hack.

Senator DOMENICI. Who else did inspections before the moneys were
spent up in that county, Mr. Maese? Who was the other one? Mr.
Handy just testified a little bit. Who was the other person?

Mr. MAESE. I did some of them and, also, Robert Madrid, our State
employee, did some of them.

Senator DOMENICI. Is Robert Madrid here?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Madrid, did you ever inspect that house we

just saw?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENICI. Who signed or cosigned the checks so the money

could be paid out that belonged to this lady?
Mr. MADRID. Mr. Handy.
Senator DOMENICI. You didn't cosign these?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. When did you inspect it?
Mr. MADRID. When they started to put the back roof on.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you agree with Mr. Handy and Mr. Maese,

who has now gone out and looked at it, that the house was not repaired
properly?

Mr. MADRID. In my opinion, sir, I thought it was repaired properly.
Senator DOMENICI. You thought it was repaired properly?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOAIENTCI. Have you seen the letter the supervisor of the

area wrote on September 19, which we just referred to?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. I have so many questions, but I will just take a

couple more.
Mr. Madrid, how was P. & P. selected for this job when the original

contract called for Stoddard Construction Co.?
Mr. MADRID. Stoddard was building a home and could not get out

there. Mrs. Maestas asked me if I could get another contractor out
there, so I asked P. & P. to go talk to her.

Senator DOMENICI. Was P. & P. already doing rehabilitation work
up there when you sent them to Mrs. Maestas?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. As a matter of fact, a number of houses that

Internal Audit has looked at, were done by P. & P., and most of them
have not been done correctly, isn't that right?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
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doing quality work up there to fix her house?

Mr. MADRID. Sir, at the time all those houses, to me, looked pretty
good.

Senator DOMENICI. What was your training in inspecting homes to
see if they complied with codes and contracts?

Mr. MADRID. I just trained out in the field, just to look at construc-
tion.

Senator DOMENICI. On many of these homes, you were the one who
made the final inspections and signed off on the checks, isn't that
right ?

Mr. MADRID. I make the inspections, but I did not sign off on the
checks.

Senator DOMENICI. But you had to give the final word on whether
they were done right or not?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. It is your testimony before this committee that

the ones you inspected were done properly, according to the develop-
ment plan?

Mr. MADRID. Yes. sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Is P. & P. Construction Co., owned by somebody

that is related to you?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Who is that?
Mr. MADRID. Pete Gallegos.
Senator DOMENIcI. How is he related to you?
Mr. MADRID. He is a cousin.
Senator DOMENICI. Is he a licensed contractor?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DomENIcI. What is the name of his license?
Mr. MADRID. It is P. & P. Construction.
Senator DOMENICI. P. & P. Construction doesn't exist anymore, does

it?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir, to my understanding, no.
Senator DOMENICI. Why not?
Mr. MADRID. I think the license was changed.
Senator DOMENICi. Was the license changed or was it revoked?
Mr. MADRID. It is changed. I don't know if it was revoked or not, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Did Farmers Home recently disbar P. & P. from

doing construction work?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you think they were disbarred for doing

good work?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Why do you think they were?
Mr. MADRID. Shoddy work, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. And you were inspecting their work as it pro-

ceeded, weren't you?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENICI. So apparently you thought it was good work but

when State inspectors finally got around to looking at it, they dis-
barred them because of poor work; isn't that correct?
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Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMqNIcI. How did you decide who was to get grants up

there in those counties? That was part of your job, wasn't it?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Was in on a first-come-first-served basis?
Mr. MADRID. We would have a work organization meeting at the end

of the month and we would go through the applications.
Senator DOMENICI. That didn't answer my question. The regula-

tions said these were to be done on a first-come-first-served basis. The
first applicant in, if they qualified, got the grant.

Now I am asking you whether or not you followed that procedure,
or did you select people of your own choosing to get grants?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir, I didn't select anybody. As people came in, a
lot of people came in and talked to me about processing their grants.

Senator DOMENICI. How many homes are there in the little village
of Villanueva, N. Mex.?

Mr. MADRID. I would say, maybe, about 200.
Senator DOMENICI. How many are there in the rural homes, in the

counties of San Miguel and Mora? Do you have a guess?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir, I have no guess.
Senator DOMENICI. Was it a coincidence that four of your relatives

got grants in Villanueva? How did that happen?
Mr. MADRID. They applied, sir, for grants.
Senator DOMENICI. This was on a first-come-first-served basis, that

they happened to get them, is that right?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Why didn't they use a contractor?
Mr. MADRID. They wanted their sons to do the work, or do it

themselves.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you inspect their work?
Mr. MADRID. Some of it, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Did vou think it was done differently than those

homes done by P. & P. Construction Co.?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. How was it different?
Mr. MADRID. There is no labor involved in any of these houses, any

labor paid out.
Senator DoMENIcI. I don't mean the cost. I mean the quality of the

work.
Are you telling this committee the quality of the work that P. & P.

did was the same as the work you saw on four relatives' homes?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. And you say that, in spite of the pictures we've

seen here today?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Which is it?
Mr. MADRID. I guess the pictures we've seen, it was shoddy work, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. I don't have anything additional for the time

being, Mr. Chairman.
Senator MELCHER. Mr. Handy, what are you paid?
Mr. HANDY. Right now?
Senator MELCHER. Yes.
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Mr. HANDY. GS-11.
Senator MFLcnER. What is that per year?
Mr. HANDY. $20,000.
Senator MELCHIER. $20,000.
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. You are not qualified to make these inspections?
Mr. HANDY. I am now.
Senator MELCHER. You are now. How did you get qualified?
Mr. HANDY. By looking at all of these, on-the-job training.
Senator MELCHER. $20,000 for on-the-job training?
Mr. HANDY. I wasn't paid $20,000 at that time. It has been very

recent.
Senator MELCHER. Are you a county supervisor now?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. Which county are you in now?-
Mr. HANDY. McKinley.
Senator MELCHER. Do you have any 504?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator MELCUER. Mr. Madrid, you say that you made these inspec-

tions and you said they were all right at the time, but now you think
they are shoddy?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. I-low much are you paid?
Mr. MADRID. $1,188 a month.
Senator MELCHER. $1,200 a month, roughly?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. And P. & P., one of the owners of P. & P., is your

cousin?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You are under oath?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. It appears that the amount of money spent in

this home, for labor and materials, might have been one-fifth of the
amount, roughly. Do you agree with that now?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You do agree.
What happened to the other $4,000 then?
Mr. MADRID. I don't know, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Do you know what happened to it, Mr. Handy?
Mr. HANDY. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You don't know.
Did either one of you profit from it in any way?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator METLHER. Something happened to it. It was paid out. Mr.

Handy started to check. What happened to that money?
Mr. MADRID. I don't know, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You don't know.
Neither one of you, you are both under oath, neither one of you

profited from it?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Mr. HANDY. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Well, what happened-are you both P. & P.?
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Mr. PACHECO. Yes.
[Subsequent to the hearing, Mr. Pacheco, in reviewing his testimony,

stated the following: "Incorrect. I am not. P. & P. wasn't even a legal
partner when houses in question were being remodeled. Check with
Construction Industries Division in Santa Fe."]

Mr. GALLEGOS. That's correct.
Senator MELCHER. Do you agree that it was shoddy work or not?
Mr. PACHECO. No; I don't.
Mr. GALLEGOS. Not at all.
Senator MELCHER. All right.
Well, let's identify each of you. Which is which?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I'm Pete.
Senator MELCHER. You're Pete and you're Lee?
Mr. PACHECO. That's correct.
Senator MELCTIER. Let's use first names.
It wasn't shoddy work. Was it $5,000 worth of work?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I would say so.
Senator MELCHER. How much material was in the project?
Mr. PACHECO. I can't tell you exactly what it ran to, but I can say

it ran 50 percent of the prognosis.
Before we go any further into that let me correct that proposal.

That wasn't P. & P.'s proposal.
Senator MELCHER. What do you mean by that?
Mr. PACHECO. The proposed work that you have in the letter.
Senator MELCHER. I don't understand you.
Senator CHILES. There was a mixup between whether or not it was

another contractor's proposal and then changed over to P. & P. He is
saying it was a P. & P. proposal.

Senator DOMENICI. There is no change noted in the file.
Senator CHILES. Do you have a copy of your proposal that you

made?
Mr. PACHECO. FmHA should have them and whoever supplied the

record.
Senator CHILES. Well, the file does not show any change. We will

show you that file. I am asking you if you had any office copy that
would show that it was your proposal?

Mr. GALLEGOS. No; we didn't have a copy of the proposals.
Senator CHILES. Do you have any
Mr. GALLEGOS. A copy of the proposal that we had, we have moved

three times in the time that I did this work and we lost part of our
proposals. The rest, Farmers Home had them and we were denied
copies of them.

Senator CHTILES. Well, do you have any copies of your invoices or
your charges to come up with what Mr. Pacheco says, that you spent
50 percent of this money for materials, at least, 50 percent of the
money.

Mr. GALLEGOS. Excuse me. At this time I would like for my attorney
to make a statement. before we proceed.

Mr. BLACKBURN. Mv name is Billy Blackburn, and I represent
P. & P. Construction.

We have just been informed, as of this morning, what the allega-
tions were against these people involved here.
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They have had all their records subpenaed before the Federal grand
iuIry in Albuquerque. I would like to state to the committee at this
timn that we might have to invoke a fifth amendment privilege.

All of the records are to be turned over to Tom Udall in Albuquer-
que, and the rest of the records are in Farmers Home Administration
in Las Vegas.

Senator CHILES. Counselor, let me just tell you, that your clients
would have had the right to invoke fifth amendment privilege and
this committee would recognize that right. Your clients have now
elected to testifv. They have been testifying, and this is not a criminal
investigation. We have sworn them, so the testimony they give before
this committee is certainly under the provisions of perjury. But I am
not sure that they haven't waived their rights now, in that they have
already been testifying. As far as invoking the fifth amendment right
now, I don't think we recognize it, because of the fact that they have
elected to testify and have so testified.

Senator DoMWENICT. Mr. Chairman, you mean as to what they have
already said in sworn testimony?

Senator CHILES. That's right, or any of the areas that we are talk-
ing about now.

Senator MELCHER. I have no further questions at this time, Mr.
Chairman.

Senator CHTLETS. Can vou tell me, Mr. Gallegos, why you didn't put
the entire roof on, as the proposal called for?

Mr. GALLEGOS. Because we didn't bid the entire roof when we gave
them our proposal. We said we would pay them part of the roof, and
a new roof on part of the house. That's the reason I wanted my pro-
posal, so I would know exactly what I had proposed to do to that
house. That is not the proposal that we wrote. That is their develop-
ment plan, and that doesn't even tell you what we proposed.

Senator CHILES. So you are saying that you had another proposal,
different from the development plan?

Mr. GALLEGOS. That is correct.
Senator CmLEs. But you don't have a copy of that?
Mr. GALLEGOS. We don't, have a copy. We were denied the copy.
Senator CHmEs. And the file doesn't show that Farmers Home has

any copy of any new proposal.
Do you know anything about this, Mr. Maese?
Mir. MAESE. No. sir.
I couldn't locate a copy of the proposal.
Senator CHILES. Mr. Madrid, Mr. Handy, can you shed any light

on that?
Mr. MADRTD. No, sir.
Senator CHILES. Mrs. Maestas, let me ask you a few questions, if

I may.
How did vou first find out about these Farmers Home grants?
Mrs. MAESTAS. I went to Sierra y Llanos when they were in Tilden,

they had their office there. Then I went, my husband and I, went in
and applied for helping us with our house. He is very sick. and my
house was already collapsing, the ceiling. So Josie Christina said we
could go, well, she made the application. So she sent it in and we were
qualified, but then after we had to go and get the money from FmHA.
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Senator CHILES. Did anybody, did FmHA tell you that you had to
use a certain contractor in order to get the money?

Mrs. MAESTAS. We had Mr. Stoddard to do the work, but then when
Mr. Stoddard couldn't do the work, Mr. Madrid suggested that he had
another contractor that could do it. Since my husband's room was col-
lapsing too, I thought it would be best to have it done.

Senator CHILES. Did anybody tell you that, when they changed con-
tractors on you, that they were going to change the amount of work
they were going to do to your house?

Mrs. MAESTAS. No.
Senator CIIILES. You were never told that?
Mrs. MAESTAS. They never said nothing.
Senator CHILES. Did you think your roof was going to be replaced?

Did you think you were going to get a new roof?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Well, Mr. Stoddard said that it could have been done.
Senator CHILES. He said he could give you a new roof for the

amount of money?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Yes.
Senator CHILES. What about the vent on your water heater?
Mrs. MAESTAS. It is still tilted. I do not fiave a vent on my heater.

The way they put on the plywood, they pushed the vent to the side and
took it off of the heater.

Senator CHILES. Did anyone tell you it wasn't hooked up?
Mrs. MAESTAS. I saw it, myself, but it was too late.
Senator CHILES. Too late, it was after they had gone?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Yes.
Senator CHILES. Was there any other work that was supposed to

be done on your house that was under the grant that wasn't done?
Mrs. MAESTAS. My bathroom had to be tiled. Tt had to have the tile

on the floor. My living room had to have a panel in the floor-
Senator CHILES. Did anybody tell you whv that wasn't done?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Yes, sir, Pete Gallegos told me that I had to choose

either the doors or the paneling, so I tliought T would rather have the
doors instead of the paneling, because the paneling wouldn't hold the
wind from the outside.

Senator CHILES. But you were supposed to get both?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Yes, sir.
Senator CHTLES. What about the bathroom floor?
Mrs. MAESTAS. I didn't have anything done in the bathroom.
Senator CHILES. No one told you why you didn't get that?
Mrs. MAESTAS. He said there wasn't enough money for it.
Senator CHIL ES. I just wanted to ask you. Do you feel like this pro-

gram has helped you out any?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Well, in a way, yes. It stopped the leaking in my

husband's room where he was lying there.
Senator CHILES. Because the roof had already collapsed?
Mrs. MAESTAS. Had already collapsed. Well, the ceiling. The kitchen,

it collapsed at 3 o'clock in the morning.
Senator CHILES. The door fell off ?
Mrs. MAESTAS. The ceiling. It was before they had done the work

and, then, after the work was done my pipes from my heater, that I
have to heat my husband's room. I have it, oh, from here to the other
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table where the committee is, so that heat would go to his room. Those
pipes collapsed on me too, they fell. I saw the roofing that it was al-
ready starting to break, so I had to go to Chilimar and have them to
come and put the pipes on, a tricot pipe.

Senator CHrLES. Do you have any questions?
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, I know we have a number of wit-

nesses, but I think Lee Pacheco. Pete Gallegos, Handy, and Madrid, are
common to all of them, so I will take a little time, since I won't go into
detail with them later.

Let me ask both Pete, Gallegos and Lee Pacheco.
You received a subpena from this committee to produce the records

with reference to the rehabilitation jobs that we are talking about here,
didn't you?

Mr. GALLEGOS. That's correct.
Senator DOMEXNICI. And you supplied the records to the committee,

didn't you? I
Mr. GALLEGOS. We supplied the records that I had at that time. Now

I have supplied everything to the grand jury.
Senator DOMENIcI. So you are telling us that you gave us what we

asked for in the subpena. We don't have any new development plan for
Mrs. Maestas' house in this batch of records.

Are you tolling us that you didn't have them then, but you have
found more recent records?

Mr. GALLEGOS. That is correct.
Senator DOMENICI. Where were the records that you couldn't find

when the committee subpenaed you?
Mr. GALLEGOS. There were some at the bookkeepers and some in

boxes that we had and hadn't emptied.
Senator DoMEN-IcI. So you found more records when you were issued

a grand jury subpena than you did when this committee subpenaed
you, is that what you are telling us?

Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes; well, the grand jury never subpenaed the rec-
ords until afterward.

Senator DOMENICI. I understand. It was later.
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. Now, let me move over for just 1 minute to Mr.

Handy.
Did you cosign the checks which were in the bank, to pay off the

$5,000 belonging to Mrs. Maestas?
Mr. HANDY. I'm not sure, but probably.
Senator DOMENICI. Not sure, but probably?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. What was your usual way of having a check

endorsed? Did you go tell the homeowner the work is all done, will you
sign this check over? How did you do it?

Mr. HANDY. Lots of times the check was brought to me, signed
a'lready.

Senator DOMENICI. By whom?
Mr. HANDY. By the homeowner.
Senator DOMENxICi. Is that the case in this one?
Mr. HANDY. I don't remember.
Senator DOMENICI. Was it the homeowner or was it the contractor

who would bring you the check?
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Mr. HANDY. Sometimes the contractor brought it.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you ever go to the hoioeowner and tell them

they ought to sign the check?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. This would mean to the homeowner you were

satisfied the work was done right?
Mr. HANDY. As long as they had no complaints.
Senator DOMENICI. So now you are saying it is based on the home-

owner's complaints whether or not you will cosign the check, is that
your testimony to this committee? If the contractor said, "I'm finished,
I've done my work," you go to the homeowner with a check or they
have it there and you are going to cosign it, would you then say, "I'm
cosigning it, you had better sign too, because the contractor says he is
finished." Is that what you are telling us ?

Mr. HANDY. If the work was in compliance with what they were
supposed to do, yes.

Senator DOMENIcI. But you didn't have enough experience to know
whether it was or wasn't?

Mr. HANDY. In many cases that was true.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Gallegos, do you have a contractor's license?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. What kind of a license do you have?
Mr. GALLEGOS. GB-98.
Senator DOMENICI. What's that?
Mr. GALLEGOS. It is a general contractor's license.
Senator DOMENICI. What does it cover?
Mr. GALLEGOS. It covers everything.
Senator DOMENICI. So you are telling us you are licensed to do

plumbing and electrical work?
Mr. GALLEGOS. We have to hire subcontractors to do that.
Senator DOMENICI. So you are not licensed to do plumbing and elec-

trical work?
Mr. GALLEGOS. No.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you actually do the work on the Maestas

home?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you do all of the work or most of it yourself ?
Mr. GALLEGOS. We did most of it ourselves, right.
Senator DOMIENICI. Who are ourselves?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Me and Lee.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you hire anyone to work on this project?
Mr. GALLEGOS. We had two people hired on this project.
Senator DOMENICI. How many?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Two other people.
Senator DOMENICI. What are they?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Laborers.
Senator DOMENICI. Are they experts in any kind of construction, or

specialists ?
Mr. GALLEGOS. No.
Senator DOMENICI. How much were you paid for the work on that

home?
Mr. GALLE~os. $5,000.
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Senator DOMENICI. You don't know how much materials were?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Not really. I would say, at least, 50 percent of it.
Senator DoxMNici. Who approved this change of plans you are tell-

ing us about?
Mr. GALLEGOS. They have to be approved by the Farmers Home Office

and the owner.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you approve of the change in the plans, Mrs.

Maestas ?
Mrs. MAESTA5. I wasn't told anything about changing the plans.
Senator DoMENICI. Did Farmers Home approve a change of plans?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir, I did not, because I did not know that the con-

tractors had been changed.
Senator DOMENICI. You didn't even know the contract had been

changed?
Mr. MAESE. No.
Senator DOMENICI. How about you, Mr. Madrid, did you know it?
Mr. MADRID. That the contract had been changed, yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. Did you know the development plan had been

changed?
Mr. MADRID. I knew the proposals had been changed.
Senator DOMENIcI. Did you approve the changes?
Mr. MADRID. I accepted the proposal.
Senator DOMENICI. If you have to keep records, how would you note

that the plan had been changed? What would you do?
Mr. MADRID. It should have been documented.
Senator DOMENICI. I don't want to take a lot of time, but here is a

record. It isn't documented. Do you have any explanation for this?
There isn't information in here about the change.

Mr. MADRID. At that time I was working on quite a few 504 grants,
two counties, and a lot of our documentation wasn't put in.

Senator DOMENIcr. Let me return to Pete Gallegos.
Have you had your license revoked?
Mr. GALLEGOS. No.
Senator DOMENICI. Have you been disbarred from Farmers Home

Administration work?
Mr. GALLEGOS. That's right. They disbarred us before we were found

guilty of anything.
Senator DOMENICI. I don't know if they were trying to find anyone

guilty. I understand FmHA disbars people because they find their
work is unsatisfactory.

Did they tell you your work was unsatisfactory?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes; by letter and on one house only.
Senator DOMENICI. When did they tell you this?
Mr. GALLEGOS. It was in a letter a couple of months ago.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you have to have a building permit for a 504

grant, rehabilitation?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. So you are telling the committee that on all of

the homes you rehabilitate with Federal dollars, you get building per-
mits also, is that correct?

Mr. GALLEGOS. I'm not positive we did on all of them.
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Senator DOMENICI. Was this work inspected by building inspectors
from the State or county?

Mr. GALLEGOS. Most of them, they were.
Senator DOMENICI. Are you telling us Mrs. Maestas' home was in-

spected, and your work was approved by the building inspectors of
the State of New Mexico?

Mr. GALLEGOS. I don't think the Maestas house was.
Senator DOMENICI. Why wasn't it?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I don't know. The inspector just never showed up.
Senator DOMENICI. Were any other homes that you rehabilitated

not inspected or cleared by the State?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes; we had some.
Senator DOMENICI. So this isn't the only one. You had others where

you received full payment without a final inspection by the State?
Mr. GALLEGOS. That is correct.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you get a building permit on the Maestas

house?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes.
Senator DOMENIcI. Do you have a record of that building permit?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I couldn't find it.
Senator DOMENICI. You have already said you got building permits

on all the 504's. Am I interpreting it correctly? Let me ask the ques-
tion another way.

Did you receive building permits on all 504 homes that you bid?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I don't think so. I think we missed two of them.
Senator DOMENICI. How could you, as a licensed contractor, operate

where the law requires that you have a building permit, if you didn't
have one?

Mr. GALLEGOS. We just didn't get one.
Senator DOMENICI. You just didn't get one.
Mr. Madrid and Mr. Handy, when you cosigned these checks for

final payments did you do so in any instances knowing that there was
not a final inspection by the State of New Mexico, as to the quality
of work?

Mr. HANDY. I assumed that they had gotten a building permit and
that the State had inspected the house.

Senator DOMENICI. You assumed it?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOXENICI. You didn't require evidence that it had been

inspected before you signed money to the contractors?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator DOMENIcI. How about you?
Mr. MADRID. No. sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Were you required to have proof of an inspec-

tion under your rules?
Mr. MADRID. We never had no State inspectors, never made an in-

spection with us, or never tell us anything about a building, check
on a building.

Senator DOMENICI. How about building permits? Did you require
a building permit?

Mr. MADRID. They were required, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. They were required?
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Mr. MADRID. Well, on contracts sometimes the permits were not
issued.

Senator DoZIENIcI. How about you, Mr. Handy?
Mr. HANDY. What was the question?
Senator DOMENICI. Did you first require a State building permit

before you would cosign checks?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator DOMENICI. You did not?
Do you know whether there is a regulation in existence at this time

requiring a State building permit be issued?
Mr. HANDY. I'm not sure.
Senator DOMENICI. You're not sure?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator DOMENICI. Is P. & P. Construction still a partnership and

is it still licensed?
Mr. GALLEGOS. No, sir; it is not a partnership. It is still licensed,

yes.
Senator DoMENIcI. Is it the same license?
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes; the same license. The same number, the name

has been changed.
Senator DOMENICI. What's the new name?
Mr. GALLEGOS. J. & P.
Senator DOMENICI. Why was the name changed?
Mr. GALLEGOS. To include my wife in the license.
Senator DomnENIcI. I have just been handed, Mr. Handy, Mr. Madrid,

Mr. Maese, a copy of the requirements for Farmers Home for this type
of home improvement. It says, "All improvements will conform to
applicable laws, ordinances. codes, regulations that relate to safety
and sanitation of buildings.' Were you aware of that?

Mr. MAESE. Yes.
Senator DoMENIcI. Mr. Maese. don't you think this means you must

have a building permit?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir, and no. All contractors are required to get

one when they bid on the job. The State inspector follows up on those.
Senator DOMENICI. Should a State inspector clear the home before

you disburse the money, Mr. Maese?
Mr. MAESE. They have, in many instances, but not all the time.
Senator DOMENICI. My question is, What are the rules? Should they

be the same in all instances or not?
Mr. MAEsE. According to regulations, yes.
Senator DOMENICI. According to regulations, yes. Why didn't they

in all cases, then?
Mr. MAESE. We don't get a building inspector up in our area that

often, and many times he will come by our office and let us know about
some possible problems in another area, or a lot of times he will come
by and tell us that the job is OK. On many of these he didn't.

Senator CHiLEs. It appears here that the attempt of these regula-
tions, and everything we are talking about here, is to give some protec-
tion to the homeowner. We are determining that we are dealing with
a homeowner that is not a sophisticated builder, and so for that reason
we require somebody to cosign the checks. Now, that cosigning is sup-
posed to be for some form of protection, is it not?
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Mr. MAESE. That is correct.
Senator CHILES. What kind of protection did Mrs. Maestas get here,

if no one determined that there was a valid contract? No one deter-
mined if there was a building permit? No one did any real inspection
on the job, and no one was qualified, or at least Mr. Handy says he
was not qualified to do the inspection of the job. What kind of protec-
tion did she get?

Mr. MAESE. I don't think she got any.
Senator CHILES. That's exactly right. She didn't get a lick.
Senator MELCHER. Mr. Chairman, I would like to pursue with Pete

and Lee one aspect of this.
Setting aside your assertions that you were not operating under the

proposal, which was still for $5,000, and assuming that there was an-
other proposal, which isn't in evidence, but assuming there was an-
other proposal which was for much less work, it is still for the same
amount of money, $5,000. You 'have testified, I think both of you
have, I think you agree on this, that roughly half of the $5,000 was
spent on materials, is that correct?

Mr. PAcn}Co. That's right.
Senator MELCHER. Both of you testified to that?
Mr. PACHECO. That is right.
Senator MELCHER. What do you have to show that that's the case?
Mr. GALLEGOS. If we could get our proposals, we could put the bills

together and prove to you that we had that amount of money put in
that house.

Senator MELCHER. You are saying that you have bills for materials
from what, a building supply?

Mr. GALLEGOS. That is correct.
Senator MELCHFER. And you can show that?
Mr. GALLEGOS. That's right.
Senator MELCHER. Therefore, $2,500 worth of materials you are

claiming was purchased. How did you get your money for that $2,500
for materials?

Mr. GALLEGOS. We probably bought it, charged it, and then paid
it after we got paid.

Senator MELCHER. Did you show Mr. Handy the bills?
Mr. GALLEGOS. No.
Senator MELCHER. Did you see the bills, Mr. Handy?
Mr. HANDY. I don't recall, sir.
Senator MELCUER. Did you see the bills, Mrs. Maestas?
Mrs. MAESTAs. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. So you, Mr. Handy, you asked Mrs. Maestas to

cosign the check, and you cosigrned the check for $2.500 worth of
miaterials that you never saw bills for? Is that cortect?

Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator MELCHFR. Now. can vou identify in that structure now,

those materials that would cost $2,500, from wherever you buy these
materials?

Mr. GALLEGOS. I probably could.
Senator MELCHER. What do you mean probably?
Mr. GALLEGOS. If I looked-I don't know if I can from the picture.
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Senator MIELCHER. You've got two estimates that that isn't possible-
that building supplies and labor, materials and labor, totaled around
$1,000-but you are testifying to us, under oath, that you could iden-
tify in that structure $2,500 worth of materials?

Mr. GALLEGOS. That is correct.
Senator MELCHER. You don't believe that, do you, Mr. Handy?
Mr. HANDY. No comment on that.
Senator MELCHER. Do you believe it or not, Mr. Handy?
Mr. HANDY. Repeat the question, please.
Senator MELC1ETR. Do you believe that they could identify $2,500

worth of materials that they put into that structure?
Mr. HANDY. I don't know.
Senator MELCH'ER. You don't believe it, do you, Mrs. Maestas?
Mrs. MAESTAS. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. I don't believe it either.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, let me ask, Mr. Maese, Mr. Madrid, and

Mr. Handy. Do you think this house is safe now?
Mr. HANDY. I don't.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator I)oMENIci. Well, what can be done to complete the work, to

make this house safe for her? Do you have any suggestions ?
Yes, you first.
Mr. MAESE. About the only thing that I could suggest right now,

Senator Domenici, to see if the possibility of making a small subgrant
loan under our present regulations, if there is no recourse on the con-
tractor at this time.

Senator DOMENICI. So your only suggestion is that she might be
entitled to a loan, which she would have to pay back to get the work
she already thought was going to be done, with money she previously
received from the Government, is that correct?

Mr. MAESE. If there is no other way to do it; yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. Do either of you two have any suggestions?
Mr. HANDY. In Gallup, where I work now, there is a program that

will provide up to $15.000 in grants. I don't know how Gallup got
it, but I am sure it is available in other areas.

Senator DOMENICI. How about you?
Mr. MADRID. I would say to pursue, try to get a grant to do this work.
Senator DOMENICI. Let me ask you. all three of you.
In a sense you are custodians of Federal and State money, do you

believe we should now look for additional money to do the work that
was already supposed to have been done, through HUD, or other
sources? Is this the way we should handle these problems?

Mr. MADRID. No; I think maybe the contractor should be asked to
go back.

Senator DOMENICI. What do you think, Mr. Maese? You are the
county supervisor?

Mr. MAESE. This has been our prime concern, that we should make
these contractors go back and complete these jobs.

Senator DOIENICTI. Have you ever recommended to Farmers Home
that they try to make these contractors do the work previously agreed
upon?
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Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir, I did. In this case, it wasn't on the Maestas
case, it was on another case, we come in and we said, we tried to make
amends, tried to get the contractor to go back and do the work.

Senator DO31ENICi. Let me ask Robert Madrid.
You started, at one point, early in my questioning, to tell us how
grants were approved in terms of applicants. You said we had a little
meeting and we looked over the applicants. Then, you changed the
subject.

Who attended those meetings? What was the purpose of those
meetings?

Mr. MADRID. The whole county staff of the Farmers Home Office
were in a meeting. It was an office meeting, a monthly meeting.

Senator Doi~ENIcI. A monthly meeting to determine who should
get the grants?

Mr. MADRID. No; just to, say, break the work among three of us.
Senator DOMENICI. How, then, were the applicants approved? Can

you tell us? How did you decide who would get the grants?
Mr. MADRID. The people would come in and talk to me.
Senator DOMENICI. You made the decision as to who got them?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Who did?
Mr. MADRID. I would work up, I would process a loan and give them

to Mr. Maese for approval.
Senator DoMrENICI. So Mr. Maese determined who got them?
Mr. MADRID. He approved the loans, the grants.
Senator DOMENICI. He approved the grants?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Maese, when you got these proposals to

approve the grants, did you get a number of them from which you
had to choose, or did you approve each one as it came in?

Mr. MAESE. We approved each one as they came in. The whole staff
was instructed, since we were running short of money, that we had
to work on the ones that were most complete, where we could spend
the money, and try to leave it in the county, rather than lose it, and
it would be given to some other county. My instructions were to process
by date order.

Senator DOMENICI. So whomever was packaging or making the
preliminary determinations, was really making the final decision, be-
cause you approved them all, is that correct?

Mr. MAESE. They were recommending them.
Senator DOMENICI. But you accepted them?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENIcI. Each one. No selection by you, no determination

of who should get it or who shouldn't?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. It was decided prior to the time that it came

to you?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENICT. Mr. Madrid. how many of these grants did you

approve in the counties of Mora and San Miguel?
Mr. MADRID. I'm not sure. Quite a few, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. How many homes were you in charge of in-

specting?
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Mr. MADRID. I'm not sure. I had quite a few. I had the whole program.
Senator DoDsENIci. You had the whole program?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir, inspecting.
Senator DomENIcI. So between the two of you, you were to inspect

all of them; is that correct?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMIENICI. And no one else? There was no one else to help

you ?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. I have the record which indicates that you

packaged 70 applications, of the 120 grants. You made 270 of the 323
inspections in San Miguel and Mora Counties. I am not asking you
to remember those specifically, but does that sound right?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you have enough time to do this work

thoroughly? I
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you ever complain about being overworked?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Just one last question about Villanueva. I am

not sure why your relatives got your grants there and I am not mak-
ing any accusations. I just want you to tell the committee how it
happened in this small town, four of your relatives received grants
to fix their homes. Can you explain that to us?

Mr. MADRID. They all applied for grants.
Senator DOMENICI. You didn't go out and tell them they should?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. You didn't give them any preferential treat-

ment?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMXENICI. Would you tell us whv they did their own work

while to most of the others you recommended contractors?
Mr. MADRID. They wanted to do their own work.
Senator D03IENICI. As you saw the work being done. didn't it seem

to you they were doing a much better job on their own than the con-
tractors were?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you know why? Could you tell the com-

mittee, in your opinion, why, when they did it themselves, it was
better than when licensed contractors did it?

Mr. MADRID. We had a number of people who were doing it the self-
help way. There was no labor involved fend they worked at their own
pace. No hard labor and they had no deadlines.

Senator DomENIcI. So you would say this is a better way to do it
than using licensed contractors?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.
Senator MELCHER. Well, I noted one oversight when I was asking

my questions about whether or not there was $2,500 worth of materials
in Mrs. Maestas' house.

Mr. Maese, your testimony, as I understand it, was to the effect that
there was about $1,000 worth of materials and labor in the Maestas'
house?
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Mr. MAESE. No, sir, I estimated for materials only for Mr. Horton
and Mr. Moore.

Senator MELCHER. Only materials?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. And you estimated what?
Mr. MAESE. $800.
Senator MELCHER. $800 worth of materials?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. So, along with Mrs. Maestas and myself, you do

not believe there could be $2,500 of materials there?
Mr. MAESE. No; it would be hard for me to-
Senator DOMENICI. I asked those who worked for the Government

if they had any suggestions on how we could fix up this home. Now,
I will ask the contractors.

Will you go back and finish any shoddy work that is incomplete
on the Maestas' house?

Mr. GALLEGOS. We gave all the people 1 year's warranty on all of
our work. Nothing came out until after the year's warranty was up.

Senator DOMENICI. So your answer is, "No?"
Mr. GALLEGOS. No.
Senator DOMENICI. Where is the warranty? Is it in writing?
Mr. GALLEGOS. It is in the proposal itself and it is 1 year's warranty

on all the work we do.
Senator DOMENICI. So you are telling us, you gave Mrs. Maestas a

written 1-year warranty?
Mr. GALLEGOS. It would have to be at Farmers Home. The proposals

have to go to Farmers Home, because we never started a job unless
we gave them a proposal and the figures.

Senator DOMENICI. Mrs. Maestas, did you ever get a copy of a war-
ranty for 1 year-

Mrs. MAESTAS. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. So, Mr. Gallegos, you say the warranty was

given to Farmers Home?
Mr. GALLEGOS. I say the proposal itself is a warranty, on account

of State law.
Senator DOMENICI. So State law requires this, but you say the

warranty period has expired, so you are not going to go back and
do anything ?

Mr. GALLEGOS. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. I have no other questions, Mr. Chairman.
Senator MELCHER. I have no further questions.
Thank you.
The next panel includes Mrs. Tafoya, Charles Knoop, and Mario

Baca.
Dr. LAVOR. Mr. Chairman, I will be very brief with this one. This

home was chosen simply because it is from Rio Arriba County. This
is a home that was done several years ago. It will show similar work-
manship. This is a home that was simply picked at random. I simply
pointed to a chart and we went to it. I will read the development pian.

The development plan will consist of repairing old plumbing, installing a new
septic tank and drain field, repair bathroom, repair walls, repair walls in two
bedrooms, repair steps and build a ramp for a wheelchair, hook up to community
system.
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The total for this contract was $5,000.
I should point out, Mr. Chairman, the final inspection for this was

made by Mr. Knoop, county supervisor, on November 9, 1978. He
said, "The items on development plan, dated October 27, 1978, not
planned," those are his words, "all work now completed in B and
family happy with work."

I would like to briefly go through the slides to show you what was
done. These pictures were taken about 3 weeks ago.

This is a picture of the front of the house. These [indicating] are
the type of steps they have.

This is a long shot of the front of her house. You will notice there
is no ramp there 21/2 years after the work was done.

Where this man is standing is where the septic tank was placed.
The sepetic tank was placed too close to the house to be in compliance
with State law.

Today, 3 weeks ago, we noticed that the septic tank was percolating
and the odor from the septic tank was extensive.

Also, over here [indicating] the ground is collapsing on top of
the septic tank because when it was installed it wasn't compacted. The
whole area is beginning to deteriorate right over the septic tank.

This is the septic drain field which is backing up. The septic drain
field goes right through a vegetable garden area that they had. It is
backing up quite bad.,

There was stuccoing done to the side of the house. The stuccoing
was not detailed in the original development plan. Some work was
done by the builder which was not reflected on the plan and is not
reflected in the official files.

This is the bathroom. In the bathroom, Contac paper was put over
the wall and it was totally shredded when we were there. There was
some calking, we were told, put around the bathtub, but that has just
about disappeared now.

Mr. Chairman, I will conclude the introduction to this by reading
the estimator's evaluation. "Quality of material and workmanship:
Roof, fair. Repair of interior walls, fair. Window replacement, good.
Concrete terraces, fair. Septic tank and leach line, poor. Stucco appli-
cation, good." Then he wrote a note, "The official development plan
indicates that a wheelchair ramp was to be installed." Our inspection
revealed no permanent type ramp installed. Raw sewage is percolat-
ing around the ground approximately 30 feet from the north side of
the house. This is a short distance from the septic tank. These condi-
tions indicate that possibly one leach line instead of an adequate drain
field was installed to carry liquid to a small rock-filled pit. One partial
strip of roofing has been torn off, apparently as a result of winds.

That completes the introduction to this panel.
Senator MELCHER. Senator Domenici.
Senator DOMENICI. Mrs. Tafoya, are you satisfied with the work

which was done on your house?
Mrs. TAFOYA. Not very good.
Senator DomrEci. What are the major problems that have to be

corrected?
Mrs. TAFOYA. Whatever they used on the restroom peeled off. It is

no good.
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Senator DOMENICI. What about the septic tank ?
Mrs. TAFOYA. It is leaking out and the odor is very excessive.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you expect a ramp installed to help with the

wheelchair? Was that part of the agreement, and did you get it?
Mrs. TAFOYA. They didn't do it as I wanted them to.
Senator DOMENICI. Has anybody tried to correct the situation for

you?
Mrs. TAFOYA. They didn't put in a ramp, just a slab of concrete

there by the entrance.
Senator DOMENICI. Has anything been done to correct or complete

the work? Has anybody tried to correct it?
Mrs. TAFOYA. There was no warranty on the work.
Senator DOMENICI. So no efforts have been made to fix the things

you have described or to put in the ramp?
Mrs. TAFOYA. No.
Senator DomENIci. Mr. Baca, are you a licensed contractor?
Mr. BACA. I am working under my brother's license, who is a licensed

contractor.
Senator DomENici. Where is your brother's contracting business

located?
Mr. BACA. Baca Plumbing Co. in Albuquerque.
Senator DOMENICI. And you are authorized to work under his license

in Rio Arriba?
Mr. BACA. The State of New Mexico, yes.
Senator DoMENIcI. What kind of license is that?
Mr. BACA. He has a CB-98. MM-1, and MM-2, general contracting,

plumbing, and gasfitting.
Senator DOMNENICT. So he has those. Are you an expert in these, or do

you just use his license ?
Mr. BACA. I am an expert in those, particularly the plumbing.
Senator DOENTIcI. Do you have to take out a license or do you use

his license which permits you to do the work?
Mr. BACA. I do the work under him. He takes out the permits.
Senator DomENICT. He gets the permits?
Mr. BACA. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you apply for a building permit on this kind

of work in Rio Arriba Cou'nty?
Mr. BACA. I didn't do any building, so I understand there is no per-

mit required.
Senator Dom-ENICT. So voU didn't get a permit on her house?
Mr. BACA. T didn't get any permit at all since she had her own per-

mit on the septic tank.
Senator DoMENICI. She had a septic tank permit and you got no

others?
Mr. BACA. I did not install the drainage field. Someone else did that.
Senator DotrENIcI. Ts it your testimony that on other homes on

which vou have done work of this type, you did not need a building
permit ?

Mr. BACA. Only when there was an addition or some major altera-
tions. not for repairing cracks and minor repairs such as that.

Sepnator DoMErNIcI. Weren't most of the grants close to $5,000?
Mr. BACA. Yes.
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Senator DoMENIcI. And $5,000 is not major work requiring a
permit?

Mr. BACA. The FmHA never advised me to get one. They only
wanted a permit on plumbing and wiring, as I understood it.

Senator DOfENICI. Some of the items in the development plan for
the Tafoya home weren't done, such as repairing the steps, and build-
ing the wheelchair ramp. Other items such as the roof, and one coat of
stucco were done. Was there a change in this plan?

Mr. BACA. There were a lot of changes in this plan.
Senator DomIENIcI. Who made the changes?
Mr. BACA. The FmHA and the property owner, I suppose.
Senator DOMENICI. So you are telling us that somebody else made

the changes, but authorized you to execute them?
Mr. BACA. Yes; I put in a bid in October 1977, and did the work, I

think, close to 1 year later. Meanwhile they had to have a drainage
system installed, because what they had wasn't working. So they re-
vised my bid from septic tank and drainage field to septic tank only.
I installed this septic tank according to regulations by the Mechan-
ical Board, which is part of the Construction Industries Division, so
far as I know.

Senator DOMENICI. Was it inspected by the State plumbing in-
spector?

Mr. BACA. I don't think so.
Senator DOMEN1CI. Isn't that normal?
Mr. BACA. Well, as I said, they had their own permit on the drain-

age system. I thought they had their plumbing permit also.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Knoop, were you the county supervisor for

Rio Arriba when the work was done on this home?
Mr. KNOOP. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Can you tell us what role you played as a county

supervisor? We are particularly interested in inspections that you
conducted on this home.

Mr. KNOOP. Yes; I made the final inspection. Notes on the final in-
spection said that the items in question "there was additional work
done that was not planned on the original bid, such as the plastering
work." At the time the final inspection was made, Mr. Baca, Mrs.
Tafoya, and her daughter were present. myself. On the ramp. as far
as the ramp is concerned, the 6-by-14 sidewalk that was added by Mr.
Baca was shown to me to be the ramp. We went through each detail
of the bid with the daughter and Mr. Baca present, and at that time
they were satisfied with the work. I don't have the inspection report
before me. I signed the final inspection report. Mrs. Tafoya signed
the final inspection report and the check to Mr. Baca for final pay-
ment.

Regarding changes in the development plan, the original bid was
in 1977. There was a delay in funding of the money. Costs had in-
creased. Some of the work that had to be done was done by the family.
So there were changes made in the bid. There was a revised bid given
and discussed with the family, and approved before work started.

Senator DomENICI. Was it your role as the headman to make final
inspection before final payment was made?

Mr. KNOOP. That is correct.
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Senator DOMENTCI. So that was the rule in your county?
Mr. KNoOP. Most often it was. I made one inspection as the work

was proceeding. If other people had made inspections, I reviewed their
inspections, and they reviewed them with me. If there were any prob-
lems, they discussed them with me at the time they came back from
inspection.

Senator DoMENICI. The USDA audit would indicate that there were
a number of cases in your county of shoddy and incomplete work.
Are you aware of those audits?

Mr. KNOOP. I am.
Senator DoMENIcI. On June 30,1980, Mr. Meyette, an inspector from

Farmers Home, stated that "while in Rio Arriba County I visited
several other 504 and State grant developments. The workmanship on
all State and Federal grants is as poor as those already described."
Are you aware of that report?

Mr. KNOOP. I did see a copy of it; yes.
Senator DOMENICI. How do you account for your inspecting and

approving procedures? Was this the ordinary way you conducted your
supervision, by approving payments until someone comes along later
and finds poor and shoddy work?

Mr. KNooP. That comment relates to the northern part of Rio
Arriba County. In that part of the county, we had done quite a few
borrower method types of construction with relatives and people
doing the work themselves, hiring relatives or hiring people that were
unlicensed. Because of that, some of the work was unacceptable. Some
of the people have not been paid completely for the work on these jobs
until they are corrected. That comment is on development that still is
in process and final payment has not been made.

Senator DOMENICI. Are you telling us so far, as your internal audits
turned up shoddy work, none of those projects have been paid in full?

Mr. KNOOP. As I recall, the ones we have in process now that are
shoddy work, there are still some funds left in the supervised bank
account until work is corrected.

Senator DomiENIcI. That is your best recollection?
Mr. KNOOP. That is what I recollect, yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, I have further questions, but I

yield.
Senator MELCOER. Mr. Baca, you are not responsible for the septic

tank, is that correct?
Mr. BACA. I am for the tank itself, not the drainage field.
Senator MELOHER. Does the development plan include the tank?
Mr. BACA. The first one did.
Senator MELCHER. What was the final one?
Mr. BACA. They had problems apparently with their drainage sys-

tem, so they had to get someone to do a good job on it so they could
use their plumbing.

Senator MELcHER. Was this you ?
Mr. BACA. No; I don't know who did it.
Senator MELCHER. Was it part of the $5,000?
Mr. BACA. It wasn't part of it. We transferred some of that money

to other things. I don't have the second bid I gave them or the revised,
whatever form they have at FmHA.

Senator MELCHER. It is not clear about the ramp. Would you clarify
it?
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Mr. BACA. I would like to see the slide, if I may.
Senator MELCHER. I think we can do that.
Mr. BACA. I think there is one that shows the whole works. As you

can see, that slab that we poured there, is on very hilly terrain. When
we poured that slab, the end of it, this [indicating] end of it, was even
with the ground surrounding it. That house is on a very steep hill. The
ground is erroding constantly. They told me what they wanted there
and I did it.

Senator MELCHER. What you are telling us is at the time of comple-
tion the end of that slab was level with the ground?

Mr. BACA. They could have negotiated the chair from the end of that
slab onto-wherever they wanted to go.

Senator MELCHER. Do you agree with that, Mrs. Tafoya?
Mers. TAFOYA. No.
Senator MELCHER. Mr. Knoop, what can you tell us about this, you

signed off on it. You must have seen it, and you must have been aware
of it.

Mr. KNooP. Well, as I remember it, as far as I can recollect, that was
so that they could get the wheelchair on there. There was also, as you
see on the end of that slab, there is a board that he also did build there.

Mr. BACA. No; there was no board there.
Mr. KNooP. This was the slab that Mr. Baca showed me when I made

the final inspection.
Mir. BACA. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. I have no further questions.
Senator CHILES. Thank you. We will excuse this panel.
Our next panel will be the recipients of multiple grants. If they will,

please come forward.
Senator DO1IENIcI. Dave, could we make sure the committee knows

where we are at this point. Where is Georgia Ortega?
Mr. RUST. We are going to Mr. Casados first because of the wheel-

chair problem.
Senator DOMENIcI. All right.
Mr. RUST. We'll have Mr. Casados and his son, Mr. Abeyta, and Mr.

Maese.
Senator CHILEs. I would like to swear each of them.
Do you swear the testimony you're about to give before the commit-

tee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help
you God?

Mrs. ORTEGA. I do.
Mrs. SALAZAR. I do.
Mr. CASADOS. I do.
Mrs. MARES. I do.
Mr. ABEYTA. I do.
Senator DOMENICI. Will you swear them in Spanish, please.
Mir. LOVATO. Yes.
Senator CHILES. They understood that?
Mr. LOVATO. Yes.
Senator CHILES. All right, thank you.
Dr. LA VOR. Will you shut that light out, please. Mr. Chairman,

this is Mr. Casados house. He lives on the left side of the house and
this side is not occupied.

This panel will be made up of people who received more than one
grant from more than one agency. Mr. Casados' case, he received one
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grant from the Department of Energy to insta` two windows, one
door, and they gave him six pieces of sheetrock, and the amount is
unknown.

He received a second loan, a section 502 loan from the Farmers
Home Administration for $2,400, to install a new roof. He received a
third Federal grant, or a second Federal grant, section 504 loan for
$2,600, to install all bathroom facilities, and add one room which will
be used for a batdhroom.

He received a second grant at the same time from the State Housing
Authority for $1,800, to do the same work for the same development
plan I just read for Farmers Home. The total he received from those
three grants and one loan was $7,360.

Recently, in the last few months, the Housing Authority of Mora
County has awarded him a new grant designed to repair the work
done by the Farmers Home grant and the State Housing Authority
grant. The total officially, so far, on this house is $10,860. I was told
the other day they may have to spend another $1,500, which would
bring the total close to $12,000.

If we can go through these slides very fast, we can get to Mr.
Casados. As you will note, these pictures were taken in June. This is
the front step to get into the house, and as you can also note, Mr.
Casados is in a wheelchair and his son uses crutches. So here is the
front step and there is a step here.

This is from the inside of the house. There is a step down. This was
the condition of the floor. You turn to the right and there is a step
and another step to get into the kitchen.

They put in a bathroom for Mr. Casados and they did it by dividing
an existing room. This is the existing adobe wall. You can see it. It is
totally unfinished and this line is not straight. It's not a result of the
camera. That is the way the wall is.

This area here is a result of having to put the wiring in after the
sheetrock wall was put up, but that again remained rough. This is
looking straight ahead, and this is looking up. They didn't finish the
ceiling.

The marlite around the bathroom was popping off, and there is a
problem with this house. They installed a hot water heater, and had
they used 1 more inch of pipe when they first did it, the heater would
have sat firmly on the ground, but it was too short, so it swung. When
they use the tub, the water goes from cold to scalding hot while they
are in it.

Mr. RUST. You will notice there are no railings.
Dr. LA VoR. There are no railings around here for him at all.
Even if the bathroom was done right, the problem is the door is too.

narrow for him to get his wheelchair in, and even if he could get it in,
the sink is placed too high for the wheelchair, but even if the sink was
placed properly, he couldn't get the wheelchair through here [indi-
cating] because the commode blocks the door.

This is the kitchen, the dark walls, and there is the heater. This is
what is being done by the new grant from HUD. As you can see, they
totally replaced the wall in the bathroom and the floor. We only have
a few pictures. These were taken by the inspector.
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They have done some work, as you can see there is paint now in the
house, and they have taken a wall out, and put in some closets, and
made the room larger. Here is a closet, there is the bathroom, here
is a closet, so there is an awful lot of work that is being done.

I will just complete this by reading what the estimator found last
week. He said:

The quality of materials and workmanship, roof, good.

That was part of the 502 loan.
Exterior wire mesh construction, good. Windows and doors, good; septic tank

and leach line underground, unable to inspect, but no apparent problems observed.
Plywood subfloor, fair; interior wails enclosing bathroom and closet, fair.

That's the new work.
Paint, stain and varnish, good. Bath fixtures and wainscott over tub, fair. Porch,

good except for exposed, untreated wood. Kitchen cabinets, poor. Resilient floor
covering, poor and unacceptable from the standpoint of insulation.

Wheelchair ramp from the kitchen to the lower level bedroom is acceptable, but
in the absence of handrails can cause a safety hazard.

I was there inspecting the house, Mr. Chairman, and there were no
ramps going into the house and there were no ramps going from door
to door.

When I asked Mr. Madrid about that, he said Mr. Casados had told
him he nreferred to drag himself around from room to room and not
use the wheelchair, which didn't make much-

Senator DOMENIcI. That's all right. If that's what he said, we'll ask
him.

Dr. LA VOR. That's what he said. Then the last part, and this is per-
taining to the new work that is being done now. "When the wall in the
living room area was removed, the flue for the wood stove apparatus
was also removed, thus eliminating adequate heating of this portion of
the house."

The estimator said for all of the work, of approximately $12,000,
labor and materials, $6,950, and that includes the roof and the
stuccoing.

Senator DOMENICI. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think we have a problem
understanding these wrapup estimates, because they have to do with
first work, and then they also have to do with work that's been redone.

Senator CABLES. That's right.
Senator DOMENICI. I would like to start with these questions. If you

could be very specific with us, do you have an original development
plan for the 504? Do we know what is now being done with the new
grant? Can you tell us specifically what items appear to be
duplications?

Dr. LA VOR. Are you Mr. Abeyta?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes.
Dr. LA VOR. Mr. Abeyta was asked specifically to provide that.
Senator DOMENICI Mr. Abeyta, you are the director of the Mora

County community block grant program?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. So we will understand, that's not part of

Farmers Home?
Mr. ABEYTA. No.
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Senator DoMENICI. You run that yourself ?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes.
Senator DoMENICI. Can you tell us then, what you are doing to the

Casados' house that was part of the previous development plan for
which a grant was approved?

Mr. ABEYTA. OK, I did consult with Dr. Martin La Vor and he
told me in the bathroom there was a duplication, if I would do it.
However, even though it is a duplication, the contractor agreed to do
it on his own, not to charge for it. So it wouldn't be a duplicate. He
is doing the work free on several things.

On changing the door so it will open to the outside, so they would
come in; changing the commode bowl 10 inches to the right in the
bathtub area, that way they could go in, but he did that on his own.

Senator DOMMENTCI. You are saying there is no duplication?
Mr. ABEYTA. No duplication. I do have the sketch that we are

reading out in new pictures as the work is progressing. There's a lot
more being done now than what the pictures show there. I do have
the pictures.

Senator DOMENTCT. Who was the original contractor, do you know?
Mr. ABEYTA. Well, FmHA or-
Senator DoMrENIcI. FmHA. Does the staff know? Harry Nolan?
Who is the contractor that you contracted with?
Mr. ABEYTA. Richard Atkinson.
Senator DOMENICi. Even though the specifications for yours say

some of the plumbing has to be done so the bathtub can be used-
Mr. ABEYTA. Those were corrected before we even went in.
Senator DomENIcI. Who corrected them?
Mr. ABEYTA. From our understanding another plumber went in

and did the work. I don't know if he charged them.
Senator DOMENICI. All right.
Mr. ABEYTA. He didn't charge them. The reason they were having

problems, and I think they are going to continue having problems,
is that the waterline comes from a spring high up in the mountains,
and the pressure on those lines is very high. If you will turn on the
faucet, you will get all the water in your face. The pressure is very,
very high.

I imagine until they put a reducing valve outside on those lines,
they will always have problems with the water.

Senator DOMENICI. Let me ask you, how do you perform your in-
spections? Do you require building permits?

Mr. ABEYTA. I have three inspectors helping our program.
Senator DOMENICi. That's at present?
Mr. ABEYTA. That's since I started.
Senator DOMENICI. How long ago did you start?
Mr. ABEYTA. Six months ago.
Senator DoMENICI. So you are telling the committee that the State

building inspector approves this work before you pay the contractor?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes; I even have a form, where he goes, and has the

State inspector, the plumbing inspector, and the electrician sign.
Senator DOMENici. Do you find you can get State inspectors to

come and do the inspecting you require?
Mr. ABEYTA. In my area, yes.



43

Senator DoxnENIcI. That's in Mora County?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes.
Senator DOMTENxIcI. Do you think it's any different in San Miguel?
Mr. ABEYTA. I don't think in San Miguel it would be any different

because the State inspectors are real close by. One lives in San Miguel
and two in Mora.

Senator DOMENICI. How do you approve a payment to contractors
who do work under your block grant HUD program?

Mr. ABEYTA. We approve 40 percent after the work is completed.
First we allow 50 percent for materials, and then we hold 10 percent.
That's after it has been completed, here we hold it for 30 days, and
during that time we get the State inspectors to do their work.

Senator DOMENICI. Who contacted you about going up to Mr.
Casados and fixing his house?

Mr. ABEYTA. Our county manager said he had received a letter from
you, Senator Domenici, that these people needed help, and we do have
a committee that approves all applications. It's not approved by me.
There is a committee of four of the people from Mora County. They
are advised on all applications and we do have a point system and
applications are based on the point system.

Senator DOMIENICI. So you found in your application procedure this
house was entitled to help?

Mr. ABEYTA. It was in pretty bad shape, ves.
Senator DOMENTCI. Did Robert Madrid ever contact you and ask you

to go up and see if you could help?
Mr. ABEYTA. No; before me there was another director. He con-

tacted Robert to see what he could do about that picture that you
showed on the bathtub. because the marlite was coming loose and he
wrote notes here that the grant was already closed, that it was 100 per-
cent completed and that they couldn't do anything about it. I do have
the notes.

Senator DoMENICI. Have you been present here today to hear
testimony?

Mr. ABEYTA. Yes.
Senator DoMENIcI. Do you have any problems in your program with

shoddy and incomplete work which you have already finished paying
for in total? Has this happened in your program?

Mr. ABEYTA. We do have problems, but not of shoddy work, because
we do not pay until we get the final inspection from the State inspec-
tor, and the problems are, that some contractors are quitting.

But we are running a strong program. We have some people back
here, in fact some of the committee that contacted you some time back.
After I came in they liked the work we were doing.

Senator DomrsNIci. Do you feel confident you could get the work
done and still inspect properly?

Mr. ABEYTA. I think so.
Senator DoMENTCT. Do vou have any trouble finding contractors?
Mr. ABEYTA. We have about four left. but I think we will finish by

November. Our office deadline is November 15, and we should be
through around that time. The total of the houses that will be re-
modeled will be about 90.
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Senator DOMENICI. When you first visited the Maestas' house-the
Casados' house, were you aware of the previous loan and grants that
had been spent on it?

Mr. ABEYTA. Yes; in fact, I got copies from them of all the work
that had been done previously.

Senator DOMENIcI. Do you think the work was done thoroughly?
Mr. ABEYTA. On the roof part, it was OK. The cement part was

OK. The bathroom part was bad.
Senator DOMENICI. Would you have approved this project for final

payment under your program?
Mr. ABEYTA. No, sir. I got the pictures and there was no way we

could approve it. In fact, in these pictures that are shown there, we
are still progressing with a lot more work on our grant, and you can
see some of the pictures that were taken yesterday.

However, on that contract, they are supposed to put the railings for
the ramp, because he cannot got up on the ramp that we already did.
You can see that on the pictures, if you would like to see them.

Senator DOMENICI. Maybe we can talk with Mr. Casados for just a
minute. I know it's very difficult for him. Let's just have him talk with
us a little bit.

rMr. Casados testified through interpreter R. A. Lovato.]
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Casados, are you satisfied with the work that

has been done on your house?
Mr. CASADOS. They haven't finished.
Senator DOMENICI. I know this gets confusing, but before Mr.

Abeyta came in, were you satisfied with the work that had been done
before he started with his new grant?

Mr. CASADOS. Not on the part where the piping was put for the bath-
room and now they have to install a new facility to make it right.

Senator DOMENIcI. Does he also remember he borrowed money and
got a loan to repair his house?

Mr. CASADOS. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. How much was that for?
Mr. CASADOS. I-
Mr. ABEYTA. Here is his copy.
Senator DOMENICI. Could you state for the record how much it is,

Mr. Abeyta.
Mr. ABEYTA. $2,400.
Senator DomENIcI. $2,400. Is anything due on this and has he been

able to pay it?
Mr. ABEYTA. The loan was made in 1974 and it's a 10-year loan at

1 percent.
Senator DomENIcI. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CHILES. Mr. Abeyta, do you have any reservations about

using the funds appropriated for HITD programs to correct the short-
comings for work done by Farmers Home?

Mr. ABEYTA. We were going to do it before and we didn't know ex-
actly how much work was done, but then when I talked to Mr. La Vor,
he sort of commented not to duplicate, or that is what I understood.
so at that point, even though I knew he needed that commode bowl to
be moved so he could go into the bathroom in the wheelchair, I talked
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to the contractor, and he agreed to do a lot more extra work, so we
wouldn't be duplicating the services.

Senator CHILES. Did Robert Madrid contact you about this case and
ask you to provide additional funding to correct the work that had
been done?

Mr. ABEYTA. No.
Senator CHILES. You didn't have any conversations with Robert?
Mr. ABEYTA. I did talk to him about another grant.
Senator CmrLmS. Not about th is one?
Mr. ABEYTA. No; there were people coming in for assistance and we

had too many applications. We had 145 applicants, and we only had
money for 90, plus another 90 that came in late, so at that point we
knew he-Robert Madrid-had a grant for approximately $33,000,
so we were referring people to him, just referring.

Senator CHIL Es. All right, thank you, Mr. Casados. I think we will
now move on.

Dr. LA Von. Ms. Ortega and her daughter will be next.
Mr. ABEYTA. I would like to make a comment. I think Mr. La Vor

misunderstood that we would be using more money and he quoted the
figure $1,500. Just for the record it will be $690.

Senator DoMENICI. $690?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes; that was to install the railings, make the ramps

bigger. We took a committee of people up there, County Commissioner
William Gandert said we needed a few minor changes because he could
not go up in the wheelchair even though we had built a ramp.

In fact, I wish you could see some of the pictures that are being
dono now.

Senator DOmENICI. Could we see those?
Mr. ABEYTA. Yes; you can see the before and after and that's how

the house looked before we had these pictures.
Senator CHTLES. Thank you, sir.
Senator DoMENICI. Do we need Mr. Abeyta to stay?
Senator CHILES. No.
Dr. LA VOR. No.
Senator DOmrENICI. Thank you very much.
Dr. LA VOR. Thank you very much.
Senator CHILES. Mr. Casados, we thank you very much for coming

and testifying before the committee.
Dr. LAVOR. Mr. Chairman, this next home is owned by Mrs. Ortega.

She has received several grants. The first weis from the weatherization
program for doors, weather stripping-for storms, weather stripping,
storm windows, and cement work and it is unclear as to how much
was spent, but it can't exceed $560.

The second was a Farmers Home 504 grant and I will read you the
actual language: "The grant will be used to install bathroom, repair
ceiling, roof, and porch deck." That was for$5.000.

She received a second grant from the State Housing Authority to
do the following and I will read you the official file. "Grant will be
used to repair bedroom and kitchen ceilings and install new electrical
box and new decking on porch." This is a repeat of the other. That
grant was for $3,500.

79-347 0 - 81 - 4
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The total was $8,500 spent on her house when the first report was
written. Since that time the State Housing Authority has awarded
another $3,100 which they call an emergency grant for a total of
$11,600.

Mrs. SALAZAR. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, it's $3.500.
Dr. LA VOR. Mr. Chairman, $3,500, so it is a total of $11,900. If I

can briefly go through the slides, I will show you what exists. This is
the house from the side. This is one of the windows that was installed
under the weatherization program, and I believe this is another one
that then was installed under the weatherization program. The porch
that was put on, is this porch, and you will note the distance between
the top of the porch and the steps.

As you will see, for an older person, it is too far to step down and
there are no handrailings and you must hold on to go down. This is a
slide taken by the estimator last week. This gives you a better idea of
it, and this is the porch.

This house had electrical work done and it was red tagged by the
building inspectors on three different occasions. It is still red tagged.
The last time the building inspector red tagged it was May 14. This
new emergency grant is now correcting that. I don't know if it is
finished yet.

Since the first report, however, I understand the house was red
tagged by the plumbing inspector, because the septic system was put in
improperly. This is an example of some of the electrical work, the out-
lets, I saw.

Senator DOMENIcI. Who was the prime contractor?
Dr. LA VOR. P. & P.
Mrs. SALAZAR. P. & P.
Senator DOMENIcy. All right.
Dr. LA VOR. They built the bathroom by taking an existing, I be-

lieve it is about an 8- by 8-foot room and simply put up a partition
down the center of the room and this is the bathroom. It looks larger,
because I was using a wide-angle lens. That's only 4 feet and they put
in, instead of a new tub, an old tub. But when the work was done,
there was no ventilation in the room. and so complaints were made to
the builder, so he came back and put that window in. The window goes
clear through to the other room.

This was taken by the estimator just last week. It shows the water
heater and you will note there is no flue, which is a total violation of
all of the codes. It makes the house very unsafe. This is, again. by the
estimator last week. This shows the new electrical work being done in
the house. I should point out when I was there the first time, when you
put a plug into the outlet, sparks came out. There were burn marks
around the ceiling light fixture. So, as you can see they are correct-
ing it.

Is this a new door they are putting in ?
Mrs. SATAZAR. Yes.
Dr. LA VOR. They are putting in a door, so a lot of work is being

done now.
I will then conclude, Mr. Chairman, with the estimator's report. It

said-
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The quality of materials and workmanship, porch step and roof, good; lowered
ceilings, fair; roofing, fair; electrical work, poor, unacceptable, red-tagged; doors
and partition wall, fair; bathroom window, good; plumbing, good; except septic
tank, which is not properly functioning, apparently due to inadequate drain
field; and then water heater, poor, not vented, safety and health hazard.

Out of $11,900, that includes the work that is being done now. The
estimator said this was worth about $5,075.

Senator CHiLEs. Mrs. Ortega, are you satisfied with the work that
has been done on your house?

Mrs. ORTEGA. No.
Senator CHILES. What is the status of your electric bill-
Mrs. SALAZAR [interrupting]. Mr. Chairman, excuse me. I have been

elected spokesperson for my mother.
Her electrical bill. since this wiring has been installed, has been

running my mother $68 a month.
Senator CHILES. What was it before ?
Mrs. SALAZAR. I think about $12 to $17.
Senator CHILES. What is the accumulated bill she has now?
Mrs. SALAZAR. The last one my mother turned in to Mr. Madrid,

Robert Madrid, was for $128.
Senator CHILEs. Has any agency indicated a willingness to help pay

the bill?
Mrs. SALAZAR. Mr. Chairman, at the time before this all happened,

I had a meeting with Mr. Gallegos. He had agreed that my mother's
high bills were due to the electrical system they had installed. He
agreed to go back and pay my mother for all the money she had been
putting out, and as of today, he has not done anything.

Senator CHILEs. Do you think the high bill is as a result of the work
that has been done?

Mrs. SALAZAR. Yes. sir, it was.
Senator CHILEs. What is causing it?
Mrs. SALAZAR. I talked to the electrical power collector, which is

Fernandos Gallegos, from Las Vegas. I talked to him over the week-
end. He told me all of the wires had been connected together. There
were no separate outlets, they were all hooked together.

He didn't understand how that house hadn't caught on fire.
Senator CHILES. Mr. Maese. did FmHA countersign the $5,000 check

in the Ortega case 1 day after it was deposited?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir. I didn't know that at the time, but it was

brought to my attention when we met with the people.
Senator CHILES. Is that a common procedure to write out the whole

amount the dav after it is put in there?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir.
Senator CHTLES. Isn't the procedure normally that as the contractor

brings in some bills and asks for a partial payment, that you then make
a partial payment?

Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator CIT ES. Do you know whether at the time the $5.000 was

paid out in one. lump sum. whether the work had been completed at
the time, the $5,000 was paid out. or was it just in advance?

Mr. MAESE. I do not know, sir, because I had not inspected the house
prior to the complaints coming in.
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Senator CHILES. Who countersigned that check?
Mr. MAEsE. According to the records, Steve Handy.
Senator CHILES. You don't know whether the work was done before

the grant was approved or not?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir, I don't.
Senator CHILES. Why did Farmers Home pay to install a septic tank

for a home that could be served by the city sewer system?
Mr. MAESE. I believe at the original time of the bid, we did not

know the city sewer system was coming through. The city sewer system
came in there about 5 to 6 months after that job was completed.

Senator CmiLEs. After the job was completed?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator CIULES. Senator Domenici.
Senator DOMENIcI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Let me see if I understand. Mr. Maese, when a $5,000 grant is ap-

proved, the $5,000 is made available immediately to be deposited in
the bank?

Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. In this case, I understand the $5,000 was de-

posited in the bank, and someone went to Ms. Ortega the same day or
the next day, which is it?

Mr. MAESE. I think it was the next day.
Senator DOMENICI. The next day then, and had her sign a $5,000

check for the contractor, and the Farmers Home representative co-
signed that check?

Mr. MAESE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. Let me ask you, was the work started before

you ever had an agreement or did they just advance $5,000 to this con-
tractor?

Mr. MAESE. Not to my knowledge, Senator.
Senator DOMENICI. Which is it ?
Mr. MAESE. I don't think it had been started.
Senator DOMENTCT. If this is the case, in this instance. the contractor

was given $5,000 before he started working, is that right?
Mr. MTAFsE. Yes, sir. according to the records. May I-
Senator DOMENICI. Please.
Mr. MAESE. In previous conversations with the Housing Authority

people, we were going to work two grants and it was my understand-
ing at the time that tley wvere going to process the State grant first
and then ours. Whether the work was started prior to that, I cannot
verify that for sure.

Senator DOMENICI. The inspection reports, Mr. Maese, would indi-cate this work had started before the money went in the bank. The in-spector's report. by Mr. Handy, stated, "Fifty -percent completed on
February 14, 1979," and final completion February 23,1979, when the
money wns deposited. How could that he?

Mr. MAnSE. The onlv wav it could have happened is somebody had
to authorize to start constriction prior to that.

Senator DOMENICI. So in this case, somebodv authorized the con-
tractor to start work on her house before she even had a grant. is that
correct?

Mr. MAxSE. As far as I can understand, yes.
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Senator DOMENICI. Well, you are the supervisor. Was that done or
not?

Mr. MAESE. As far as the work starting, I cannot tell you. As far as
loan approved, the grant approved, I don't believe it was started prior
to the grant being approved.

Senator DOAENICI. How can we find out when the grant was ap-
proved ?

Mr. MAESE. If you will look over at position No. 1 of that docu-
ment, you will find a 440-1.

Senator DoMENIcI. What date is that?
Mr. MAESE. January 30,1979.
Senator DOMENICI. Why would it take so long to get the money in

the bank?
Mr. MAEsE. Because we do not have the money here. We have to send

for it in St. Louis, to the finance office, and it will vary from 10 days
to 3 or 4 months.

Senator DOMENICI. In this case your records would reflect that before
you had the money in the bank, work was progressing?

Mr. MAESE. It should be noted in there. It should be documented.
Mrs. SALAZAR. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. I just spoke to my mother

and she said work had not been started yet.
Senator DOMENIcI. All right, we will let the file speak for itself

on those dates.
Now let me ask you: Do you remember signing the check for $5,000?
Mrs. ORTEGA. Yes. I signed.
Senator DOMENICI. When you signed it, had they already started

to work?
Mrs. SALAZAR. She just went to the bank. One of the secretaries from

Mr. Maese's office took my mother to the bank to deposit the money
in the bank. Mr. Gallegos and Bobby Madrid went with them.

Senator DOMENICI. I want to be very specific on this, and please
tell your mother to think very carefully. The money was put in the
account for her and she signed a $5,000 check. Had they started work
or not on that day?

Mrs. ORTEGA. No. the next day.
Mrs. SALAZAR. Not that day. the next day. she said.
Senator DOMENICI. Did they tell her anything about why she would

be paying the whole $5,000 all at one time?
Mrs. SALAZAR. No.
Senator DOMENICI. Why did she think she was signing the check?

What did she think she was doing in signing the check?
Mrs. SALAZAR. She just thought they were going to put the money

in the bank at that particular time, until the work was completed,
and then a check was supposed to be have been issued, but it wasn't.

Senator DoMENICI. So she was taken down to the bank where she
signed the check, in the presence of Robert Madrid and Pete Gallegos?

Mrs. SALAZAR. No; Lorraine Lujan, the secretary, Mr. Maese's sec-
retary, was the one who went to the bank with my mother, when they
took the check.

Senator DomENIcI. [Spanish spoken.]
Mrs. ORTEGA. [Spanish spoken.]
Senator DOMENICI. Would you interpret that?
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Mrs. ORTEGA. Si.
Senator DOMENICI. I will do that. When she went with Pete Galle-

gos and Robert Madrid, they took her to his secretary and they went
to the bank. The secretary went to the bank with her, and at the bank
she signed the check.

Now can I ask you, do you know whether the signature of Mr.
Handy was on that check when you signed it? Was that signature on
it when you signed it at the bank?

Mrs. ORTEGA. Si.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, she says she thinks that Handy's

signature was on it when she signed it at the bank. That would be her
testimony.

Now one more time, ask her why she was signing a check for $5,000.
What did she understand?
Mrs. SALAZAR. Because they told her to sign it.
Senator DOMENICI. For what?
Mrs. ORTEGA. [Spanish spoken.]
Senator DOMENIcI. To fix your house?
Mrs. ORTEGA. Si.
Senator DOMENICI. I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if we might put that

check in the record.,
Senator CHILES. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. What is the present situation with reference to

tho house? Can you quickly explain to us what or how things are now
and where things stand?

Mrs. SALAZAR. Mr. Chairman, they have started. Like I said, Fer-
nandos Gallegos, he's the electrical contractor. He has started to work
on the house for the electrical part and he's just not finished with it.
Willie Roybal has started construction on the house all over again.
He has patched up the outside by the porch, and they are in the process
of putting in new stairs, and they are in the process of redoing some
of the walls in the kitchen, and also in the bathroom.

Senator DOMENICI. Mollie, did you have something to ask?
Mrs. SALAZAR. No, I think it has been answered.
Senator DOMENIcI. AUll right.
Mrs. SALAZAR. Thank you.
Senator CHILES. Thank you very much for your appearance here

today.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, I wonder if you would just per-

mit me-I think they can be excused.
Mrs. SALAZAR. Mr. Chairman, I think there is another question she

would like to ask.
There was another check that was brought to my mother's house,

by Mr. Handy, at one particular time and she doesn't know exactly
what it was for. It was for $2,000, and she didn't know what it was for
or anything, and the way he handled that was just very improper.

Dr. LA VOR. It was a Housing Authority check for $2,000, I believe.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, what happened? Another check was

brought to her?
Mrs. SALAZAR. Yes, to the house for apparently $2,000. Now, she

really doesn't know for what amount it was. She doesn't know whether

X Retained in committee files.
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it was for $2.000, $200, or what it was for. Steve Handy went over to
my mother's house and told my mother, here, sign this check, I want
you to sign this check over to me.

Senator DOMENICI. I think it was for $2,000.
Dr. LA VOR. We thought it was that original check that she said

she signed and she explained this morning, so the only other check
that we know of that Handy cosigned was the Housing Authority
grant.

Senator CHILES. Who brought the check to her?
Mrs. SALAZAR, Steve.
Senator CHILES. Did he explain to you what the check was for?
Mrs. SALAZAR. No; he didn't.
Senator CHILES. Did he explain to her the amount of the check?
Mrs. SALAZAR. No; he didn't either.
Senator CHILES. So she doesn't know what the amount was. Was

it before or after she signed the other check?
Mrs. SALAZAR. It was after.
Senator CHILES. Does she know how long after?
Mrs. SALAZAR. Two or three months, I think.
Senator CHIFS. I see. Thank you very much.
Senator DOMENCIc. Mr. Chairman, for the record, I am looking

at a list of items that were furnished me bv our committee investi-
gators, including some photographs, just as comparisons. Here is a
$5,000 grant on a house in your State, and it includes 10 items, new
bathroom, new septic system, new roof, new hot water heaters, new
kitchen base and sink, complete plumbing, new ceiling, new siding
on outside, new windows, floors repaired as needed, at a total cost
of $5,000. Sir, we have pictures of these, and for our record I would
like them included.

Senator CnnmEs. I think we will put them in at an appropriate
place. This is in comparison with some of the pictures that you have
in these northern New Mexico counties.

Senator DOMENICI. We have one, just by coincidence, which is much
more than $5,000 by up front piggybacking, not after the fact, where
they replaced the roof and siding of an entire house, including a new
front door, new gutters and downspouts, for $9,400. I would like the
record to reflect what that looks like, in comparison.

Senator CHILES. That's from Pennsylvania?
Senator DoMENICI. This one is from Pennsylvania.
Senator CHILFS. We will place those in the record.'
Senator DOmENICI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator CHILES. All right. Mr. Castillos. would you raise your right

hand?
Senator DoMvEN-ICT. Senor Castillos.
Senator CHILES. Would you raise your hand, Mr. Castillos.
Do you swear the testimony you are about to eive before the com-

mittee will be the truth. the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so
help you God?

Mr. RUST. He understands no English, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. CAsTr`LLos. Yes.
Senator DOmENICI. Thank you.

1 Retained in committee files.
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Senator CHILES. Thank you.
Dr. LA VOn. Mr. Chairman, in the interest of time I will, then, do

both of these cases together and I will present them at one time.
The first house belongs to Mrs. Mares, and she received a $4,800

grant from Farmers Home to replace two doors that were in bad
shape, replace rotted-out kitchen linoleum and living room floor, and
to cover wood floors, and replace frames in kitchen and living room,
and replace six windows. That was $4,800.

She received the second grant from the State highway authority
to repair soffits and install electrical wiring, install new windows, and
paint interior. That was for $3,500, for a total of $8,300. The building
inspector didn't go to her house because she wasn't home at the time.
Let me just quickly run through and show you what was done to this
house.

These are the windows that she had originally in her house. They
were supposed to 'be replaced. This is what she's got. They were smaller
windows, because this is what the -builder had in stock, so he simply
framed it in and filled in that area. These are the windows in the front
of the house. The door was not replaced, and those are the framed-in
windows. This is what was supposed to have been replaced; it was
not. This is the back door that was supposed to have been replaced, it
wasn't replaced either. This is the roof in the kitchen, and it is a
single wall and it is supposed to be a triple wall. I'm not sure of my
terms, but this is improper, and if you will notice on the top it is
not completely filled in and the roof leaks just above it.

This is the linoleum that was put in the bathroom, and you will
notice there are three layers of linoleum. When I was at the house the
first time Mrs. Mares picked up a piece of linoleum and went like that.
That is when I took that picture. Instead of replacing or removing the
rotted-out floors, they left the rotted-out floors, put some fiberboard
over it, and covered it with this inexpensive tile.

Now, the next house, the one of Mr. Castillos. Mr. Castillos received
a grant from Farmers Home to do the following: Repair roof, ceilings,
floors, install kitchen cabinet, install new doors, install new floor
coverings on all floors. That was $2,900.

He received a second grant for $3,500 to, repair walls in two bed-
rooms, install new electrical wiring in dwelling, repair kitchen ceiling,
and paint interior.

As you can see, Mr. Chairman, the roof, it was not done. On the side
of the house there is a hole in the attic which wasn't corrected, and
there is a crack in the wall that wasn't fixed.

Senator DOMENICI. Who is the contractor on this?
Dr. LA Von. P. & P.
Senator DO3ENICI. On both of them?
Dr. LA Von. I'm not sure if it was-yes, it was on both of them.
This was, there was some work done in the bathroom and this was

the condition of the bathroom in June.
This is the kitchen and you can see there was some patching done.

This is the electrical wiring and you can see it is outside the wall,
there are wires outside-the wall which is a code violation. You will
also notice that the wall with the patches is beginning to crack again.

This is the same picture, but it shows the floor. The next picture,
please, this is the condition of the floor less than 1 year later. This is
the new floor.
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This is another picture of the side wall. This flue is not legal. It
should be a straight flue. The flue must be straight up and it is im-
properly vented.

This is the overall room. These are the cabinets that were installed,
and you have some idea of what is there. I think that is the last slide.

Mr. Chairman, the estimator said, roof repair, poor; electrical
service, good; subfloor and floor covering, poor; kitchen cabinets,
good; he estimated labor and materials a maximum of $3,025 out of
the $6,400.

Senator CHmEs. Mrs. Mares, are you satisfied with the work that
you had done?

Mrs. MARES. No.
Senator CHILES. Why not?
Mrs. MARES. Because the first job they made over there, they went

and put in. They made other frames and put them over the other ones.
They never done anything else.

Senator CHILES. So you ended up with less window than you had to
start with.

Mrs. MARES. So when they give me other money, the next time, they
hire another man to do the job and that's when they build the win-
dows. There are supposed to be four windows.

Senator CHiLES. Do you know why Albert Garcia was unable to do
the work on your house, as was originally planned?

Mrs. MARES. He said he was too busy, because I want him to go and
do the job, you know.

Senator CHILES. Did you select P. & P. Construction Co..?
Mrs. MARES. No.
Senator CHnms. This house, Mrs. Mares, appears to be in fairly

good condition, as compared to some of the others we have seen today.
Why would it take almost $9,000 to do the work if it had been done
by

Mrs. MARES. They were supposed to fix the roof because it was leak-
ing, and they say they checked the roof and couldn't find any leaks,
but it was leaking, I told them it was leaking, but they didn't fix the
roof or anything. They were supposed to fix the bath, but they didn't
do it because they said they were going to go back and do the work,
and they never did went back.

Senator CHILES. Thank you.
Mr. Maese, I was asking why would it take $9,000 to do what should

have been able to be done for less than $5,000?
Mr. MAESE. If this was part of the development inspection, like

originally planned, this house is pretty good sized, bigger than most,
it is better maintained than most of them. If you look at the work that
was done, it was not part of the development work.

Senator CHILES. They did not follow the development plan?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir.
Mrs. MARES. It wasn't working.
Senator CHILEs. Who inspected this house?
Mr. MAESE. Without looking at the file I couldn't tell you, right

away, but she tells me that Robert Madrid did most of the inspecting
on this house.

Senator CHILE. We will hand you the file and while we are doing
that let me go to Mr. Castillos.
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Mr. Castillos, the pictures that we have seen make it appear that an
awful lot of work needs to be done to your house. Are you satisfied with
the work that has been done?

Mr. CASTILLos. He said that there was a lot of work that was done
that was absolutely unnecessary or very poor and that some of the
things come up that I can't remember.

Senator CHILES. Did he select P. & P. Construction Co.?
Mr. CASNLLOS. Yes; I think that's the same man, P. & P.
Senator DomrENIci. The question was, did he select P. & P., or who

did?
Mr. CASTILLOS. No; Madrid, that's the same man, P. & P.
Senator CHILES. Did he say Mr. Madrid?
Mr. CASTILL0S. Did he say Mr. Madrid? Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Maese, who inspected the Castillos house?
Mr. MAESE. Robert Madrid.
Senator DOMENIcI. Robert Madrid?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator CHILES. We thank you very much for your testimony.
We are going to recess the hearings now for an hour for lunch. We

will start back promptly at 1:30.
Senator Domenici, I am going to have to catch a plane to go back to

Washington. I want to ask you and Senator Melcher to continue the
hearing, if you will.

Senator DOMENIcI. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, we'll com-
plete them this afternoon.

[Whereupon, the committee recessed at 12:30 p.m., to reconvene at
1:30 p.m.]

AFTER RECESS

Senator MELCHER. The hearing will come to order.
This afternoon our first witness will be Drew Cloud, State director,

Farmers Home Administration. He will be accompanied by Frank
Glover, Roberto Maese, Charles Knoop, John Handy, and Robert
Madrid.

Mr. Cloud, we understand that you have given some testimony to the
grand jury. We will respect those particular points and not intrude
into the grand jury investigation.

Did you give any testimony, Mr. Glover, to the grand jury?
Mr. GOwvER. No.
Senator MELCHER. I don't believe any of the rest of you have, just

Mr. Cloud.
Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF DREW CLOUD, ALBUQUERQUE, N. MEX., STATE
DIRECTOR, FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION

Mr. CLxouD. Mr. Chairman and Senator Domenici, I have a short
statement I would like to read to the committee.

I am Drew Cloud, State director for the Farmers Home Administra-
tion in New Mexico. Be assured that this agency will cooperate fully
with the Senate Special Committee on Aging, and have been cooperat-
ing with your special committee.
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It has been my pleasure to serve as State director on two separate
occasions; first from 1961 to 1968, and beginning in March 1979 until
the present time.

You will recall that the 1960's ushered in massive social, economic,
and technological programs, the New Frontier, Rural Development,
the space program, the war on poverty, food stamps, and many others.
It was a time of dramatic action, a time of intensive effort to provide
low-income people wibli basic necessities of life, including adequate
income, safe, decent, sanitary housing, and proper nutrition.

These were the conditions in 1964 when Faarmers Home Administra-
tion activated a concerted effort to improve housing conditions in rural
America, principally through the 502 homeownership and the 504
home improvement pro-rams.

FmHA's authority for making home improvement loans and/or
grants was originally provided in section 504, title V, of the Housing
Act of 1949. During the 1950's and early 1960's, funding and program
activity for 504 assistance were minimal.

There is in my statement a table showing the 504 loans and grants
made in the State of New Mexico since 1964 until the present. You will
note in that graph, Mr. Chairman, that approximately 82.1 percent of
all the grants made by the Farmers Home Administration have been
in this four-county area of San Miguel, Mora, Rio Arriba, and Taos
Counties.

We reflect that we have had a total of 3,030 people -helped during
this period of time. These figures are reflected in the graph also.

Many of these people receiving the 504 grants had no indoor plumb-
ing, their roofs leaked continuously, drafts turned the house into a
refrigerator in the winter, walls were covered with newspaper, win-
dows and doors had no screens to keep out disease-bearing insects.
The comforts of home taken for granted by millions of Americans
were only dreams for thousands of rural New Mexicans before the 504
program was available to help them.

The 15-year figures record tremendous growth in the 504 program
in New Mexico, from 1 loan and 47 grants in 1964 totaling $45,010, to
83 loans and 211 grants amounting to $1,000,420 in fiscal year 1979.
In 1964 the grant and loan funds were scarce. Maximum loan or grant
or a combination of both was $1,000.

We have another graph that will indicate the growth of our prob-
lem versus the growth of our personnel; This is one of our problems.
Between 1966 and 1976 we received no grant funds whatsoever. Funds
for 504 grants to the elderly were made available in 1977. Loan au-
thority was increased from $1,000 to $2,500, to $3,500, to $5,000, then to
the current combination of grant and loans of $7,500. The maximum
loan repayment period is 20 years, commensurate with the borrower's
ability to pay. Interest is 1 percent.

Two important statistics deserve special attention-total program
volume and number of full-time FmHA personnel. Total program
volume in 1964 was $6.3 million. The, total number of full-time per-
sonnel was 79. The figures for 1979 were $110.1 million and 93 perma-
nent full-time personnel respectively. An increase of over 900 percent
in program volume compared with a 17 percent increase in personnel.
Attached to my statement is an illustration of the ratio between pro-
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gram volume and available personnel FmHA-NM for fiscal years
1971-75, a peak period for 504 loans. Program volume jumped from
$13.2 to $38.4 million, while total available personnel, full time and
part time, actually decreased from 96 to 92. The facts speak for them-
selves.

During the 1970's a number of innovations were introduced to cope
with tremendous program growth, including participation with pri-
vate lenders, and other funding agencies, to stretch available FmHA
dollars and use of gratuitous employees to alleviate excessive work
loads.

In March 1978, a memorandum of understanding was entered into
between FmHA and the New Mexico State Housing Authority
whereby home loan processors were assigned to 10 FmHA county of-
fices to assist in our rural housing program. County offices involved
were Espanola, Taos. Las Vegas, Estancia, Los Lunas, Socorro, Albu-
querque. Silver City, Roswell, and Gallup.

In 1978 the New Mexico State Legislature appropriated $200,000
which funded a rural housing grant program to assist rural elderly 62
years of age or older.

Home loan processors were responsible for assisting in the admin-
istration of regular FmHA housing programs, processing side-by-side
State grants for housing projects cofunded by FmHA and process-
ing State-only home improvement grants. Maximum for grant is
$5.000.

The State program was not refunded by the State legislature in
1979. Instead the Community Services Administration provided $200,-
000 for continuation of the grant program.

Home loan processors at all times have been employees of the State
of New Mexico. subject to applicable State laws and administrative
procedure. The New Mexico State Housing Authority administers this
honsing assistance program.

The concept of this mutual assistance agreement between Federal
and State governments is good. As has been the case in similar under-
takings, actual operation of the joint assistance program has clearly
defined the difference between rhetoric and realitv.

It has been my policy while serving as State Director for Farmers
Home Administration to act as soon as possible to institute corrective
measures when I become aware of specific problems. When I learned
of deficiencies that occurred following some 504 grants. I reviewed
the problems with the district director and county supervisor.

Senator DoIrENIcI. Drew, the State program was not refunded iD
1979. Do you know why. of your own knowledge?

Mr. CLOUD. Senator Dunn was the chairman of the Senate Appro-
priations Committee. He did not look on the program with favor.

Senator DOMENTCI. Was this program discontinued as a greneral
matter of principle or did they think it wasn't being run well?

Mr. CLOUD. In my brief discussions with Senator Dunn, he just
told me it was a matter of Principle.

Senator DOIWENTCT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. CLOuD. I directed the construction analvst for the State office

to review conditions at each home and provide me with a detailed
report. I then assigned him to work on remedying the problems.
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When I became aware of the problems concerning administration
of the 504 program in San Miguel County, I requested an audit be
conducted by the USDA's Office of Audit in Temple, Tex. This action
was initiated, but is being held in abeyance pending the outcome of
the Senate review. Results of the audit verified the need for adminis-
trative action.

In retrospect, it is my sincere opinion that the 504 housing- pro-

gram has brought much good to New Mexico. Without a doubt, it

has improved living conditions and brought hope and better health

to thousands of elderly people in our State. The ratio of problem
cases to good loans or grants is probably 150 to 1. We do not deny

our mistakes made in administering the 504 program, but we are very
proud of the role that Farmers Home Administration has played in
helping low income, elderly, rural N-'v Mexicans acquire decent hous-
ing, decent and sanitary housing.

Thank you, Seriator, and I will be happy to respond to any questions.

ADDITIONAL STATEMENT OF DREW CLOUD

Mr. Chairman, I wish to thank you and the other members of this committee
for the opportunity to provide additional testimony on the section 504 housing
program in New Mexico.

Farmers Home Administration is very concerned about the plight of our
Nation's elderly. Most of Farmers Home involvement In rural areas is with the
low-income resident. We see firsthand the struggles facing a person or family on
a fixed income.

The section 504 housing program was designed for less fortunate citizens,
to make their homes safe and sanitary.

Across the Nation, the 504 program has been extremely successful. Our financ-
ing has replaced roofs and kitchens, built bathrooms, and provided for proper
ventilation and weatherization from Alaska to the Virgin Islands and Maine to
Hawaii. It is a good program.

As you are aware, our legal lending limits are $5,000 for a loan or grant, with
a limit of $7,500 for a combination of both. I'm sure we are au very much aware
of exactly how far $5,000 goes these days in the construction industry. Not very
far,

New Mexico was not as fortunate as some other States like Florida and
Pennsylvania to have CETA employees assigned to the rehabilitation jobs. Actions
like these make these all-too-few dollars go so much further.

I am not here to provide excuses for what Mr. La Vor uncovered in New
Mexico. Some persons connected with Farmers Home and the 504 program may
have used poor judgment in carrying out their duties. There have been problems,
but full and complete investigations, audits, and the courts will decide what
action needs to he taken.

But these problems are not representative of the 504 program in New Mexico
as well as the rest of the Nation. There are some more widespread documenta-
tion problems in New Mexico, which we are addressing.

If this committee were to investigate the more than 3,600 loans and grants
made In New Mexico under this program, the committee would find, by and
large, many satisfied borrowers and recipients. But, alas, you would find some
who are not.

Many recipients don't fully understand our mandate of "safe and sanitary"
housing. They often have visions of their modest home converted to a beautiful
house. We are often hampered by language difficulties, a situation even recog-
nized by Senator Domenici in his opening remarks. But the most important fact
is inflation. Rising eosts have taken their toll on the 504 program. We often
can't do all the work needed with $5,000.

As I mentioned in earlier testimony, the increased workload on FmHA em-
ployees has been enormous. In this program alone, our growth from 1 loan and 47
grants in fiscal year 1964 totaling $45,010, to 83 loans and 211 grants totaling
$1,006,420 in fiscal year 1979 has placed a tremendous amount of pressure on



58

our employees. You must realize that our total program volume has grown from
$6 million to $110.1 million in the same amount of time. Since 1964, our staff
has only grown by 14 employees. That is a 900-percent increase in program volume
and a 17-percent increase in personnel, resulting sometimes in less than desirable
servicing practices.

In the 1970's, as we were experiencing such rapid growth, several innovations
were introduced to FmHA. These included participation from funding agencies
to stretch FmHA funds and using gratuitous employees to alleviate excessive
workloads. To the average county supervisor this assistance was a godsend.

It should be pointed out for the record, that testimony regarding FmiHA's
New Mexico 504 housing program at the Santa Fe hearing on October 8 was
limited, by the Special Committee, to the period after I, Drew Cloud, returned
as State Director on March 17, 1979. There was no discussion whatsoever of the
critical period of time when the problems originated.

Operation of our 504 program in north-central New Mexico counties changed
substantially after March 1978, when a memorandum of understanding was
entered into between FmHA-NM and the New Mexico Planning Office. "Home
Loan Processors" were assigned to FmHA county offices. Although these individ-
uals were involved in processing housing applications that included FmHA
grants and loans as well as State grants, their allegiance was to the New Mexico
State Planning Office, which supervised and directed their activities, not the
Farmers Home Administration. An in-depth inquiry into the 12-month time frame,
March 1978 to March 1979, would have provided a much clearer picture of this
entire matter.

Also during that year the New Mexico State Legislature appropriated $200,000
for rural housing grants to the elderly, with a maximum grant of $3,000.

In 1979, Community Services Administration provided $200,000 for the con-
tinuation of the legislatures' project.

Soon after my appointment as State Director of FmHA in New Mexico, I
became aware of deficiencies that were occurring in 504 grants. Action was
taken to have a construction analyst review the problem projects and provide
me with a detailed report. I then assigned him to work on remedying these
problems.

When I became aware of the problems in San Miguel County, I promptly
requested an official audit by FmHA. This action has been initiated but is being
held in abeyance pending the outcome of this committee's actions.

A number of firm actions have been taken since the October 8 hearing, County
Supervisor Roberto Maese has been relocated from Las Vegas to Estancia,
N. Mex., as an Assistant County Supervisor. Tom Ramsey, County Supervisor at
Taos is being transferred to and placed in charge of the county office in Las
Vegas. Mr. Ramsey is a seasoned, experienced FmHA Supervisor with an out-
standing record of accomplishments in program administration.

Results of the audit will determine the administrative action necessary. We
will abide by civil service regulations in this regard.

There has been criticism by this committee of promotions given to persons con-
nected with Farmers Home. One promotion was granted before I became FmHA
State Director and the other promotion was granted under the merit promotion
program, before the seriousness of the charges were known.

I thank you for the opportunity to provide this additional testimony. I appre-
ciate your concern and look forward to the conclusions that will be drawn from
this body.

Senator MELCHER. Mr. Cloud, I have got a personal question first.
You were in this capacity during what I take to be the Kennedy-
Johnson years?

Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Then you were reappointed as of March 1979.

What were you doing between the time Jimmy Carter became Presi-
dent in 1977 and March 1979? Were you with Farmers Home?

Mr. CLOUD. No, sir.
Senator MELCHIER. You accepted the post in March 1979?
Mr. CLOUD. Yes.
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Senator MELCHER. So whatever has happened in the last year, year
and a half with this program, was your direct responsibility?

Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Nobody else's?
Mr. CLDun. Right.
Senator MELCHER. You are the "top dog" here in New Mexico in

Farmers Home?
Mr. CLoUnD. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. You know, I have worked with Farmers Home in

establishing programs and funding for them ever since I came to Con-
gress. I don't know whether you were here this morning for my open-
ing remarks, but I stressed the fact that Pete and I, and others in
Congress, who come from States where agriculture is so important,
really go to bat and hope that we can do some good for the Farmers
Home Administration programs because they do so much for the entire
community in so many areas.

Now, 504 is a relatively small program. I know the problems the
FmHA has had in getting personnel. I went up and down that hill
through the Nixon administration, the Ford administration, the
Carter administration, and have had only limited success with any of
them. It doesn't seem to make any difference that I am a Democrat and
President Carter is a Democrat. I don't seem to have any more success
in getting help for Farmers Home Administration on personnel or soil
conservation service than I had with President Ford and President
Nixon. We have really gone to bat and we have done some good for
yob. You show that modest increase that you listed in your testimony.

I want to zero in on this program. I don't know anything about the
rest of the Farmers Home Administration programs in New Mexico,
but I know this one isn't in very good shape, 504. You are responsible.

Now, you have got three people here who are, I guess, county super-
visors, is that right?

Mr. CLOUD. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. Does that mean there are three counties involved

in the 504 program ?
Mr. CLOUD. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Tell me about this, then, how many counties are

we talking about with the 504 program?
Mr. CLOUD. We have 504 programs in all counties, but the bulk of the

problem is there.
Senator MELCHER. Are we talking about 90 percent?
Mr. CLOUD. It is 82.1 percent.
Senator MELcHER. Eighty-two percent is in three counties. Let's talk

about the personnel in those three counties, because if you don't have
enough personnel for the 504 program, it is obvious we have to do some-
thing. I understood you to say this morning that you had two people
under you who assist in these programs, a whole range of programs,
is that right?

Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Are there just three of you for all the Farmers

Home Administration programs, or three of you just for housing
programs?
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Mr. MAESE. There are two of us for all the Farmers Home pro-
grams and one was for assisting in housing also, two clerks.

Senator MELOKER. All right. I don't know how many 504 pro-

gram grants you had in the past year and you think you had enough

personnel to handle them?
Mr. MAESE. We had five grants in the past year.

Senator MELCHER. And you had enough personnel to handle it?
Mr. MAESE. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. How about 1979?
Mr. MAESE. I think we had enough.
Senator MELCHER. So let's lay to rest the personnel problem. Let's

zero in on why the personnel did not perform. Is it because it was out

of hand when you got there in March 1979, and you just never caught

up with it?
Mr. CLOUD. Senator, if I just back up a step. You are aware that

the 504 program was reduced this past year and it was reduced even

more in fiscal year 1981. Our records, that I picked up this morning,

show that the Las Vegas office made six 504 grants last year, fiscal year

1980, but it made 50 in Las Vegas in fiscal year 1979, 75 in 1978.

Senator MELCHER. We aren't going to talk about 1978 because we

can't hold you accountable for it. We will discuss 1979 with you. You

had people working with these programs. I think it could have been

done. It is a question of why they weren't qualified. Mr. Handy testi-

fied that he was not qualified and he was in that office then.

Mr. CLOUD. I heard Mr. Handy testify, his testimony. Senator, I

can't understand. Anybody that comes to work with us received ex-

tensive training in our program. We have an ongoing full-time train-

ing program in Kansas City that we send our supervisors to. We have

from two to four training sessions a year in-State, and we have a

week set up in November for training on housing.
Senator MELCHER. I don't mean you need these training programs,

and obviously they don't work, unless you have got somebody out there

that is doing a job. That is your responsibility to know whether they

are doing the job. I don't think you were doing your job. That is your

main responsibility, to know that these people are out there using up

these Federal dollars, know at the time what they are doing with them.

My goodness, with all your experience with the Farmers Home Ad-

ministration and all this process of having the money tied up, so that

the person who is getting the grant has to sign, and the supervisor

has to sign, this is a time-tested procedure for Farmers Home Ad-

ministration. You are well aware of why it is done and the whole

principle behind it. You know how effective it can be as long as there

is somebody that is cosigning that, that knows what they are doing.

Now, I am not going to get into the question of fraud with you

people, particularly because of the ongoing grand jury investigation.

There is no question under this procedure when the supervisor, or the

supervisor's deputy, has to sign that check, along with the recipient of

the check, there is only one reason, dereliction of duty if it isn't done

right, as in some instances we saw this morning. Your testimony this

afternoon, that only 1 loan out of 150 went sour, doesn't seem to be the

case in 504, I am sorry to say. I hope that is the general case through-
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out the country. That isn't too bad. It doesn't seem to be the case here
in 504.

I am not going to ask you any more questions at this time because
I think Senator Domenici will get more pertinent questions into the
record. I may want to followup after that.

Senator Domenici.
Senator Do31ENICI. May I say also that I don't know if in your

statement the 151 figure was intended to mean that you really believed
only 1 in 150 of the section 504 $5,000 grant programs were mis-
handled. I hope you didn't say that. You did say probably.

Mr. CLOUD. We figure that since this program was originated in
1964 we have helped 3,000 people. It is just elementary if we broke
it down-if you would look at those loans you were checking this
morning, most of those were made before I came on as State director.
It is what I have been doing since I came on that I would like to
defend.

Senator DOmENICI. I also want to say, Drew, I know you have a prob-
lem right now with a grand jury investigation. I am not going to pull
out all these audits we have reviewed after we became involved in this
investigation. I am going to tell you, as honestly as I can, that I don't
think very much was being done to clean it up until very recently.
I really can't believe those two gentlemen who testified here this
morning, both of whom have been up there for a long time. Now one
has been promoted and is in Gallup. He is not there any more. I can't
believe any real effort was made until very, very recently to get inspec-
tors in the field who were doing the job right. I hope to get it done
now. I would like before you leave, to the extent that you can, for you
to tell us, and I don't want it now, but shortly, just what is being
done. I think Senator Melcher has {made the right point. We want to
be able to convince ourselves that management decisions have been
made which are going to make this kind of thing very, very minimal,
if ever. Then, we can go to Congress and push for program increases.

I want to say to you also that I asked you about the $200,000 at the
State level, because I want you to know I have told the people in State
housing that I personally think the program, if run right, will succeed.
I am going to Pennsylvania, and I am going to Florida, and look at it,
because what I have seen is tremendous in terms of coordination. If
I were to show you some of the pictures of what has happened to a
home by proper piggybacking, and what has gotten done with $9,000
versus what we have seen here in 20 homes, I think you will agree with
me. If we can move in this direction we ought to do it. I told them I
would testify. before the State legislature, to ask that they put money
in for the State to make the requisite add-ons to get a good job done,
but I am sure we are not going to get much sympathy there. We are not
going to get any in the Congress either until we can tell them this
program has been straightened up.

Having said that, let me just ask you what are you doing right now
to straighten up this programm?

Mr. CLOUD. Senator, I asked our audit section to audit this program
in those areas. I have now asked them to expand that audit to cover
all programs, not just 504. There is an ongoing investigation-now,
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this is the audit section-there is an ongoing investigation by the in-
vestigation division to see if there are any indictments that can be
brought. I have been advised by counsel and by the Department's
Farmers Home Administration to not make any personnel changes
or any administrative decisions until all of the evidence is in. This
is why we are treading water until the investigation is complete.

In the meantime, I sent in a team of an assistant district director, a
housing inspector, and three long-time career county supervisors into
that office. I said that I wanted them to go over every loan there,
every 504 loan, then go to the contractors and tell them that they
have not fulfilled their obligations. This was done. The contractors
have been less than cooperative. We plan on taking other decisions
when the grant jury brings its findings. Then we will make the neces-
sary personnel changes. We are kind of stuck with the situation we
are in until the investigation is complete.

Senator DoMENIcI. There have been no personnel changes at this
point?

Mr. CLOUD. That is right.
Senator DOMENICI. And that is on the advice of whom?
Mr. CLOUD. The housing chief in Washington and our own counsel.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Maese testified this morning that he left

the work in the field completely up to Handy and Madrid. They testi-
fied they weren't properly trained in that respect. There is evidence
that some of these homes were issued permits, others weren't. There
is evidence some were inspected by building inspectors and some
weren't. This was over a long period of time. Let me ask you, why,
in your opinion, does it take so long to find out those things?

Mr. CLOUD. Senator, this was called to my attention in 1979. The
rural housing chief and I went and met with Ernest Coriz, the director
of the Construction Industries Commission. We agreed with him at
that time-there had been some problems within the Construction
Industries' Commission. Mr. Coriz was also new. He agreed that he
would inspect every house from that point forward. We sent a bul-
letin to the field and told all of our employees, from this point on
you are going to have licensed contractors, licensed plumbers, licensed
electricians, and you are going to get State inspections. Now, it
wasn't true before this.

Senator DOMENICI. My point is, as I read your own regulations,
all of those were required before you did that. All you did was restate
the law, restate the regulations.

Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir; I did it as the State director.
Senator DOMENICI. My question is how can it get that bad for that

long and we not find out about it. The State law says contractors have
to be licensed. We have evidence that some aren't licensed. I under-
stand the State law says any construction work over $500 must have
the proper permit. I understand the inspectors are required on numer-
ous phases, such as electrical, plumbing. We have seen examples of
supervisors both signing the checks and disbursing the money under
circumstances where some or all of those inspections were not com-
plied with. Isn't there within the bureaucracy a system which would
catch this very easily? If so, who should have caught it? Is it the guy
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who runs the office in Las Vegas or Mora County or Rio Arriba who
should have caught it? Is it the county supervisor?

Mr. CLOUD. Senator, I think the buck stops at the State director. I
did catch it. Mr. Coriz came on new to correct the problems in the
Construction Industries Commission and I came on new to correct
them for the Farmers Home Administration. We are working to
correct them right now.

Senator DOMENICI. Well, you know, I really don't like to say this,
but I don't believe you. What is the date today and what year?

Mr. CroUD. The date is the 8th of October.
Senator DOmENICI. 1980?
Mr. CLOUD. Yes.
Senator DO3IENIcI. There hasn't been one personnel change other

than Mr. Handy going from an inspector in the field, where he tells
us he didn't know how to inspect. He has been made director of the
office in McKinley County. To my knowledge at this point, there have
been absolutely no other changes that I am aware of, of any substance.
I have seen the indepth audits that you have in your possession. You
have had them in your possession for a long time. This is October.
Don't you think that aside from technical rules, personnel changes
are in order, Drew?

Mr. CLOUD. Yes; I do.
Senator DOMENIcI. That hasn't been done yet?
Mr. CLOUD. I have been directed not to do it until the investigations

are complete. There has been a great change that isn't visible here.
The conflict-and there was a conflict-between the State employees
and the Federal employees to where apparently our employees were
told that the State employees would go out and pretty well run the
504 program. This is indicated in the records. Now that I am State
director, we don't have those gratuitous employees. I have gone back
to the Federal employees and said, look, this is your responsibility.
There is nobody else that you can pass this on to. You have got to
make the loan, you have got to inspect the loan or grant. It is abso-
lutely your responsibility and you are going to have to be responsible
for it.

Senator DOMENICI. You debarred P. & P. Construction?
Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Now it is J. & P. Construction?
Mr. CLOUD. The debarment still stands.
Senator DOMENICI. J. & P. debarred?
Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator DOInENIcI. Let me, Mr. Chairman, move to the other wit-

nesses, if you will.
Senator MELCHER. Certainly.
Senator Do3IENTICI. Mr. Handy, how long did you work in the

Farmers Home Office in Las Vegas?
Mr. HANDY. About 2 years.
Senator DomENICL. Would you describe the training that you

received to prepare you for this job?
Mr. HANDY. The lack of training that I referred to was in the reha-

bilitation, not in new housing or anything else. I am not aware of any
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programs that we have for strictly rehab, which, I believe, is probably
necessary because it is quite a bit different from new construction and
from anything else that we do.

Senator DomENIcI. So you stand by your statement this morning
that you were not properly trained to do this kind of inspection?

Mr. HANDY. Yes, sir. I had not worked on 504 at all before I came
to Las Vegas.

Senator DOMENICI. Well, Mr. Handy, we are trying to find out this
afternoon how we can improve this program, how we can make it work.
Why do we have the problems we have in this program, in your
opinion ?

Mr. HANDY. The program is limited in the amount of funds it can
supply. A great number of the houses I have seen 504 used on could
not be brought up to a totally safe and sanitary condition with the
amount of funds that are available, $5,000 or $7,500. What we do in
Gallup, HUD can come in there and grant up to $15,000. They can
make low interest loans. We can augment their funds. Some of "those
houses can receive $24,000, $25,000 in grants alone. That way the
houses can be brought up completely to standards.

The people there, that work on those, are natives of the area, the guy
that does the work has been in construction all his life and that is what
he is doing. I have learned a great deal from him.

Senator DoMiENIcI. I understand. One of the thoughts going through
my mind is, it is awfully difficult to repair some of these houses, and
certainly awfully difficult with only $5,000. I read the regulations very
carefully. They sent them down to the offices, the field offices, the
Washington office. There is one which says, right out, that you don't
approve a grant unless at the time you are finished with it, the house
is sanitary and healthy. Right from the beginning grants were beingmade apparently to homes that didn't meet this criterion. That is true,
isn't it?

Mr. HANDY. That is true.
Senator DOMENICI. There are plenty of homes which need help in the

area, aren't there?
Mr. HANDY. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. If you didn't Dick one, you could find five others,

couldn't you, that are looking for help?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DommNIcI. Our staff working on this matter indicated to

us you often helped Robert Madrid when he was very busy. What kinds
of things did Robert Madrid ask you to do for him?

Mr. HANDY. Inspections mostly.
Senator DOMENICI. Did you ever tell him, or your supervisor, that

you felt inadequate in doing inspections of this type?
Mr. HANDY. I don't know whether I specifically told them, but

Bobby and I both felt that we weren't qualified on rehabs.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, when you talked with our people, you said

a lot of the things you were asked to do by Robert Madrid you now
think were a mistake. What did you mean by that? What is a "mis-
take" about the things you were asked to do and did?

Mr. HANDY. Well, what we are here for right now, having to ex-
plain all these things we did.
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Senator DOMENICI. Do you mean such as doing inspections for him
when you shouldn't have?

Mr. HANDY. Right.
Senator DoMENIcI. What else?
Mr. HANDY. That is the main thing right there, the inspections.
Senator DOMENICI. What was mistaken about that? I don't under-

stand.
Mr. HANDY. I should not have kept doing them if I knew I wasn't

qualified.
Senator DOMENICr. So you shouldn't have done your own. and you

compounded it by helping him out by doing some for him?
Mr. HANDY. The ones I did were 502, new houses, where I feel, I am

well qualified.
Senator DOMENICI. Your own job you felt qualified in, and when

you went and helped on this you didn't. What you mean by a mistake?
Mr. HANDY. Right.
Senator DOMENICI. Do we have a document here we wanted him to

look at?
We will give you these two. Look at the signatures. I want you to

tell me about them.
You have a bank signature card there in front of you and two

checks. The checks appear to be signed by different people, is that
right?

Mr. HANDY. Yes, it appears that way.
Senator DOMENICI. Look at all three signatures there in front of

you. Did you sign Juanita Madrid's signature on the bank card or on
either of the checks?

Mr. HANDY. No, sir, I did not.
Senator DOMENICI. Would you look at them. I will ask you the same

question. Did you sign Juanita Madrid's signature on the bank card?
Mr. HANDY. No, sir.
Senator Dom-ENIcI. And on either of the checks?
Mr. HANDY. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Knoop, how many contractors have you

debarred in Rio Arriba County?
Mr. KNOOP. We never have went to a debarment proceeding on any.
Senator DOMENICI. How do you discipline contractors that do

shoddy work up there?
Mr. KNOOP. Well, the one that we have had the worst trouble with

is no longer in the construction business. As far as I am concerned, he
will never do any more work.

Senator DoxENIcI. You can correct. me if I am wrong, but in review-
ing our file of the Senate committee, I detect the problem cases which
have been discovered in Rio Arriba County have been discovered
either by auditors, or internal auditors, after the fact, many times
months after. In your county, these cases were reported in the news-
papers. If this is correct, and maybe you will want to challenge my
statement, tell me why they weren't found bv you in your office?

Mr. KNOOP. I don't believe that is correct. We were very much aware
of this problem up north before the newspapers ever got a hold of it.
A contractor was terminated on these jobs. One of the jobs, the con-
tractor wasn't even allowed to start the job. This cwntractor was ter-
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minated on all four jobs and he was never allowed to complete any
of the four contracts he had.

Senator DoMENICI. Who was that!
Mr. KNoop. He ran under the license of L. & W. Construction Co.
Senator DOMENICi. Is this the one who left the State?
Mr. KNoOP. Yes; the other instances we have had trouble with con-

tractors, some of them were unlicensed, and we are not allowing any
unlicensed contractors to complete any work at this time.

Senator DOMENICI. Then you must have allowed them at some time
if you don't let them now. Why did you ever let them?

Mr. KNOOP. In certain areas, it was very difficult to find a good li-
censed contractor to do the work, so these are members or friends of
the family that do construction work that aren't licensed, who com-
pleted the work. They are very difficult to find.

Senator DOMENIcI. Mr. Knoop and Mr. Maese, have either of you
received any new directives or tightened procedures since these prob-
lems were revealed in the audits and the investigation? You answer
first, Mr. Knoop.

Mr. KNOOP. I believe we have, from the standpoint of requiring a
licensed contractor. Also, signing our construction contracts whereby
40 percent of the funds are witheld until the job is completed, final,
and the family is satisfied with the work, and FimHA has signed out
finally on the work, 40 percent of the person's funds are withheld.

We did recently have a licensed contractor, who was licensed, that
balked at that requirement, and he was doing shoddy work, and he is
no longer going to fulfill that type of contract, because he can't live
with the 40 percent withholdment of funds until he gets done.

Senator DomENIcI. Mr. Maese?
Mr. MIr-sE. Yes, sir, we have had some tightening up instruction

from both the District Director and the State office, including touch-
ing base with our building contractors in our area and it has helped.

Senator DOMENICI. Could you tell me why you think you have so
many problems with 504 program?

Mr. MAEsE. At the time I was transferred back to Las Vegas, there
were 107 applications, and there was another batch of applications
that had'been approved since the year before, and the grants had been
awarded and they were still under construction.

I didn't know the extent of what training the people had. The only
think I knew is that they had been in our office longer than, since I
had been gone and, also, there was a lot of construction going on.

At that point, I talked to my district office and discussed the possi-
bility of getting additional help, and a lot of these problems that
were going on at the time were already under construction when I
moved in.

The other reason I wasn't aware of a lot of the problems is that
the people never complained to me in my office. According to the
instruction, if we do not hear a complaint, we take it for granted
the people are satisfied.

Senator DomENIcI. Are you charged with the responsibility of
keeping a file on each of these 504's in your office in the county?

Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
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Senator DOMENICI. Some of them didn't even have a signed con-
tract with the contractor, isn't that right?

Mr. MAESE. I don't think any of them did.
Senator DomENIcI. How do you expect anyone to enforce anything

against a contractor without a contract?
Mr. MAESE. We discussed that on one of the audits in 1979, because

there was an ongoing one when I was transferred in and we discussed
that with the auditor. They said on a proposal, if it's accepted, once
you make $1 payment, it is considered a contract.

Besides that, most of these 504's, Senator, according to the regula-
tion, they bring in their own people to do the work, and they have
a choice to either to contract method or borrower method.

Senator DOMENICI. I understand. The files clearly reflect whether
they had a contractor or whether they were doing it themselves. I am
only concerned that we can't get these homes repaired. One of the
reasons is, the contractor is telling us he doesn't have a contract
with anyone. Certainly he doesn't have one with Farmers Home, isn't
that correct, at least not an open contract?

There might be some implied commitment, but he doesn't have one
with the owners, unless it's the way you say.

Mr. MAESE. The agreement is done between the owner and the man
doing the work, be he a contractor or otherwise.

Senator DOMENICI. I understand.
Mr. MAESE. We are not part of the contract.
Senator DOMENICI. Wait a minute now. You live up there. You have

seen the kind of people we are trying to help. You saw some right
here today. Don't you think you have a responsibility to help these
people, many of whom can't read English? They don't know about
signing a contract or not signing one.

You are saying that's not your responsibility?
Mr. MAESE. No, sir, I didn't say that. Like I said before, a lot of

these were closed and under construction prior to me being transferred
in.

My instruction has always been in my office and any office I have been
in, to have a preconstruction conference with the owner and the con-
tractor or the men doing the work under the borrower method and
agree on what is going to be done.

When I was transferred into that office, I didn't find any on the
cases I remember. The two cases that came to me and asked if they
could do the work and change it from the contract method to the bor-
rower method, I did revise the development plan and I did have a
preconstruction conference.

Senator DOMENICI. How long have you been in charge of the office?
Mr. MAESE. I was transferred back to Las Vegas in October 1978.
Senator DOMENICI. October 1978?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Are you telling the committee from that time to

this, on all of these 504's, you actually had preconstruction conferences
with Farmers Home personnel, contractor, and owner in attendance?

Mr. MAEsE. I said there was just a few.
Senator DomrEnmci. What happened to the rest of them?
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Mr. MAESE. I don't know, sir. I wasn't there.
Senator DOMENICI. So it would be prior to that, you are saying?
Mr. MAESE. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Glover, what do you do for Farmer's Home?
Mr. GLOVER. I am District Director for the northern district.
Senator DOMENICI. What does that mean?
Mr. GLOVER. I have supervisory capacity over nine county super-

visors, in the northern part of the State and eastern part.
Senator DoMENIcI. In laymen's language, then, in between Mr.

Cloud and field offices such as the one Mr. Maese runs in the county,
you are the next boss up and you have nine such counties; is that
correct?

Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICi. Are these three, San Miguel, Rio Arriba, and

Mora under your supervision?
Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir, that's two county offices involved.
Senator DOMENICI. How long have you been in that job?
Mr. GLOVER. Since November 5,1979.
Senator DoMENICI. Where were you before that?
Mr. GLOVER. Las Cruces.
Senator DOMENICI. What was your job there?
Mr. GLOVER. I was assistant district director.
Senator DOM1ENICI. Are you aware of, or have you received any new

authority, directions, or procedures, designed to tighten up this system
since you have been in charge?

Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. What are they?
Mr. GLOVER. Before I went into the job, I made a trip to northern

Rio Arriba County with the State Director and the housing people,
the county supervisor, a construction analyst, and an O.I.G. auditor
and reviewed the problems that were there.

We discussed at that time that there was a need for tighter develop-
ment plans, more detail on the development plans, and some kind of
drawing to show what work was planned to be done, and that inspec-
tions should be made based on that development plan and those draw-
ings, where anybody that was inspecting it would have enough in the
file to look at the development plan, and any bids that then were
there, and determine what work was to be done.

We also discussed at that time the need for written contracts with
contractors. Subsequently, the audit was completed in Rio Arriba
County. The State Director requested my comments on the audit.

One of my comments, which he passed on to the audit division, was
that we would meet with the construction industries division to deter-
mine their procedures and try to get ours in line with theirs. In the
meeting he spoke of awhile ago, meeting with Mr. Coriz, I was in on
that meeting.

After the meeting we did get out a State instruction which, you all
were saying awhile ago, restated the instruction. It does more than
restate the instruction.

Senator DOMENICI. Tell us.
Mr. GLOVER. Our Farmers Home instruction says that work can be

done by the contract method or by the borrower method. The State in-
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struction that was put out by Mr. Cloud says that work can be done
by the contract method or by the borrower method if the borrower
himself does the work in accordance with what Mr. Coriz told us, the
State of New Mexico required, or there had to be a variance issued by
the Construction Industries Commission prior to any other work being
done in any other manner.

Senator DOMIENICI. That last one seems to me, from the little bit I've
seen, to be totally unnecessary. The only good ones we've seen are where
they did it themselves. Now we are making it more difficult because
we don't want unlicensed people doing the work.

Mr. GLOVER. For myself and, I think, for Farmers Home adminis-
tration, I agree with you. However, when we talked to Mr. Coriz, his
interpretation of the State law is that unless the person, himself, quali-
fied for the homeowner's permit, and could do the work himself, the
homeowner's permit could not be issued.

Mr. Cloud asked Mr. Coriz a question at that meeting of a case
where a grandmother had a grandson that would do the work, could
she do it under a homeowner's permit, and Mr. Coriz's answer was
"No.`

Senator DOMENICI. Well, that won't get better work done from what
I've seen.

Mr. GLOVER. No. sir.
Senator DOMENIcI. Who was running the Las Vegas office before

Mr. Maese went there?
Mr. GLOVER. Joe Gurule.
Senator DOMENICL. 'Where is he now?
Mr. GLOVER. He's in our State office in the farmer program section.
Senator DOMENICI. So if Mr. Maese says he came there and inherited

all this, the person just ahead of him was the gentleman we just re-
ferred to, is that correct?

Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENIci. Has lie been promoted upward? Is that what

happened to him?
Mr. GLOVER. Yes, sir.
Senator DOTUENICI. Did you ask him, Drew, what happened in that

office when he was in charge of terms of inspections and the kinds of
things you are ordering now ?

Mr. CLouD. Yes: I have, sir, and he was moved there, of course, be-
fore I was on board. The orders of the day were to get those loans made
and this is why we have had to come back in and tighten them back up.

Senator DojwENIci. Robert, let me just ask you a couple questions.
Who is Edward Madrid?

Mr. MADRID. He is my brother.
Senator DOMENICI. Is he a contractor of any type?
Mr. MADRID. He's a journeyman electrician.
Senator DOMENICI. So he is not a licensed contractor, but he is an

electrician?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMrENICI. Has he ever done any of the work on any projects

which you've been involved in?
Mr. MADRID. He did one of the jobs for P. & P.
Senator DorENTIcI. Do you remember which one?
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Mr. MADRID. Georgia Ortega.
Senator DOBIENICI. Did he do all the wiring on that home?
Mr. MADRID. I don't think so. I don't remember.
Senator DOmENIcI. We have evidence here. There is a receipt for

$125. Do you know what it is for?
Mr. MADRID. Well-
Senator DomENicI. Is that the bill to do the Ortega work?
Mir. MADRID. I suppose so, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Do you know? If you don't know, you can tell

us you don't know;
Mr. MADRID. I don't. lie dealt with P. & P. on this.
Senator DOMENICI. So if he had an arrangement to do work, it

would have been with P. & P. on that job, is that what you are
saying?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DO-mENICI. There is one more here for some material charged

to P. & P. Would you look at it and just tell us, if you can, what
that's all about?

Mr. MADRID. Yes. sir; P. & P. asked me to pick up some paint. I
picked it up for him.

Senator DOMENICI. So the contractor asked you to get some paint
for him and that's the receipt in front of you?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. You signed for it?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. What did you do with that?
Mr. MADRID. I gave it to P. & P.
Senator DOMENICI. Is that for one of these jobs?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMIENICI. Do you remember which one?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DO1IENICI. Was this something you did regularly for con-

tractors, as an employee of the State and Farmers Home?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. This was an exceptional situation?
Mr. MADRID. I just did it this time. He asked me to do it for him.
Senator DOMtENICI. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator MELCHER. Mr. Madrid, there are a number of questions

regarding your participation in this which we need to have answered.
As I understand from what you told us this morning, you have,

for a number of years, been a housing specialist for the State housing
and rural development authority?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER: Is that about 3 years?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHIER. Would you tell us the nature of and extent of

your training? This morning, I don't recall whether you did or not.
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHIER.. What is it?
Mr. MADRID. I went to training in Rio Arriba County, I don't know

how many months it was, maybe 2.
Senator METLCHER. Two months?
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Mr. MADRID. Yes, and we were taught how to process all housing ap-
plications through the Farmers Home.

Senator MELCIIER. Does that have anything to do with recognizing
building flaws and quality of work?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir. We never got to-I never got to see construc-
tion.

Senator MELCOIER. Have you ever worked on construction or
building?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. So other than training in the paperwork, how

to handle the forms, you weren't trained to recognize whether or not
the construction was done in a proper manner?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. I assume you are still handling home rehabilita-

tion grant for the State housing and rural development authority;
is that correct?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MEI-CHER. You told us this morning, I believe, and correct

me if I am wrong, that your first cousin, is Pete Gallegos. Is that
right ?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Did you tell Mr. Maese at any time that you

were not directly related to Pete Galiegos?°
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCIIER. Did you tell him your wife was a distant rela-

tive of Pete Gallegos?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Is she?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Are you related to Juanita Madrid?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. What is the relationship?
Mr. MADRID. She is my grandmother.
Senator MELCIHIER. Are you related to Jose Flores?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Are you related to Tobias Flores?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCIER. How?
Mr. MADRID. He's my uncle.
Senator MELCHER. Are you related to Maris Galiz?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCREn. Are you related to Modesta Galiz?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir, she is a great-aunt.
Senator MELCHER. Are you related to Aurelia Ortez?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir, she is a great-aunt.
Senator MELCHER. Are you related to Delfinio Pacheco?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Did you arrange grants for all of the above that

I just named?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. How did you arrange those grants?
Mr. MADRID. People applied for the grants and I processed them.
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Senator MELCHER. You processed them?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You were not told, as part of your job, that proc-

essing grants for your relatives had anything wrong with it?
Mr. MADRID. I didn't think there was anything wrong with it, sir.
Senator MELCHLER. You weren't told there was? Nobody has ques-

tioned that?
Mr. MADRID. No.
Senator MELOHER. You weren't warned that it may be improper?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Would anybody else have processed those grants

if you did not?
Mr. MADRID. Excuse me, sir?
Senator MELCHER. Would there be anybody else to process those

grants if you did not?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. There would be?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Have all the elderly that have applied for this

type of assistance been granted assistance and been able to get it?
Mr. MADRID. The majority of them, sir, have.
Senator MELCHER. The majority, but not all?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Did you direct any grants to Pete Gallegos, your

cousin?'
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Why?
Mr. MADRID. People couldn't find contractors and we were pretty

busy at the time, all the contractors were tied up and he asked me-
they would ask me if there were any contractors, and I referred Pete
to go talk to them.

Senator MELCHER. Did you ever tell a grant applicant that the grant
would be likely to be approved if they selected P. & P. Construction
Co.?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You never did that?
Mr. MADRID. No.
Senator MELCHER. Did you just send Pete Gallegos to the home of

some of the recipients without even consulting them?
Mr. MADRID. They asked me if I could send a contractor over and I

have done this with many contractors.
Senator MELCHER. My question wasn't exactly that, Mr. Madrid.

Did you send Pete Gallegos over to the homes of some of the recipients
without even consulting or talking to the recipients about sending
Mr. Gallegos to see them?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You have never done that. all right. Did you

actually make all the inspections, and I think we have 207 that are
credited to you by the Las Vegas Farmers Home Administration
Office?

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
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Senator MELCHER. Have you received any specialized training in-
specting home improvement work? I think you have answered that
previously by saying no, you had not?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCITER. OK.
Mr. MADRID. I've had training in the paper, you know.
Mr. MELCHER. Paperwork, but not actual rehabilitation?
Mr. MADRID. No. sir.
Senator MELCHER. Not the actual work that would be done in

construction?
Mr. MADRID. No, sir. It was on-the-job training.
Senator MELUHER. If la recipient suggests a change in their devel-

opment plan, what needs to be done to revise the work plan?
Mr. MADRID. The development should be revised.
Senator MELOHER. How do you do it? You say you've had on-the-

job training in the construction part, but you were sent to school for the
paperwork. I would assume that paperwork part would include how
you change these job descriptions. Can you tell us how that is done?

Mr. MADRIm. Any new development would have been written up and
initialed by the contractor and the applicant and myself or a Farmers
Home representative.

Senator MELCHER. Either yourself or Farmers Home, not neces-
sarily both, correct?

Mr. MADRID. I would imagine Farmers Home would have to sign.
Senator MELCHER. We seem to have had some problems this morn-

ing finding that, any change in the development plan for the first
home we looked at in the slide presentation, if you recall.

Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Mr. MELCnER. Do you know what the regulations require, to make

a change in the development plan? Are you familiar with those
regulations?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. That wasn't part of the paperwork training?
Mr. MADRID. I was aware if a development had to be changed, it

had to be signed by all parties involved.
Senator MELCIER. When you participated in these changes, did you

make an entry in the case file noting such a change and describing the
change that we made?

Mr. MADRID. No. sir.
Senator MELHER. You iust initialed something?
Mr. MADRID. A proposal was issued on it and the development plan

wasn't changed.
Senator MELCHER. I asked you this morning whether you ever prof-

ited from any of this, and this is a similar question, practically the
same.

Have you ever been offered a kickback from a contractor who
wanted to receive work? Have vou ever been offered anything in the
terms of a kickback or profit to you personally?

Mr. MADRID. No, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Mr. Handy, you said you are not qualified for

rehabilitation work, but you are qualified for inspection on new homes.
Is that what you told me?
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Mr. HANDY. At that time.
Senator MELCHER. At that time.
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator MELCHF.R. This puzzles me. You know construction wellenough, you think, to approve new construction. What amounts ofloans are you talking about there?
Mr. HANDY. On new construction?
Senator MELCHER. Yes.
Mr. HANDY. At that time, they ran $30,000.
Senator MELCOER. You think you can tell good construction if it'snew, but you can't tell good rehabilitation work?
Mr. HANDY. This rehabilitation is not the same type of construction

as new construction. You have adobe, you have railroad ties, a greatdeal of different things involved.
Senator MELCHER. In the case of Mrs. Maestas, which we wentthrough very thoroughly, because it was the first one we dealt withthis morning, P. & P. said they spent $2,500 for materials. What isthere about your qualifications that couldn't verify whether or not

they spent $2,500 for materials?
Mr. HANDY. I don't suppose there is anything.
Senator MELCHER. You can do that, can't you ?
Mr. HANDY. Yes, they could have brought me the receipts.
Senator MELCHER. They did not then?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator MELCHER. And you never requested them?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator MELcHER. What is there about qualifications that has any-thing to do with your lack of qualifications, that you don't demand tosee what the materials are?
'Mr. HANDY. Nothing.
Senator MELCHER. 1 think that's a copout, to say you are unquali-fied. I don't know if that is some sort of a defense for you or not.I don't know how you can give those checks without knowing whatyou are signing for.
There is no Farmers Home Administration program I am aware ofthat when any of their employees signs a check, they aren't liable andresponsible for the expenditure of that fund being proper, according

to your own regulations.
Are you going to tell me, you are going to testify to me that youare not qualified to properly sign those checks? Is that the extent ofyour testimony?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator MiLcHER. You were qualified to make that judgment, wereyou not?
Mr. HANDY. Well, like I said, I didn't know how to look at a rehabhouse and know exactly whether it was done right or how muchmoney should have been spent on it. I could have verified all thereceipts, that's right, but I couldn't verify the labor.
Senator MELcHER. I am letting you off the hook on the labor, butI let P. & P. off the hook on the labor. I didn't even ask them whatthey charged. They volunteered that half of it was materials, soobviously the other half is labor.
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Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, the regulations require docu-
mentation on labor.

Senator MELCHER. I am sure they do, but I am sure that Mr. Handy
is a qualified person for Farmers Home Administration to look at
the receipts for materials and to look to see where those materials are
placed.

Mr. Cloud?
Mr. CLOUD. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. You say you don't want to change personnel,

that you are instructed not to change personnel. There is something
about firing somebody until they are proven guilty. But there are
also changes in personnel that have to do with the responsibility you
can't avoid, on whether or not anybody that is signing one of these
checks, in this instance for these 504 programs, whether or not they
know what they are signing for.

You are not going to tell me that despite what any sort of onhigh,
generalized recommendation to you is about personnel, that changes
your responsibility to make sure that anybody that signs one of these
checks knows exactly what they are signing for.

Mr. CLOUD. Senator, I just heard this today, myself, and the counter-
signature is on there to see the money is spent for the purposes it was
intended. That's why we countersign.

Senator MELCHER. I would be more comfortable, Mr. Cloud. if you
would drop this stuff about not having personnel changes and get right
to the point of how you are going to make sure that when those checks
are countersigned. that they are for the proper purpose. How are you
going to do that?

Mr. CLOUD. We have tightened it up. This is what our District
Director-

Senator MELCHER. If you only heard about it today, at this hear-
ing, how could it have gone on this long? You've got all this auditing
stuff. You've got the Inspector General, the Office of the Inspector
General, running around for months. You had newspaper stories.
You've got knowledge this committee met, and that was in executive
session on June 30, to review the memo we got on this whole episode.

You are aware that we, very politely I would say, and very nicely,
very considerately, asked Farmers Home Administration after that
meeting in a letter signed by the ranking member, Senator Domenici
of the committee and the chairman, Senator Chiles of this committee,
asking them to look into this, and that was the tail end of last June.

You are just going to tell us that you are only aware now that under
the process of 504, which follows the same type of process as other
Farmers Home Administration programs, that your employees are
responsible for countersigning those checks with the recipient, the
grantee

Mr. CLOUD. I-
Senator MELCHER. I am not comfortable with your response.
Mr. CLOUD. I have two questions here. When this was called to my

attention in 1979, I said at that point that we had to have receipts
and those receipts had to be checked. But on Mrs. Maestas, today is
the first time I was aware of it.

Senator MELCnER. All right, I'm glad to clarify that point. Just on
her.
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Mr. CLOUD. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. That still doesn't make me too comfortable, be-

cause I am not sure you are doing much about this.
Mr. CLOUD. We have tightened it up and Senator Domenici men-

tioned that we also had to account for labor. We weren't doing that
then and we are doing that now. We are tightening it up both ways.

Senator MELCHER. All right, that's all I'm going to ask.
Senator Domenici.
Senator DOMENICI. Would you give John Handy those documents.
This morning we heard from Mrs. Ortega about this $5,000 check.

Will you look at it there, please?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. When was that check signed?
Mr. HANDY. February 23.
Senator DomENIcI. Were you present when it was signed by Mrs.

Ortega?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. She said you took her to the bank and had her

sign it?
Mr. HANDY. She did not say that. I didn't take her to the bank.
Senator DOMENICI. No, excuse me. She said she went to the bank

with a secretary. Were you there at the bank?
Mr. HANDY. No.
Senator DOMENICI. I thought you just said you were present when

she signed it.
Mr. HANDY. I thought she signed it at her house or in the office.

I am not sure. I don't remember going to the bank and watching her
sign it.

Senator DOMENICI. In any event, it seemed that she was saying to
this committee that it was on your suggestion, your request, that she
sign the check.

Mr. HANDY. Yes; the work was done on that day, 100 percent
completed.

Senator DOMENICI. So you are saying that in this case there were
no advances given to this contractor?

Mr. HANDY. That's what I am saying.
Senator DOMrENIcI. He did all the work and then you gave him the

full $5,000?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. That wasn't very customary, was it?
Mr. HANDY. What?
Senator DOMENICI. That you pay it all at once? They drew down

on their jobs, didn't they?
Mr. HANDY. What happened in this case, I believe the loan was

approved on January 31, is that correct?
Senator DOmjENICT. That is what seems to be in the record.
Mr. HANDY. Shortly thereafter we knew what day that check was

going to arrive, so P. & P. started construction somewhere before the
14th of Februarv. on the strength of knowing that check was going to
be there on the 22d or whenever it was.

Senator DoMTENICT. The 22d of what?
Mr. HANDY. February, or whenever this check was deposited. By the

time that check was deposited the work was finished, according to
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the development plan. You mentioned I had two inspection reports

in there.
Senator DOMENICI. And you saw the house?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOIENICI. She mentioned also there was a $2,000 check

you signed?
Mr. HANDY. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. What was that about? What was it for?

Mr. HANDY. I have no idea.
Senator DoMvENmcI. You are saying you didn't have anything to do

with her signing that check?
Mr. HANDY. I didn't have any authority to sign any checks except

for this Farmers Home.
Senator D031ENICI. You didn't countersign it, the $2,000.check?
Mr. HANDY. I sure don't remember it. I didn't have any authority

to, so why should I sign it?
Senator DoMrENIci. Bob, do you know anything about it?

Mr. MADRID. I can't remember that, Senator.
Senator DoEENIcI. Do we have it here?
Were you working with the State housing authority at that time?
Mr. MADRID. Yes.
Senator DOMENIcI. Did you handle a block grant of moneys they

were putting into homes?
Mr. MADRID. It was CSA money.
Senator DOMENICI. Through the State housing?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. If that is what the $2,000 was, were you in charge

of that?
Mr. MADRID. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. Would you have inspected the home for that, or

would he have inspected the home for that?
Mr. MADRID. On occasions, I would inspect for Farmers Home on

CSA grants and inspect those. Farmers Home personnel were allowed

to inspect those.
Senator DOMENICI. I have nothing further, Mr. Chairman.

Senator MELCHER. Thank you all very much for your participation

in this hearing. You are excused.
Ernest Coriz, director of Construction Industries Division, Depart-

ment of Commerce and Industry. Sante Fe, State of New Mexico.

Mr. Coriz, will you raise your right hand.
Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give is

the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

Mr. CoRIz. I do.
Senator DOMIENICT. Mr. Coriz, do you have a prepared statement?

Mr. CoRIZ. No, sir.
Senator DOmEN-ICI. You just received a general subpena to appear.

I have some general questions.
Would vou tell us your title, and very briefly what is the authority

and jurisdiction of the agency or commission you are in charge of for

New Mexico?
Mr. CoRIz. My name is Ernest Coriz. I work for the Commerce and

Industry Department. I am the division director of the Construc-

tion Industries Division.
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The Construction Industries Division in the State of New Mexico
licensed approximately 13,000 contractors, 31,000 licensed specialty
areas. We are charged, under the Construction Industries License Act
to promote the general welfare of the people of New Mexico by pro-
viding for the protection of the lives, property, economic well-being
against substandard or hazardous construction, alteration, installa-
tion, connection, demolition, or repair work, and providing protection
against physical irresponsibility of persons engaged in construction
occupations or trades. We do that by licensing, examination, and in-
spection.

Senator DOMENICI. Can you clarify for us, under New Mexico law,
when building permits are required for construction work in this
State?

Mr. CoRiz. Yes, sir.
Mr. Chairman, uider the State of New Mexico, Construction In-

dustries Division, rules and regulations, in the area of general con-
struction and the area of mechanical construction, our rules and regu-
lations read:

Section 201 of the code requires that any person, desiring to construct, alter,
repair, or demolition of any building which causes same to be done shall first
obtain permit, except for the listed limitations. Exceptions, those being $500 and
under.

In the area-
Senator DOMENIcI. Let's make sure we have that down pat.
This means all of the 504 grants for $5,000 for rehabilitation of

homes require a building permit under State law?
Mr. CORIZ. That is correct.
Senator DOMENICI. Now, is the permit process the only way a State

inspector would have of knowing what there is to inspect?
Mr. CoRiz. In the permit application there are a number of docu-

ments that accompany this permit application.
One is a drawing or a description of the work. The permit is based

upon the compliance of the uniform building codes, mechanical codes,
electrical codes, rules and regulations. An individual who applies for
a permit cannot receive a permit unless he specifies the type of work,
and what the work to be done is, so we can check for compliance.

The obligation of obtaining a permit lies upon the general con-
tractor of the job. We place full responsibility on that individual. The
general contractor has complete obligation for the complete job. He
also supervises any subcontractor which could be, in this case, mechan-
ical or electrical, but the general contractor has that obligation under
our laws and rules and regulations.

Senator DOMENICI. If that's the case, I assume the State of New
Mexico follows up with appropriate inspections, as required under the
law, when a permit is issued. Is that not correct?

Mr. CoRIz. That is correct. I would like to explain that.
Just because a permit is issued, we have many people who take out

permits that take 11/2 years to maybe construct something, because
they do it at their pace. Under the uniform building code that obli-
gation of inspections, that obligation of requiring inspections. falls
upon the general contractor or the person performing the work. There
are certain phases in the construction end that calls for inspections.
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Footing inspections when concrete is being poured so they, in turn,
have to notify us that they are ready to pour concrete so we are there.
That obligation falls upon the contractor.

Senator DONvIENICI. Your inspectors don't have any problem, to your
knowledge, of knowing how to inspect rehabilitation, do they?

Mr. CoRiz. No, sir.
Senator DO-IENICI. If they inspect some of these homes we have

seen, and they don t meet specifications, what would they do?
Mr. CORIZ. Well, our inspectors couldn't-under the bid procedures,

if you look at some of those documents and what was said this morn-
ing, the specifications of the job called for replace a roof, fix a bath-
room. Well, my inspectors are not mindreaders. Are we talking about
a new sink, an old sink, lavatory, urinal, what type of tile, size of
the door, these are the things that go in the application for a permit,
the specifications. It becomes very difficult for these individuals, for
my inspectors to make those inspections, because we don't know
whether we are talking about a 3-foot-wide door, 2-foot-6-inch hol-
low core, solid core. So from the inspection standpoint it becomes
very difficult, because in the process there are no specifications, there
are no drawings as to what has to be done. Everything is very difficult.

Senator IDOMENICI. But what about some of the things you have
heard?

Mr. CORIZ. If it was outright code violations, yes, we can pick
those up.

Senator DOMENICI. You can pick those up?
Mr. CORIZ. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. SO that to the extent those kinds of things were

in existence, and full payment made, and, as .a matter of fact, if in-
spectors from your office would have checked them out, there would
have been an opportunity for Farmers Home to have actual knowl-
edge they didn't meet code, or were unsafe, or didn't meet minimum
standards?

Mr. CoRIz. If it didn't meet the standards we would have red
tagged it, as shown on one of the slides there. There was a tag on an
electrical box or meter that didn't meet the minimum national elec-
trical code and our inspectors would tag those and notify the con-
tractor not to proceed unless those corrections were made.

Senator DOIXENici. Now, if they have to get a permit for work of
$500 or more, under law, the permit would indicate the kinds of things
that you would have to inspect, would it not?

Mr. CORIz. The permit refers basically to about four documents.
the national electrical code, the national plumbing code, the uniform
building code, and the compliance with those codes in general. It
doesn't have specific items that have to be checked. Our inspectors
know what those items are.

Senator DOMENICI. How long have you been in this job?
Mr. CORIZ. Approximately 13 months.
Senator DOMENICI. Have you found a number of licensed con-

tractors to be unqualified?
Mr. CORIZ. Yes, sir. In the review of our records, within the State

of New Mexico, over the past 10 years, the prior administration prob-
ably revoked in the neighborhood of 10 licenses because of incom-
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petency, physical responsibility, or deviations from codes and what
not. The last year we have probably revoked about 70 licenses, andsuspended maybe 60 licenses for noncompliance or deviation from
codes.

Senator DOMENICI. Do you have sufficient inspectors for this job?
Mr. CORIZ. No, sir.
Senator DoMENICI. Is that improving or not?
Mr. CoRiz. We are trying to get additional inspectors and some new

innovative programs that -would allow our inspectors to perform mostinspections. As it stands now we have general construction in-spectors that just handle general construction. We have electrical in-
spectors that handle electrical. Mechanical inspectors, mechanical.
Liquid petroleum gas inspectors, liquid petroleum gas. So what we aredoing is trying to cross-train our inspectors to have mechanical check
electrical, through proper training and examination and give us moreinspectors. We have difficulty in staffing inspectors.

Senator DOMENICI. The audits and the investigations the committee
has conducted continues to turn up additional homes where shoddy
work has been done. Would it be possible for you to compile a master
list of homes that have been rehabilitated by this program, in the Stateand, then, visit them over the next few months?

Mr. CORIZ. We would have no problem. As I understand it, most ofthese are in rural areas, outside the cities. We have, by joint powers
agreement in the State of New Mexico, certain cities that perform therural inspections by joint powers agreement with the State of New
Mexico. If any of those locations fell within those communities, cities,or counties, by this joint powers agreement we could go in or have
someone go in and, yes, inspect those units.

Senator DOMENICI. I wonder, Mr. Chairman, if the committee would
want to discuss whether we want to officially request that this be done.
I know one of your concerns is what are we going to do, if anything,
to correct the situation. Not only in the future, as you have indicated
in your questions, but also find some way to correct these past deficien-
cies. Perhaps we ought to defer this and determine what the committee
thinks about how this might be done.

Senator MELCHER. I think we ought to consider it, because it might
be very constructive to form, and beneficial to the people that havereceived the grants, the 504 grants. I am personally sympathetic tothat suggestion.

Mr. CoRiz. Mr. Chairman, I have a letter here that is dated
March 24, 1980, in which I wrote to Drew Cloud concerning a meet-ing we had, in setting up a system by which we could begin to look
at some of these programs. Mr. Cloud came to my office, and members
of his staff, and we were concerned with the quality of construction.
The fact that, in many cases, unqualified contractors, unlicensed con-tractors, were performing work that could be considered hazardous
to the occupant of that dwelling. We had an indepth conversation.
I supplied that office with the rules and regulations, statutes, a listof our inspectors, the requirements of the law, and the use of con-tractors, subcontractors, and a program by which homeowners could
do limited work on their dwellings by a system that we employ in the
State of New Mexico. These are some of the documents that I supplied
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the Farmers Home Administration in the hopes that we could begin
to look at the problem of faulty construction.

I feel that we have a program that didn't get this way overnight
and the solutions to the program will not be solved overnight. There
are many areas that we are aware of where help is required, training
is required, and money is required. In many cases, the Federal Gov-
ernment actually causes a lot of the problems. The weatherization
program, the insulation program, they set up good programs, but the
administration, the funding, the qualification, and the educational
process of the people that administer the program are not there. They
are no different from the State. I have looked at the State's program.
I am an engineer, I have spent 15 years working for the fourth largest
corporation in the world. I feel I am qualified and I understand con-
struction. Construction is no different in New Mexico than it is in
South Carolina or Montana. I have worked in Billings, Butte, I have
worked under the labor programs there at Anaconda. I think I have
a feel for it, but the Federal Government can assist us, not by just
providing money, but there are a lot of programs where qualified peo-
ple need to be hired. Now, you've got to have some programs that
need to go further than funding. You look at the weatherization pro-
gram. The Department of Energy is beginning to install energy con-
servation flues in chimneys. Who is qualified? How do we get the
people to make those installations properly and safely? Who will
inspect them? The dual programs that that program provides, I look
at the State of New Mexico, we have a system to handle it, yet, because
of bureaucracy, we create another inspection force. Why isn't that
money given to us to train our people who already have that
capability.

These are some of the things and we can go on and on. There are
programs, and I think assistance that the Federal and the State gov-
ernment can give some of these agencies.

Senator DOMIENICI. I guess it goes without saying that you will agree
the inspectors on rehabilitation programs for Farmers Home ought to
have the basic capacity to understand the questions that Senator
Melcher is asking today.

Mr. CoRIz. There isn't one qualified employee in Farmers Home
Administration to inspect construction. The law says that every in-
spector in the State of New Mexico must be certified by my agency.
I may be wrong. Farmers Home, HUD, Bureau of Indian Affairs, and
all those Federal programs that operate in the State of New Mexico. do
not have certified inspectors. Under the laws of New Mexico and -the
rights of our State, the Federal Government has circumvented those
laws by FHA. HUD inspectors. BIA inspectors that may not be
qualified.

Through funding, just through funding.
Senator DOMENIC1. I have no further questions.
Senator MELCHER. Do you know a former State building inspector

named Sam England?
Mr. CORTZ. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Apparently he isn't a building inspector any more.

Is there some reason for that?
Mr. CORIZ. Mr. England was an electrical inspector. He was em-

ployed prior to my taking over the division. After I took over the
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division he became a multiple inspector. He was a qualified, this is the
program I was talking about, he was an electrical inspector, and I
promotedhim to a multiple inspection program.

He became a mechanical inspector and an electrical inspector. Be-
cause of this tri-inspection ability he was transferred to an area, the
surrounding area of Taos. After about 4 months on that assignment
he came to me and told me that he just was not capable of performing
the duties and he would like to resign. We accepted his resignation. He
seemed to be a very intelligent individual, in the area of inspection.
Electrical, mainly. He passed the examination for mechanical and gen-
eral construction.

He resigned; he was not asked to resign, but he submitted his
resignation.

Senator MELCHER. He was helpful to the committee investigator and
indicated that someone in your division sent down instructions that
he was to cease inspecting home rehabilitation projects submitted by
Farmers Home Administration, State housing authority, and so forth.
Do you know what actually happened and who in your division was
responsible for this order?

Mr. CORIZ. I think, Mr. Chairman, the problem arose that there
could have been some personal difference of opinion concerning him
and a contractor. They were racial-oriented. The fact that the indi-
vidual was a Mexican-American. Charges were made against my in-
spector that he could have been somewhat prejudiced. There were
some bad feelings between a contractor and an individual.

To my knowledge, I know of no one who gave him those instruc-
tions-they didn't come from me.

Senator MELCHER. Do you think it came from a contractor?
Mr. CORIZ. I think, the accusations that I investigated, they were

both ways, from the contractor to the inspector, to the inspector, to
the contractor. We looked at it, and that was probably one of the
reasons why we assigned him to the area north. He ran the area
around Espanola and because of his multiple special capability we
moved him to Taos, N. Mex.

We don't tolerate any contractor making threats against our in-
spectors or contractors. As a matter of fact, one of the findings on a
contractor, we suspended his license because he bodily threw one of
our inspectors off the jobsite. We took it to hearings, we suspended
his license for 30 to 45 days because of that action and we don't toler-
ate that.

Senator MELCHER. Mr. Baca says he uses his brother's license. Is
there anything wrong with that?

Mr. CORIZ. The specific rules and regulations do not require that.
We intend to, I have notes here. and I intend to look into that. It is
against our rules and regulations, the statutes of the State of New
Mexico and I can quote directly, "A license is neither assignable or
transferable or mav be legally used by any entity to whom it is
issued." That's a direct violation of the rules and regulations of the
Construction Industries Licensing Act.

Senator DoMrENICT. Mr. Chairman, I don't think we made the Con-
struction Industries Division letter of March 24,1980, from Mr. Coriz,
a part of our record.
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Senator MELcirIm. We will make it a part of the record, right at
this point.'

Mr. CORIZ. I would like to add a few other documents to the record.
I have some documents here that are bid documents that are being

sent out to contractors to perform bids. I would like to just read one
of them.

It says, "Contractor to provide and install all materials to construct
a new ceiling, living room,"-these are just some of the examples
that I quoted, about writing specifications and requiring, it says,
"plaster with consistent lathing wire mesh or scratch, one round coat
and one other coat." Specifications in the building code calls for three
coats on. So there are outright violations in the bid process that are
in violation of the uniform building code. These were picked up in
Espanola yesterday.

Dr. LA VOR. What are they under, HUD?
Mr. Cowiz. Yes; that's a HUI) program, but I am sure if you look

through the documents-not only, when I speak about these Federal
agencies, I am speaking not only toward Farmers Home, but HUD,
the Bureau of Indian Affairs, they are no different. I think there is
a tremendous amount of help that needs to be done in these areas.

Senator MELcHEr. These are under the HUD program?
Mr. CoRIz. That is my understanding, yes, sir.
Senator DOINIENICI. Wel] , the point you are making. then. is the Fed-

eral Government is letting bids that are not in compliance.
Mr. CORIZ. That don't comply originally.
Senator DOINIENICI. So that even if somebody does all of that-
Mr. CORIZ. It could be in violation.
Senator DO~rENICI. Could be red tagged?
Mr. CORIZ. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Well, we want to make this a part of the record,

along with your testimony, Mr. Coriz. The 504 program, the regula-
tions for Farmers Home does require very specific procedures for the
bids and the descriptions. We are not so sure that is being done. It
doesn't seem like it, from some of the work we have reviewed, but
nevertheless we are going to make them a part of the record with the
understanding that they are probably referring to some HUD work.

Mr. CORIZ. Yes, sir.
Senator DO31ENIcI. Thank you very much, Mr. Coriz.
Mr. CoRiz. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator MELCHER. Noe Lara. Ile's been delayed?
Senator DOMENICI. He is en route.
Senator MELGHER. Mr. Morley. will you briefly compare what you

found in a similar program in Pennsylvania and Florida, as compared
to here in New Mexico?

Mr. MORLEY. Yes, sir.
Senator Doi3IENIcI. I think he should tell us, for the record, who he

is.
Senator MELCHER. Yes; would you do that, please?
We have sworn in every other witness so we will swear you in too,

Mr. Morley.

I Retained in committee files.
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Senator MELCHER. Would you raise your right hand, Mr. Morley.
Do you solemnly swear the testimony you are about to give the com-

mittee is the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God?
Mr. MoRLEY. I do.

STATEMENT OF CHARLES H. MORLEY, WASHINGTON, D.C., CHIEF
INVESTIGATOR, SENATE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING

Mr. MORLEY. My name is Chuck Morley. I am an investigator with
the Senate Special Committee on Aging.

At the committee's request, several weeks ago, I very briefly visited
two counties in Florida and two counties in Pennsylvania, for the pur-
pose of reviewing their Farmers Home section 504 program. My review
consisted of brief but I felt convincing steps. I interviewed the county
supervisors in the counties I visited. I reviewed the Farmers Home
files for compliance with the Farmers Home instructions. I physically
inspected, I believe, 20 houses.

What I found in all four counties that I visited was that the county
supervisors were very aggressively pursuing the 504 program. In all
four counties they had, I won't say an adequate staff, but a staff that
seemed to be very thoroughly familiar with the 504 program. I think
they were understaffed, that's what they told me, for the amount of
program they had.

The files were very thick. Any given file I looked at compared radi-
cally to the files we have seen in New Mexico. As a general rule, I think
I can say the files had all the required documentation under the instruc-
tions, which is to say they had signed contracts, they had warranties,
they had releases of liens, they had notifications to the applicants that
the warranty periods were going to expire at the end of the year after
the warranty period. They had all the required notes to be made by the
Farmers Home employees. They had voluminous receipts and bills
given by the contractors to Farmers Home, in order to get paid. They
had statements of labor performed, as required by the instructions.
They had very detailed estimates provided by the contractors that even
went down to the details as to what type of lumber would be used in the
construction, what grade of paint would be used, what grade of
shingles, and what poundage they would be, et cetera.

Senator DOMENICI. Could I interrupt and ask a question? I really
think I should have asked it throughout the day because it is very
important.

As a matter of fact, without release of liens these houses could be
built, reconstructed and remodeled, checks signed, contractor paid, and
if the supplier wasn't paid, the lumberman wasn't paid, a subcontractor
wasn't paid, they could come along and put a lien on the homeowner,
who would be responsible.

Mr. MORLEY. Absolutely.
Without a release of the material lien, the lumber company could

file a lien against the house.
Senator DOMENicI. That would have been an easy way to get a

double bill?
Mr. MORLEY. Oh, certainly.
Senator DOMENICI. So you must have found bills for materials in

those files from the other States?
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Mr. MORLEY. Yes; I did. As I say, many of them. The files that I
reviewed averaged half an inch to an inch thick. They were quite thick,
any given file.

The workmanship on the houses was, in general, very good to excel-
lent. They had several different programs, and maybe I should briefly
discuss them, in both States that I visited.

We have been talking here about piggybacking and using other pro-
grams' funds. In Florida, the two counties that I visited made use of a
tricounty redevelopment association. It was county funded, I believe
through State and Federal funds. One county had a county employee
detailed to Farmers Home, much like Mr. Madrid was. That county
employee, who was paid by the county, under county supervision,
had been given the primary responsibility for all 504 programs in that
county in Florida. The county supervisor, however, was very familiar
with that employee's work, went with him to the inspections until he
was certain that he was doing a qualified job and, in general, monitored
his activities very closely.

That county employee, in my opinion, did a tremendous job in that
program and they are certainly in hopes that they can keep that county
employee attached to Farmers Home. He did all the packaging. He
helped the people obtain the contracts. He helped them with filling
out the applications. He inspected their jobsites frequently. He insured
that the county inspections-in Florida, they have county inspections-
were all done before any checks were issued, and also insured that the
applicants were very happy with the program.

In Florida, I believe I visited 12 homes. I interviewed 10 of the 12
people, simply because two people weren't home when I was there.
They were all extremely delighted with the program. In essence, they
couldn't say enough good about it. They were very happy with the
Farmers Home employees. They were very happy with their homes.
Many of them had never had inside plumbing of any sort. They now
have inside plumbing. Some of them had never had electricity. They
now have electricity. Some of their homes had no inside walls, virtually
no roofs, and the wind would blow through. Now they have roofs, very
excellent roofs. They not only have inside walls, they have new outside
walls. In essence, the workmanship and the quality of the product
provided to the people I saw in Florida and Pennsylvania was out-
standing. They were very enthusiastic about the program.

Senator DoNEENICI. You spent 3 days here, didn't you?
Mr. MORLEY. Yes, sir, I think it was in the very first part of

September that I came here, that I saw four houses here. personally.
Not just the slides, I visited the homes. There is a radical contrast.

I have exhibit files here and I took a substantial number of photo-
graphs in Florida, unfortunately they are not slides. I did not take
as many in Pennsylvania, mainly because of the camera that I had
and the fact that it was pouring down rain. You can see from these
files that the workmanship is just tremendous.

I would like to mention another thing that they did in Florida, the
tricounty development authority that thley worked with supplied
CETA labor to work on houses. So that Farmers Home would give
$5.000 to the applicant and that $5,000 would go further than
$5,000 that you had to give to a contractor, for instance, because there
was no labor involved, there was no overhead involved.

79-347 0 - 81 - 7
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I saw homes that were literally rebuilt for $5,000. If I can just take
a second, what I am talking about is new roof, new outside walls, new
inside walls, new floors inside, new ceilings inside, new electrical, new
plumbing, new septic, all for $5,000. It was all required, because I
saw some before pictures of these houses and they were in terrible
shape and they were virtually rebuilt. To me that is an example of
what Farmers Home can really do for this program.

Another thing they did in all four counties that I visited was to make
use of part-time CETA workers and part-time green thumb workers
to assist in the office. This lightened the workload so that the pro-
fessionals in Farmers Home could apply their time to professional
work rather than to the clerical work.

Senator DoNrENIcI. So, in a nutshell, you are telling us that in the
two States you visited at the request of the committee, you saw pro-
grams handled much differently, and the finished product was far
superior to what you found here ?

Mr. MORLEY. That is correct, yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Chairman, I understand our next witness

has not yet arrived. Perhaps, if it is the pleasure of the Chair, we
could recess for a few minutes. I don't think we will take very long,
once he has arrived. He had a meeting in Albuquerque and that
accounts for his delay.

Senator MELCHER. I think your testimony, Chuck, is helpful for this
hearing record. I want to express my appreciation for that.

We will stand in recess for 15 minutes.
[There followed a short recess.]
Senator MELCHER. The committee will come to order.
Our last scheduled witness today is Noe Lara, director, State Hous-

ing and Rural Development Authority, State of New Mexico.
Mr. Lara, will you stand and raise your right hand?
Do you solemnly swear the testimony you are about to give this

committee will be the truth, the whole truth. and nothing but the
truth, so help you God?

Mr. LARA. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Thank you. Please proceed.

STATEMENT OF NOE LARA, SANTA FE, N. MEX., DIRECTOR, NEW
MEXICO STATE HOUSING AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT AU-
THORITY

Mr. LARA. My name is Noe Lara. and I have been the director of the
State housing and rural development authority since January 1979.
Since that time, with limited staff and resources, we have made every
effort to expand the activities of the authority in order to respond to
the responsibilities assigned to us by both legislation and administra-
tion mandate.

General legislation and administrative policy mandate the State
housing authority to develop and administer programs to increase
housing opportunities, especially in rural areas and among citizens
with low and moderate incomes. Priority efforts are directed to pro-
viding assistance in meeting the most pressing housing needs of the
elderly, the handicapped, minorities, and farmworkers of the State,
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and to assist the native American population with its efforts to secure
decent housing.

Specifically, the State housing authority is mandated to carry out
the following:

A-Coordinate and mobilize training and technical assistance.
B-Be responsible for data collection, planning, and research.
C-Carry out housing promotion activities and public information

discrimination.
D-Administer Federal and other funds which are received, con-

trolled, and disbursed.
The State housing authority was renamed the State housing and

rural development authority and was charged with the additional task
of coordinating the activities of the Governor's Rural Development
Council and the advisory board to the council. The council was asked
to develop and recommend to the Governor a State rural development
policy, and an investment strategy to implement the policy.

The State housing and rural development authority's overall goal
is to leverage State and Federal funds to the maximum extent pos-
sible to effect rural development while preserving our natural
resources.

The State housing and rural development authority is technically
under the State planning division of the department of finance and
administration. Among our many responsibilities the State housing
and rural development authority has experience in administering two
home repair grant programs in northern New Mexico counties. One
program, which was State funded, provided grant moneys of up to
$5,000 to elderly citizens. I-Ae defined elderly as 65 years and older.
The $200,000 appropriation provided 61 grants to the citizens of Santa
Fe, Taos, and Rio Arriba Counties. To qualify for State grants we used
Farmers Home eligibility criteria, except that the State defined elderly
as 65, rather than 62. The program was administered by State paid
staff, some which were assigned to the Farmers Home county office.

The State housing and rural development authority also adminis-
tered a home repair program funded through a grant from the Com-
munity Services Administration. The $200,000 grant provided
approximately 70 grants to families who fell within CSA income
guidelines and who resided in Taos, Rio Arriba, San Miguel, Santa
Fe and Mora Counties.

Eligible dockets were rated on a needs priority basis for, first of all,
elderly low income; second, handicapped; third, low-income needs
and we had to state under that, safety hazards, new plumbing facili-
ties, and weatherization.

A draft study on housing needs by our office found a minimum need
of $462 million of public housing assistance for low-income families
alone. In contrast to this, the Farmers Home, the primary source of
funding for these types of programs, if current funding levels con-
tinue, will invest a total of $400 million during the same time period
for all of its programs. Our data indicate the greatest need to be
among low-income families in rural areas.

Furthermore, another study we have undertaken, showed that the
need for just bathroom and plumbing facilities among rural families
alone would cost a minimum of $23,384,000. As these needs show, the
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rural areas of New Mexico have specific and sometimes unique prob-
lems which can be addressed by State and Federal agencies.

We have applied and expect to receive a grant from CSA to assist
with the rehabilitation of about 70 homes of low-income families.
Because we are a State agency with statewide responsibilities we have
been requested and intend to use these funds to leverage additional
moneys for needy families. Additionally, we think the specific involve-
ment of the State housing and rural development authority personnel
in this program is appropriate because it provides opportunities to
become directly involved with the people. It also provides a perspec-
tive which immediately informs our other responsibilities.

We have established specific procedures and guidelines for the dis-
bursement of funds. These procedures include careful selection of
appropriate recipients; careful monitoring of expenditures; and care-
ful inspection of work, both in progress and completed.

Since we learned of the investigation, my office has been pleased to
cooperate with Senator Domenici's office and the Senate Special Com-
mittee on Aging staff in any way requested.

I appreciate the opportunity to be able to briefly explain to you
our programs and responsibilities.

I will now, and at any time in the future, be glad to answer any
questions that you might have.

Senator MELCHER. Can you explain to me, are you getting any State
funds, right now, for the program?

Mr. LARA. There are no State funds for the program now, sir.
Senator MELCHER. So whatever funds you are using is from Com-

munity Services Administration?
Mr. LARA. That is correct.
Senator MELCHER. The State program is getting Federal funds,

almost entirely or entirely?
Mr. LARA. For this particular program, as I mentioned, Senator,

we do a lot of other activities, other than administer home repair
programs. We are funded bv the State for staff. We did have a
$200,000 CSA grant, federally'funded, which we don't have any money
in that program any more. As I mentioned in my statement, we have
applied to CSA, we have received approval, but have not had any
money disbursed today.

Senator MELCHER. As of yet?
Mr. LARA. As of yet.
Senator MELCHER. But you received approval and that will be for

up to 70 homes?
Mr. LARA. That is correct, sir.
Senator MELCHER. We received testimony today that makes it

clearer. In a few cases your program is used to correct or redo shoddy
work done under the 504 program. How do you account for this? Is
that what you view the CSA funds for and, for that matter, the State
funds?

Mr. LARA. No, sir, that is not an accurate statement. We leveraged
our funds with both Farmers Home Administration moneys and,
again, the statement was made and we are encouraged by the Federal
Government to leverage funds, because we have found that many of
these homes, it takes a lot more than $3,500 to repair. We feel like



89

we are working together with the Federal Government, whether they
were community development block grant program, whether it was
the Farmers Home County, Farmers Home Office, we are able to assist
the families much better.

Senator MELCHER. When you say leverage, do you mean add on to the
$5,000 grant for 504?

Mr. LARA. We use them in combination, sir.
Senator MELCHER. All right. In other words, instead of a $5,000

grant from Farmers Home you would have what, $2,000 additional
State ?

Mr. LARA. It could be $2,000 up to $3,500.
Senator MELCHER. CSA funds?
Mr. LARA. Yes, sir.
Senator MELCHER. How do you supervise your housing inspectors,

such as Mr. Madrid?
Mr. LARA. I can tell you how we supervised him before, and the situa-

tion as it is now, Senator.
First of all, we were under an agreement with the Farmers Home

Administration, under the gratuitous provision, to provide staff-
maybe I should go into that a little bit more.

The State started a program which we called the assistant loan proc-
essors program. It was funded by CETA and it was a pilot program.
It was pretty successful to the point where the legislature appropriated
moneys to farm field people, to be assigned to the Farmers Home Office
to help out. For many years we have had moneys into the Farmers
Home, but we have never had them out in the field because Farmers
Home, Congress, has never appropriated enough money for their staff.
We felt like this was an area where the State and the Federal Govern-
ment should cooperate and get us the needed money out in the field.

At that particular time the assistant loan processor was supervised
by the county supervisor.

Presently, and because of the mood, I guess, of our legislature, the
program was defunded, except in two particular counties and that
was in Taos and in San Miguel Counties.

We found, because of the greater need for the Farmers Home pro-
gram, that pretty soon all the grant moneys were gone from Farmers
Home and our staff was there trying to administer some of our pro-
grams. We really were taking up space at Farmers Home so we elected
to remove us from the office. We were not getting any more Farmers
Home activity because the money had already been spent. So we moved
from that office to another place.

Senator MELCHER. It appears though that Mr. Madrid had a pretty
free hand in the sense of dispensing State Housing Authority grants.

Mr. LARA. No, sir, he did not.
Senator MELCHER. How did you supervise that then?
Mr. LARA. The CSA grant-let me just maybe go through the proc-

ess. I am sure that he has done it, but let me do it one more time.
The process that we have is, No. 1, we have particular counties that

we work in. We advertise, word of mouth, the CAP agencies, et cetera,
tell the people that we do have a grant program through the Farmers
Home Office. They tell them there is another resource other than Farm-
ers Home. Then applications are taken, and again the criteria was that
they had to be within CSA income guidelines.
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Those same families are brought to what we call a policy advisory
committee, composed of people from each of the counties that are being
serviced. The policy advisory committee, then, reviews these applica-
tions and then votes on whether they are going to approve the grants
or not, if money is available. At that time we go through the process
of taking it to the department of finance administration to issue the
check and it goes out, in a joint supervised account, with signatures
from the State personnel, as well as the client themselves.

Senator MELCHER. What standards did you set for contractors wish-
ing to participate in this program?

Mr. LARA. We started using, more or less, what the Farmers Home
people were using. They are more familiar with who the contractors
are that are out there. Which ones have had proven records of working
with them. At times, and especially when housing construction was
pretty, there was a lot of activity into it, most of the contractors went
for bigger jobs, Albuquerque or somewhere else, but there were some
contractors at the local level and we felt like, the philosophy that we
have had is to use contractors, local contractors, because we feel that
not only are we providing a decent home for someone there, but we are
also stimulating the economy. One contractor with four or five little
grants could make a living for himself and his family.

Senator MELCIRER. What action can you take or did you take against
contractors who did unacceptable, shoddy work?

Mr. LARA. From the CSA grant, sir, we only had one person that
really came to our State office and said, there is a problem with one
of our contractors, houses, et cetera. We felt like we took the proper
action, at the time. We had a meeting with the contractor, asked him
to go back and do the work. Apparently the work was not done. We
joined Farmers Home in requesting that he be debarred from doing
work.

Senator MELCHER. Well, it appears to us that, not necessarily know-
ing all of the 504 grants, but from what we have reviewed it appears
to us that there are a number of them, a high percentage of them,
where the work wasn't really satisfactory, but the particular person
involved, whose home it was, was unaware that there should be a
process of telling your inspectors. and the Farmers Home Administra-
tion personnel, their inspectors, that indeed it wasn't good. It seems to
be the breakdown that, since it was the impression of the homeowner,
that since it was a grant program, that whatever came they had to
accept. They didn't know anybody to complain, to. So waiting for a
complaint seems to have worked toward perpetuating a number, and
it appears to me, at least, I will speak only for myself, as one member
of the committee, a high percentage of 504 grants money resulting in
very shoddy, unsatisfactory work and a disgrace to the program.

How do you respond to that? Mr. Madrid did not impress us as
being capable of discerning what was shoddy work. In fact, he testi-
fied that he was incapable of doing it and all he know about construc-
tion was on-the-job training, usinz his words. Those are not mv
words. Those are his words. on-the-job training, and yet he had 207
different grants that he handled. I understand what you told us and
I understand your part in this. He was your employee and responsible
to you and you are responsible for his actions. Have I spoken correctly
on that?
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Are you responsible for his actions, or lack of actions, or lack of
knowledge, lack of capability?

Mr. LARA. Yes, sir, I am. I believe that Mr. Madrid underestimated
himself though, in terms of his capabilities.

Senator MELHHEr. In my judgment, in some of the 504 grants that
we have reviewed, if he did have capability he did not exercise it and
report that there was shoddy work, identify what was wrong. Tell
the person whose home it was and, indeed, I can't get over the fact
that it seems like these elderly people felt that they had no recourse.
That it was a grant program, and what came to them was all there
was supposed to be.

Of course, as taxpayers, and they are taxpayers, and we ought to
remember that the elderly had contributed through longer years, par-
ticipating and paying their taxes than we have at our age, I just don't
believe what you have told us.

As demonstrated, an awareness of how bad off 504 programs were
and to the extent that you participated in that with CSA funds or
State funds, how bad off the whole kit and caboodle is.

Did you know and approve of the widespread use of piggybacking
of your agency funds in homes that had received assistance?

Mr. LARA. Sure.
Senator MEr.CHER. You approved of that? Thought it was necessary?
Mr. LARA. That is correct, sir.
Senator MELCHEP. I think I understand that, because the $5,000

wasn't enough to correct the situation, isn't that right?
Mr. LARA. That is correct, sir.
Senator MELCHER. I can understand that and I can tell you that I

agree with you, but I just am disappointed in the fact that I think
there is a breakdown in the effectiveness of the 504 program here. To
the extent that you participated, piggybacking and otherwise, I am
disappointed in that too.

I hope that contrary to what I think is a rather discouraging situa-
tion here in New Mexico in the 504 program, I hope what we find
throughout the rest of the country is more in the pattern of what we
had been led to believe from staff investigations in Pennsylvania and
Florida where it seems to be working rather well. I have not really
checked my own State of Montana, which I will in the next few
weeks, to see if it appears to have been successful there.

We want the program to work and I am sure you do too.
Senator Domenici.
Senator DOMENICI. Let me start at the latest and go backward.
Have you made some changes in the way you would administer re-

habilitation funds, in light of what you have found out?
Mr. LARA. Yes, Senator.
Again, many of the cases of alleged shoddy work, et cetera, we

learned in your press statement, sir. People never came forward to us.
Like I said, just a few of them.

You mentioned some of the cases in your press statement a few
months ago, and apparently there had been an investigation and you
had been taking pictures and things like that, sir.

We may have been, and again I feel very responsible and I think
Senator Melcher said, whether I was responsible for the actions or
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the things that happened, I feel very responsible, sir, because I was
administering the program.

We have amended our application forms, et cetera, so that they can
be bilingual. We have forms that say, even if you have signed this
completed work form you still have this telephone number that you
can call. In other words, don't feel this is the end of the line because
you have signed and approved, the last inspection on it. That was one
thing that you were bringing up, maybe we erred in the fact that maybe
a lot of the elderly people didn't know that they had recourse if
shoddy work was done. We have corrected that. We have added more
forms, a lot more bilingual forms. I think our people are a lot more
attuned. We have had two workshops instructing them and we have
had people from the construction industry division, et cetera, to come
to us and tell us. here are the laws, here's what we want done, et
cetera, and things are going to be a lot better administered.

Senator DO1MENICI. I want to share this with vou. Some of the rec-
ommendations found in the report are made by the GAO, who looked
at all this and helped us. We'll give you those. I hope they will be
helpful, but obviously, there is a total lack of exchange of informa-
tion from Farmers Home to you. I am not blaming you. I am saying
they knew about many more homes than anything we released when we
started the investigation. Their audits show a number of them and
the concern I have is similar to Senator Melcher's. You know, this is
kind of rolling down hill. You rely on them so you piggyback after
them because you assume they are doing right. We can tell you they
didn't obtain any evidence that the material was actually bought,
which is required by their own rules. I'm not saying it is required by
your rules, but if you assumed somebody was doing that, it wasn't
being done. If you assumed that they had labor costs that were in their
regulations, some expert on your staff said they have a pretty good set
of regulations, and so you put some more in. I can tell you, you were
following a program which did not do what the regulations required.
That seems to be the case in, at least, 20 examples. I don't know how
many of them have received GSA or other State money, but I would
assume some of them.

There is another matter I do think you ought to look at. I have gone
out and checked how piggybacking is done and it is a good system, but
basically it is all done in advance.

In other words, $5,000 and $2,000 is looked at together or $3,000
and $8,000 or $7,000 will do a job, and the job is then contracted. Now
we have evidence this is not the format. That first would go and be
completed and money paid. In fact, we have them where the final check
is drawn and it is cosigned, as you know. Then the $2,000 comes. That is
not piggybacking in the sense that you leverage. and that's not what
your goal is, is it? It might have happened, but that's not the best way
to do it, is it?

Mr. LARA. No, sir. We did it that way, again, we are talking about
changes we have made. One of the things we are doing now is creating
a plan for each applicant. If they require more than the money that we
have available. then we will see what other resources are available.
It could be that we will wind up with just one grant, again, for $3,500
because Farmers Home doesn't have any more money in the grant
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program and the people can't wait until next year, before the snow
comes, to fix their roof or something like that. It could be that we'll
do that and Farmers Home will come in whenever they get their
money, but we are going to make every effort possible, from here on,
to be able to look at a plan for the family and work in whatever re-
sources are available.

Senator DOMiENICI. Senator Melcher has properly stated what Robert
Madrid said about his supervision and his cosigning of the checks, in
terms of his inspection qualifications. In fact, he clearly indicated that
he didn't think he was qualified to do them.

Was he directly responsible to you or, as you worked it, was he
responsible to Farmers Home or responsible to both? How do you
see that?

Mr. LARA. Probably to both would be more accurate.
Senator DOMENICI. Even if he was only signing and inspecting their

program, was he was still responsible to you?
Mr. LARA. When he was working on Farmers Home programs, both

the county supervisor and myself approved, for example, sick leave,
annual leave, administrative type of things, but he was on schedule
with his calendar working for Farmers Home.

Senator DOMENICI. Now, I think you stated that you didn't remove
Robert because of any audit findings, but you removed him for some
other reason?

Mr. LARA. That is correct. sir.
Senator DomENIcI. What was the exact reason he was removed? It

seems to have come at the time the internal audits were reviewed.
Mr. LARA. I think I mentioned that Farmers Home no longer had

any grant moneys. Consequently he wasn't working on any Farmers
Home type of things and so we had him just working on CSA and
assisting, again, the increased activity that I mentioned at the begin-
ning, we were now getting into providing technical assistance, CDBG
and other types of programs. We are trying to get him going into other
areas, like Santa Rosa and other areas where he hasn't been before,
to provide more services.

Senator DoNiENIcI. In your grant program you have described a
very elaborate system of determining the applicant, from among many,
that would get the grant. Were you aware that Farmers Home was not
doing this, according to their own audits? They didn't have that and
they weren't following the first come, first served. Somebody who
worked for them, frequently Robert or others, selected them on their
own?

Mr. LARA. I would be surprised if that happened. No, I was not
aware.

Senator DOMENTICI. In any event, you didn't do yours that way?
Mr. LARM\. No. sir.
Senator DOMENIC1. What if you followed up right behind Farmer

Home. Would you just assume that they were entitled to it, or would
you go through your process of evaluation?

Mr. LARA. The same process on every applicant.
Senator DOMENICI. Did the fact they had received a Farmers Home

grant and the house wasn't totally repaired. for whatever reason, have
any bearing on whether or not you would give the additional money?



94

Mr. LAMA. I'm sorry, sir, would you repeat that?
Senator DOMENICI. I assume you would have a number of applicants

for $2,000 or $3,000 grants. Did the fact that an applicant had a $5,000
504 program already, and the house wasn't healthy and sanitary, have
any bearing on whether they should get a priority from you for addi-
tional money?

Mr. LARA. No, sir.
Senator DomENIcI. That was just taken into account with other

criteria?
Mr. LARA. Exactly.
Senator DoMENIcI. I have no further questions.
Thank you very much.
Senator MELCI-IER. We had a discussion today about a $2,000 check

relating to Mrs. Ortega's home. Can you check your records? Are you
aware of a $2,000 check to Mrs. Ortega, for Mrs. Ortega's home?

Mr. LARA. Yes.
Senator MELCHER. In addition to a $5,000 Farmers Home Adminis-

tration 504 grant?
Mr. LARA. Mrs. Ortega did receive a grant, both from Farmers Home

and from State Housing and Rural Development Authority, sir.
Senator MELCHER. Was it $2,000?
Mr. LARA. It was $3,500 spent on her and $5,000, I think, for Farmers

Home.
Senator MELCHER. Could you check your records and provide to this

committee a copy of a $2,000 check or $3,500 check or a $2,000 check
and a $1,500 check or any check that went to Mrs. Ortega? We would
like a copy of it, front and back.

Mr. LARA. Yes, sir, I will do that.
Senator MELCHER. All right.
Senator DoMENICI. Let me ask a wrap-up question and get Mr.

Lara's. thoughts.
If there are a number of homes that were not repaired, pursuant to

the program or the plan for rehabilitation, and these homes are in
need of work because they are unsafe or there is something wrong with
them, do you have any ideas on how we might, together, straighten
out that situation and fix up those homes so they would be safe and not
dangerous? Do you have any funding or any ideas of how we could
collaborate, to go back through and fix some of this?

Mr. LARA. You are talking about some of the homes that have
already been serviced, whether properly or improperly, by both Farm-
ers Homes and State-

Senator DOMENICI. Not necessarily both. Primarily, Farmers Home,
but in some cases the State.

Mr. LARA. I would say that if we identified those that, one of the
things that we, let's just up front say it, some homes need $25,000
to fix them up. Maybe the $7,500 to Farmers Home is just not going
to he enough. We have to establish at what level we want those homes
to be. Do you want them to comply with minimum property stand-
ards? Do you want them to just do away with health or safety hazards,
or at what level do we want them?

Senator DomENIcI. I will make it very precise, as precise as the
evidence we have found. They will be brought up to acceptable build-
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ing standards with reference to the items agreed upon in the original
plan or contract between the contractor and an owner. We certainly
know there have been some mistakes in judgment. Homes were picked
that you couldn't get repaired, but we have 15 to 20 where there is a
great deal of evidence the development plan was not agreed upon.
We have seen some, maybe 4, 5, or 6, but I understand there are prob-
ably 20 we are aware of, with safety defects, problems with exhaust,
those types of problems.

Mr. LARA. I will say probably the best solution to something like
that is to get an organization, such as Siete del Norte, a housing cor-
poration that has a good crew, that could probably offset some of the
construction costs, the labor costs, et cetera. They would do it as a
partnership, Federal Government, State government, try to do some-
thing to alleviate the problem. We could go back to the original con-
tract, the work that was supposed to have been done, have it privately
inspected by our staff, and maybe their contractors, find out what
needs to be done, how much money, evaluate the situation. If they
qualify for CSA programs we would take another application, take
it to the policy advisory committee and see if they would consider it.

I don't know what the rules are in Farmers Home, maybe a little
special appropriation or something like that to make good on those
homes.

Senator DOMENICI. And the State housing office would be willing
to work on that?

Mr. LARA. That is correct, sir, and we would also work toward State
appropriation for a home repair program and we would take those
as if they were new applicants for State funds.

Senator DOMENICI. Thank you very much.
Senator MELCHER. Thank you.
This completes our witness list at this hearing today. The hearing

record will remain open for the next 30 days.
The committee is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 4:15 p.m., the committee was adjourned.]
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FRIDAY, DECEMBER 19, 1980

U.S. SENATE,
SPECIAL COMMITrEE ON AGING,

Washdington, D.C.
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:08 p.m., in room 457,

Russell Senate Office Building, Senator Pete V. Domenici, chairman,
presiding.

Present: Senators Domenici and Pryor.
Also present: John A. Edie, chief counsel; David A. Rust, minority

staff director; Charles H. Morley, chief investigator; Martin La Vor,
consultant/investigator; Kathleen L. Markis, minority office manager;
and Eileen Bradner, clerical assistant.

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR PETE V. DOMENICI, PRESIDING

Senator DOMENIcI. The Senate Special Committee on Aging will
come to order.

I note that Dr. La Vor is here. We have only three witnesses other
than the staff and investigators. Is Thomas McBride, Inspector Gen-
eral from the Department of Agriculture, here?

Mr. McBRIDE. Yes, I am, Mr. Chairman.
Senator DOMENICI. Is Alex Mercure here?
Mr. MERcuRE. Yes.
Senator DOMENIcI. And Gordon Cavanaugh ?
Mr. .CAVANA-UGH. Yes, sir.
Senator DoMENIcI. I know this is a busy day for everyone. Hope-

fully, we can expedit this, and finish in about 2 hours. This is what
I am hoping for, so I will not waste any time. Senator Pryor indi-
cated an interest in being0 here. He said he would be late. He will be
here in a few minutes. He cannot spend much of the afternoon with
us. Senator Chiles is not in town. As you may recall, he was in New
Mexico, for the hearings, along with Senator Melcher.

Let me give a quick summary and put into perspective why I asked
the three people from the national offices of the Farmers Home
Administration to be here today.

Last April, I chaired a hearing of the Special Committee on Aging
in Las Vegas, N. Mex., designed to focus our attention on the special
needs of the rural elderly. During that hearing and at the town forum
which followed, several senior citizens raised questions about the

(97)
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operation of certain Federal programs in northern New Mexico.
Many of their remarks focused on home rehabilitation. Allegations
were made of favoritism and nepotism in selecting recipients. The
committee staff pursued many of these allegations and found they
had substance. Dr. Martin La Vor was secured to serve as the com-
mittee's investigator. He made a number of trips to New Mexico, visit-
ing homes in three different counties, conferring with Federal, State,
and local officials, and meeting with numerous senior citizens who felt
they had been poorly served by some of these programs.

On October 8, 1980, the committee held additional hearings in Santa
Fe, N. Mex., at which Senator Chiles, the chairman, from Florida,
presided, and Senator Melcher was also in attendance. During this
hearing, many of the charges stemming from our investigation were
aired. Our witnesses included senior citizens whose homes had received
incomplete or shoddy work under the Farmers Home Administration's
section 504 program, which administers grants up to $5,000. A number
of contractors involved in these programs, and Federal, State, and
local program administrators also testified. In late October, several
staff members, at my direction, met with officials of the Farmers
Home Administration here in Washington to explore the findings of
our hearing and to pose several basic questions.

Mr. Cavanaugh, I think you are aware of the three basic questions
asked by our staff and have responded to them. I will make the ques-
tions, dated October 28, a part of the record. I think you have a copy
of those questions.

In summary, these questions are: What specific steps has Farmers
Home Administration taken to insure (a) that this problem does not
exist elsewhere in the program; (b) that this problem is remedied in
northern New Mexico and won't occur again; and (c) that this prob-
lem does not arise again in New Mexico or elsewhere? We went on to
inquire about what actions Farmers Home Administration would
take to properly fix the homes that had received incomplete or shoddy
work.

I am now going to insert the questions and answers you gave to me
through David Rust dated December 3. I will make those a part of
the record.

[The questions and Mr. Cavanaugh's response follow:]

QUESTIONS SUBMITTED TO FmHA BY STAFF INVESTIGATORS, OCTOBER 28, 1980

1. The committee in its hearing found that the management of the 504 grant
in northern New Mexico was the main source of the problems with the program.
What specific steps will FmHA take to: (a) Insure that this problem does not
exist elsewhere in the program; (b) insure that this problem is remedied in
northern New Mexico; (c) insure that this problem does not arise again in New
Mexico or elsewhere?

2. The committee found in its hearing that certain homes were improperly
repaired (if at all) under the 504 program. The committee would like to know;
(a) Exactly what steps FmHA will take (if any) to properly fix up the homes
in question; and (b) if FmHA ascertains that nothing can be done on the homes
in question, what steps did JFmEA take, and what inquiries did it make, to as-
certain that fact?

3. The committee would like to know if FmHA has any suggestions as to how
this "no win" proposition on the part of the grant recipients can be avoided in
the future.
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U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,
FARMERs HOME ADMINISTRATION,

Wa8h7ington, D.C., December 3, 1980.
DAVID A. RUJST,
U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging,
Wa8hington, D.C.

DEAR MR. RUST: During the meeting with you and Charles Morley, we were
asked to respond to several questions relating to the section 504 rural housing
grant program of the Farmers Hoome Administration (FmHA). We offer the
following comments for your consideration:

1. The FmHA will take the following steps to correct present problems and
prevent their future occurrence in the section 504 rural housing grant program:

-An administrative notice will be sent to all offices alerting the staffs to the
type of problems discovered in northern New Mexico. The notice will pro-
vide guidance on ways to prevent such problem situations from developing
in the future.

-The Department's Office of Inspector General will be asked to be sure to
cover the section 504 grant program when making their routine audits of
the FmnHA county and State office operations.

-The section 504 grant program will receive special attention at the next and
subsequent training sessions held by the FmHA national office for all State
office rural housing staff persons. A training session will be held early in 1981
calendar year.

-The present FmHA regulations for the section 504 grant program are ade-
quate, we believe. Staff from the Senate Special Committee on Aging ex-
pressed this opinion during meetings. The regulations will, however, be
rewritten to make it even easier to follow. Some cross-references to other
regulations will be removed and the complete information relative to the
program included in the 504 regulation.

-State Directors will have their District Directors monitor the section 504
grant programs in the local county offices.

2. The FmHA has no legal basis to provide additional assistance to persons
whose homes were not properly repaired unless the amount of the 504 grant
originally provided was less than the $5,000 legal maximum or the family could
now qualify for a 504 loan at 1 percent interest. Total grant assistance cannot
exceed $5,000 and total loan or combination loan and grant cannot be more
than $7,500.

The State Director has explored the possibility of obtaining the needed help
to make the repairs from other sources. He has checked with the New Mexico
State agencies to work out a solution to this part of the problem. In fact, he
met with the State housing staff yesterday and was informed that funding for
1981 fiscal year has not yet been received from the Community Services Admin-
istration. There is also a possibility that the State legislature will provide some
funds that could be used to make the needed repairs. The State housing staff
persons expressed their willingness to help. If this effort is not successful, he
will contact local representatives of other Federal agencies.

3. The "no win" situation, referred to in question 3 can be avoided only by
proper administration of the 504 grant program by the FmHA. The regulations,
if followed, will provide, as nearly as possible, the protection needed. The FmIIA
field staff has over 30 different programs to administer, which is a considerable
load. Hopefully, they will be able to avoid the reoccurrence of situations such
as developed in northern New Mexico. We understand from Charles Morley of
your staff who visited other locations to check on the 50A grant program, that
the program is providing much needed assistance for elderly low-income families.
We believe the problem areas are few and assure you that applicable corrective
action is being taken.

In New Mexico, the State Director has assigned another county supervisor to
the office where the problem situation existed. He has directed the District
Directors throughout the State to closely monitor the program. Furthermore,
lie is requiring that proper inspections of repair work be performed and this is
being checked by the State office staff.

Sincerely,
GORDON CAVANAUGH, Administrator.



100

Senator DoMENICI. On December 8, I received and looked over that
letter dated December 3, from Mr. Cavanaugh, Administrator of the
Farmers Home Administration, which was in reply to the informa-
tion we sought. I read the answers and feel that they were inadequate;
in fact, they were so inadequate that my exercise of asking you the
questions and having you respond was useless. The purpose of this
hearing is to attempt to get some real answers from the highest level.
I am still not sure that in communicating the events, that you all
understand and feel what we, who have seen these houses, and have
viewed this episode, feel. I thought you should come here and answer
questions so that hopefully we can put this behind us once and for all.
We also need to know that steps have been taken to see that this type
of abuse will not reoccur.

I have to tell you that even though this is not a big program and
there are not hundreds of homes that have been poorly renovated, I
am concerned, because a number of my constituents have had their
expectations dashed for an improved standard of living by what I
consider to be poor management at the local level by those who ad-
minister your program. When a private citizen is clearly hurt by
actions or inactions of a Federal agency, as has been the case with
a number of my elderly constituents, then I think these people have
a right to expect a redress of their grievances. To date, again I regret
to say, Farmers Home has seemed strangely impotent in its efforts to
locate resources needed to repair these homes.

In addition, the investigation raised some questions about the opera-
tion of the Inspector General's Office. USDA auditors located many
of the same problems we turned up in our investigation. I want to
repeat that. USDA auditors located many of the same problems we
turned up later in our investigation. We found that when investiga-
tors from the Inspector General's Office were sent into the State they
worked with real determination to rout out the problems. I am con-
cerned, however, about how well the IG's Office functions under nor-
mal circumstances; that is, when you have audits revealing shortcom-
ings, what triggers an IG investigation?

I know what triggered that one, complaints from us and others;
but why does it not happen normally, or does it, and we just happen
to have one that fell between the cracks. I want you to explain that
to us. I think this has some generic significance about the IG's in the
last years in routing out abuse, fraud, and waste. The auditors find
and identify certain problems, but the system does not appear to be
well attuned to responding to the kinds of widespread, petty fraud
uncovered in this investigation.

Perhaps we need to review the operation of the Inspector General's
Office to see if this could be corrected; maybe it already is and maybe
this is just an accidental occurrence. So this hearing should culminate
a process which began last April. I think it has done some good. I just
feel that two or three issues remain, the most serious of which is what
are we going to do to help those people whose homes were repaired
improperly to get some redress from someone somewhere.

We are going to go very quickly with a slide presentation of a few
of the homes which were inspected by Dr. La Vor. I know yon are
aware of them, but I am not sure you have seen them. It won't take
long. It is just so you will have a feel for what this Senator and two
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other Senators saw in New Mexico. We are going to do this very
quickly.

Dr. La Vor, will you show examples of some of the homes.
Dr. LA VOR. Thank you. Mr. Chairman.
Senator DOMENICI. Senator Pryor, do you have anything you want

to add?
STATEMENT BY SENATOR DAVID PRYOR

Senator PRYOR. Just let me add this. Senator Domenici. I am sorry
that I will not be able to stay for the entire hearing today. I remember
that this matter was discussed some months ngo -lhen you brought
this situation to the attention of this committee. As you know, I share
your concern for this particular program. Both you and our chairman,
Senator Chiles, have studied this in far greater detail than I have. I am
not certain that the problems that you have found are unique to New
Mexico alone-it is certainly possible that these and other similar
problems may be occurring in other States as well, if not nationwide. I
think that you have performed a valuable service in this area, and
would like to bring that to the attention of our witnesses today.

Senator DOMENIcI. Thank you, Senator.
I just want to tell you the unique problem we have. I feel that eventu-

ally Farmers Home will cure the internal management problems that
really were gross. I mean there were people who were not capable
of doing the job. There were inspectors who said they did not know
how to inspect. I think we will cure those. But now we have a situation
where a few New Mexicans have homes that have $5,000 in Federal
Government money spent on them. They have not been repaired. There
is no money left. In some instances, there is no signed contract. I don't
know if Farmers Home knows this. In some of these, your field people
did not even have the contractor sign a contract so the money has been
dispensed, the home has been repaired in a really deplorable way.
There is no money left. The citizen has no one to sue and we don't have
any way to fix the homes that we already have spent our money on.
This is one of the tough ones.

I hope that if Farmers Home can't come up with some resources,
Senator Pryor, that early next year you will help me. I intend to find
out roughly how much is needed and if FmHA doesn't find it, I intend
to take it away from the Department of Agriculture. If it is $50,000,
I am going to take it out of some Agriculture program and put it in
an escrow account and let Farmers Home go there and fix those homes.
Now maybe there is another way, but I just want to share that with
you today. We can work on it a little further in the ending weeks of
this year and the start of next year.

I think you for coming.
Now, Doctor, will you very quickly just show 'is some of these

examples. Go ahead.

STATEMENT OF DR. MARTIN LA VOR, CONSULTANT/INVESTIGATOR,
U.S. SENATE SPECIAL COMMITTEE ON AGING

Dr. LA Von. What I was going to do, Mr. Chairman, is just sum-
marize some of the things that we found as a prelude to getting into
the slides. There were two reports which were submitted for the record
and have been printed.

79-347 0 - 81 - 8
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We found the rehabilitation work done on most of the homes was
generally incomplete and of poor quality.

We found that mismanagement of existing programs has resulted
in the expenditure of Federal and State funds which actually frus-
trate and even circumvent the objectives Congress established to meet
the pressing needs of low-income rural elderly.

We found the rules, regulations. and procedures promulgated by
the national Farmers I-ome Administration Office were generally not
adhered to in the three counties investigated. This breakdown in the
management of the program appears to be a major cause of the prob-
lems which were observed, as you will see from the slides.

We found duplication and overlap of programs.
We found programs funded by different agencies and authorized

by different laws being used for the same purposes and for the same
target populations.

We found money provided by one program is often used to do, redo,
or correct work that was already "done" by another.

We also found evidence of nepotism in awarding grants. Not all
that information is detailed in the reports which were submitted for
the committee but what I would like to do, we have just a sample of
homes that we found.

This particular slide, I am going to give you just a brief background
of what was supposed to have been done on each home and then
quickly go through what was done. This grant was a second grant.
The first one was from the weatherization program funded by the
Community Services Administration and that was for $760. The sec-
ond grant from Farmers Home was for $3,400. Then there was a third
grant from the State Housing Authority which also had money from
the Community Services Administration. The grant was supposed to
repair the roof and install new windows.

Senator DorENICI. Which grant?
Dr. LA VOR. The Farmers Home grant.
I am going to focus only on that one unless I specifically give you

some other information.
Senator DOMENICI. All right.
Dr. LA VoR. Fix the roof, put in some new windows, and install new

electrical wiring. Now this is the home; as you can see, a lo y small
home.

Second slide, please.
One of the things on this house, the contractor used old materials

and some new materials. This door and these two windows were in-
stalled by the weatherization program, and as you can see, they were
stuccoed in the finish. The contractor doing.the Farmers Home work
did some electrical wiring although he was not a licensed contractor.
He put this outside meter in, broke through the wall. A year after the
work was finished the wall was still open and not finished. This is the
wire going into the house, and the wire just flaps in the wind and can
break at any time.

Next slide, please.
One of the principal reasons for doing the grants was to repair the

roof because it leaked. As vou will see here. that is sunlight, because
1 year after the work was done, this is what it looks like inside. It was
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leaking around here, and you can still see outside. That is sunlight
there so they didn't even close up the holes that were there. The woman
who owns the house also complained that there were parts of the roof
that leaked that didn't leak before the contractor started working.

This is another example of how they left the interior of the house.
This back door was supposed to have been replaced and it was not. This
is the drain pipe from the sink, so everything just goes into the
ground. Here are some of the windows put in by the contractor. As
you can see, they are not finished. The roof is open. You will see a later
slide in a minute. The water leaks into the roof, which has no insulation
in it, and then comes down here, and leaks into the house through
the window.

Here is the closeup of the same picture, and you can see the openings
there and nothing was done. Here are just some more of the windows
put in by the same contractor.

These steps were put in by the contractor and there is no railing
but they are new steps.

Next slide, please.
This is the other set of steps and the contractor didn't even bother

to touch them, didn't bother to replace the doors-the regular house
door, or the door to the house as per the contract.

This is the second home. What Farmers Home was supposed to do on
this house was replace the entire roof on the dwelling. f am reading
from the narrative from the Farmers Home Administration file:

Grant will replace entire roof on dwelling, stucco cracks around windows and
doors. Living room will be repaired, and linoleum will be placed on bathroom
floor as it is presently rough wood floor. Paneling and insulation will be in-
stalled on east and south wall in living room. Three new doors and locks will be
installed. These factors will bring dwelling to decent, safe, and sanitary living
conditions.

This is a long view of the house. This is a corrugated tin roof which
is required in New Mexico.

Next side. please.
This is the same roof, and this is the roof where the contractor did

some work. The contractor did not remove the entire roof.
Next slide, please.
On this roof, he left it and painted it with aluminum paint on this

roof.
Next slide, please.
On this roof, he left the corrugated tin on the roof and simply cov-

'ered it, and laid rolled tar paper down, and it didn't even overlap the
seams. As you can see, there is the old corrugated roof. He replaced
two doors with thin hollow doors. The New Mexico code says they
should be solid doors, but this is an example of a hinge the contractor
installed.

This is the bathroom that was taken by an estimate sent out. That
is a one-way street sign on the floor.

Here is an example of what the house looks like 2 years after the
work was done, and how much it has leaked, and how much damage
has been done to the wall and side that should have been protected by
the new roof.

This is the third house. With this house I will read the description
on this one.
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Proposed grant will replace two doors which are in bad shape, replace oneattic door which is old, replace rotted out floor in kitchen, put linoleum onliving room floor to cover wood floors, replace flues in kitchen and living roomand replace six windows. All work will be done and provide safe, decent, andsanitary living conditions.
For $4,800, what they did was, they came in-these were the win-

dows that were in the house. These were the existing windows and
I am not sure why they were supposed to have been replaced because
they seemed to have been in good shape, but the contractor had small
windows so he simply took out a couple of the old windows, put fram-
ing in to meet the size of the windows he had, and put this window
in, put these two windows in. You can see the sides of the old windows.

These doors were supposed to have been replaced and they were not.
This is the back of the house and you can see these windows. This door
was replaced. The attic door was not replaced although that window
was replaced.

Here is the flue that they put in and they didn't even finish that,
and so, as a consequence of the work they did, it rains through that
opening.

Here is one of the floors they did. Someone picked up a piece of tile
and went like that [indicating] and that is what is left after 1 year
of tiling in the house.

This is the covering over the floor that the Farmers Home said
replaced rotted out floor in kitchen. They left the existing floor and
simply put the cheap tile on top of it.

This woman is very vocal, and so she went to Farmers Home and
complained, and as a result, instead of getting the contractor to go
back and repair the work, they went to the State housing authority
which has the Community Services grant, and gave her another $3,500,
and what they were supposed to do was essentially what the first
grant was supposed to do, so this house which you just saw received
the total of $8,900, and this is what the grant looks like after the
expenditure of $8,900.

Next slide, please.
This is a home that has received many grants, and this is an exam-

ple of the duplication. This home received a weatherization grant,
and we have not been able to .determine how much they received on
it, but it is no more than $750.

They went in and put in these windows, which were done, and some
other parts of the house, but the Farmers Home grant on this house
was supposed to-I am reading from the narrative again: "Grant will-
be used to install bathroom, repair ceilings, roof, and porch deck. All
of the above will eliminate all unsafe and unsanitary conditions which
exist."

This is the back of the house and the septic system that went to
the bathroom was back here.

Next slide, please.
This is the porch they put in and it is on an angle because it is awide-angle lens. This is less than 1 year old and this gives you some

idea of what it looks like, but you will notice the size of the step from
the top. Remember, this is a very old woman.

Next slide, please.
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We had somebody walk down. In order for her to get down she has
to hold on to that railing and step down very carefully.

Next slide, please.
This is the deck that was put on.
This house had electrical work done on it. The electrical work was

so bad that last May, 1 year after the work was completed, this house
was red tagged by the electrical contractor for the third time. In
October it was still red tagged and some new work was being done.
This woman's monthly electrical bill went from $12.60 in 1977 to
$88.27 last spring after the work was done. Even taking into account
for inflation, it is admittedly higher. I should add, Mr. Chairman,
after the first report was issued, several inspectors went out, and this
house was also red tagged by the plumbing inspector because the septic
system was put in improperly.

Here is an example of the type of electrical work that was done in
the house.

Next slide, please.
Here is the bathroom. This room is 8 by 8. They put a wall down the

center, and they did not put in any ventilation.
Next slide, please.
What I used here was a wide-angle lens. This is a 4 by 4 room

so it looks a lot larger than it is. This is a used bathtub they put in
although they were paid for a new one. This window was installed
only half way and the woman complained vigorously about it.

This is the heater that is in the house, and you will notice there is
no vent, which is a code violation in almost any State in the country,
and it is just a danger to the woman. So what did they do? Instead
of getting the contractor to come back they gave her a second grant
from the State housing authority to do the work properly. So that
house was given the weatherization grant, the Farmers Home grant,
and the State housing authority grant. She had received $8,500, and
then because of all of the publicity that resulted from this house, the
Community Services Administration has just given her another grant,
which is repairing the house now and that is what you see now. This
is the new contractor's work, who is going in to try to bring it up to
standard. This house as you see it now and up until October had had
$11,600 spent on it.

Next slide, please.
Senator DOMENICI. Dr. La Vor, do you have an example showing us

something different?
Dr. LA VOR. Yes.
Senator DoxENIcI. Please show one, so we may hear the Farmers

Home witnesses.
Dr. LA VOR. What I found, Mr. Chairman, while we were going

forward was that there were homes that received grants that were
owned by relatives of people who worked with Farmers Home, and
that is what we are going to get to now. Now we have just run through
very fast the other homes. Here is an example, and I must add, Mr.
Chairman, the reason why we are showing these, all of the homes that
we saw were picked at random, there was no design as to how we
picked them, and it didn't matter which county we went to, we found
the same thing with four exceptions. These are homes owned by rela-
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tives or a relative of an employee of the State housing authority who
worked out of the Farmers Home Office, and had total responsibility
on the staff level for the 504 grant.

As we skim through let me just show you, you can just go through
these very slowly, and I will just show you what $5,000 bought in
these homes. Just keep in mind what you saw before.

This home installed a new tin roof, installed new kitchen cabinets,
installed new paneling, installed a new water heater, installed a new
bedroom heater, installed two new windows, installed two new storm
doors. There were 10 to 15 sheets of sheetrock left over, and they claim
they had money left over.

This next home, this was another relative, installed a complete new
tin roof, installed two storm doors, installed new cement floor in
kitchen and dining room, installed carpeting on entire floor, installed
a new wall heater, installed a new vanity sink in bathroom. Her son,
a cabinetmaker, made the kitchen cabinets.

This house received a new tin roof, new ceiling, new subfloor, new
linoleum, new kitchen cabinets, carpeting, and the like.

The only reason why we mention those, Mr. Chairman, is to show
the contract, No. 1. No. 2, these homes had many things done to them
that were in total violation of Farmers Home's own regulations and
were inspected by Farmers Home employees.

Senator DOawENICI. I will summarize this last one for you. There
are a number of things wrong with it. I don't want to make a big
issue of nepotism, but it is very strange to me. Of all the homes in
the north, four direct relatives of Robert Madrid's in one little town
of Villanueva all got grants. There are hundreds of homes spread out
through the north which did not receive them.

Another thing that is interesting, and I would hope that Farmers
Home would follow up on this, in IA ew Mexico, the only homes our in-
vestigators saw that were repaired well, were those that were done
through self-help, by the relatives of Robert Madrid. These were
beautiful jobs for $5,000. We are now told that self-help is illegal in
New Mexico. It is illegal because you cannot self-help $5,000 grants.
You must be a building contractor. So this type of work which seems
to do the jobs well is illegal.

Many of these were done by unlicensed contractors and there is no
question under State law that anything over $500 has to be done by
a licensed contractor. I don't raise all these for you to know the
answers, but just to tell you that something is "rotten in Denmark,"
with this small program in New Mexico.

In addition, for those of you who didn't hear the original testimony
earlier, in each of these cases, the Farmers Home inspector looked at
the home, looked at the agreement, and cosigned a check with the
owner releasing the Farmers Home money for the repairs. That was
part of the procedure, that the inspector would inspect and cosign a
check. These are examples of some 20 homes that we have seen. Eleven
of these were done by P. & P., who has been debarred by Farmers
Home from doing any future work. I mean there are just all kinds of
examples.

Now what I would like our three Federal witnesses to do, so that
we can finish at 4 o'clock, is to testify together. Let's talk together
about what we are going to do, if anything, to alleviate this situation.
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Mr. McBride, I understand you have two people with you. I will
leave it up to you. If you want them to come up with you, you can
have them. Identify them, please.

STATEMENT OF THOMAS F. McBRIDE, WASHINGTON, D.C., IN-
SPECTOR GENERAL, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. McBRIDE. I think I can handle any inquiries you have, Mr.
Chairman.

Senator DomEN-ici. Mr. McBride, would you state your name and
title, please.

Mr. MCBRIDE. I am Thomas F. McBride, Inspector General, U.S.
Department of Agriculture.

Senator DOMENICI. All right. Mr. McBride, I don't expect you to
have a prepared statement for today but if you do, we will hear it.

Mr. McBRIDE. I do not. I will respond to questions or summarize
my own findings and views.

Senator DoMENICI. Mr. McBride, let's quickly go through a few
questions with you and see where we come out.

Can you explain for the committee briefly the mechanics of an
audit. What kind of occurrences will trigger an audit? How long
does an audit take? How thorough is it? Those kinds of questions
first.

Mr. MCBRIDE. We have on our staff 440 auditors, about 300 investi-
gators. New Mexico is covered by our Southwest regional office located
in Temple, Tex., with a fairly large staff of auditors and investigators.
Our priorities are set both by the Inspector General Act and my own
guidelines and they are threefold basically: One, is an allegation, or
suspicion of fraud; two, danger of a large dollar loss; three, an issue
of integrity of any U.S. Department of Agriculture employee. Finally,
we give priority where there is press, congressional, or other interest,
whether it be based on allegations of fraud or mismanagement.

This particular audit was initiated when we were in New Mexico
auditing another FmHA program called the technical assistance pro-
gram. Auditors read press accounts of complaints that homeowners
had made, talked to their audit supervisors, and it was agreed that
they would commence that next week an audit, initially in Rio Arriba
County, and then they expected to move to San Miguel and Mora
Counties. The Rio Arriba findings were discussed with the State
Farmers Home people at the end of 1979 or in early 1980. Those were
the beginnings of the disclosures that have since followed.

It is hard to describe the audit process without taking a little time.
I will try to do it very quickly.

Senator DOMENICI. Let me just say so we will all understand an
audit is a very detailed procedure. It is not a cursory examination,
and it is not a criminal investigation.

Mr. McBRIDE. That is right.
Senator DOMENICI. Is this [pointingi your audit?
Mr. McBRIDE. That is the audit report and work papers.
Senator DONEENICI. And work papers.
Mr. MCBRIDE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. And in this material are many of the same facts

our committee investigation turned up much later.
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Mr. McBRIDE. That is correct.
Senator DomENIcI. Is that correct?
Mr. McBRIDE. That is correct.
Senator DOMENICI. If I understand your role, it is you are up here

at the top of the triangle and on one side are auditors. This is an ordi-
nary function to make sure the departments are doing their jobs right
and managing things right.

Mr. McBRIDE. Right.
Senator DomENICI. Now on some occasions you go down the other

side of this triangle and you have your investigators do something.
Mr. McBRIDE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. That is different than the auditing function,

isn't it?
Mr. McBRIDE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. What do the investigators do?
Mr. McBRIDE. The investigators are basically investigating either

employee misconduct or more importantly criminal violations. Let me
just make one thing clear-which is, that all of this information does
not come to roost in the Washington office. We are a large organiza-
tion. We are regionally suboffice oriented and I have instructed all of
my auditors and investigators that it is as simple as walking across
the hall to convey information which they think should be investi-
gated. We have policy directives to that effect and I would be glad to
submit them for the record.

Senator DOMENICI. I didn't mean to imply, and I don't right now,
that Mr. Cavanaugh or Mr. Mercure would have access to this kind
of thing. This is occurring in the field.

Mr. McBRIDE. The point I am trying to make, Mr. Chairman, is
simply that the information does not have to get to me or one of my
Washington staff. The field auditor is supposed to tell his counterpart
investigator right away if he thinks there is something criminal that
should be looked into.

Senator DOxENICI. I know you may have a lot of things to tell us,
but I want to get a lot of things on record- for this committee because
it seems to me that the local Farmers Home office should have been
aware of the findings you make here, what you found in the field.
They should have been taking corrective action and they didn't, from
what I can remember from the hearing, until long after this had been
completed and our findings made.

Now why would that be? Is that the case and why would that be?
Mr. McBRIDE. Well, I think it is the case. That is, in terms of the

deficiencies in the program operations and the faulty repairs being
corrected, certainly that has been the case. In terms of action against
the officials, I think that has, at least in part, been the case. There
has been a long delay which FmHA would attribute first to instruc-
tions from their suneriors not to take action during the pendency of
the Senate committee's investigation and later of the grand jury
investigation with which we are working.

Some things were undertaken. As I understand it, several of our
audit recommendations were implemented-for example, working out
procedures with the State Construction Inspection Division and cer-
tain training steps were undertaken. We recommended in September
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that FmHA conduct as a routine part of its assessment field operations
reviews of the 504 program. That has not been done to any great
degree.

My understanding is that four counties in Texas have been surveyed
slightly but it has not otherwise been built in to their assessments.
We ourselves in June decided to conduct a national audit survey of
the 504 program. That is begun and it is in the survey stage, the audit
training stage, and will be conducted during the first 3 months of 1981.

Senator DOMENIcI. How long will it be before those findings are
made available?

Mr. McBRIDE. I would guess about April or March we would have
a draft audit and be exiting with FmHA. We have done other 504
work. In fact, in Senator Pryor's State we have done three or four
counties, either completed or underway, because we found indications
of the same problems. It was the combination of problems in New
Mexico and Arkansas that decided us to do a national survey.

We also are doing preventive audit surveys to cover on a statistical
sampling basis the smaller FmHA programs which tend not to get
the audit oversight that the large programs receive.

Senator DOMENIcI. Let me state to Mr. McBride my recollection
which is, and you correct me if I am wrong, either you or the staff,
that this field work was finished 8 months-8 months-before the Sen-
ate Special Committee got involved. Now is that correct?

Mr. McBRIDE. Rio Arriba was finished in about January 1980, and
San Miguel in about March. the field work was finished.

Senator DOMENICI. Now why in the world would Farmers Home not
take corrective action against officials based upon your investigation?
The Committee on Aging was not involved until 8 months afterward.
That is several months. You were not involved in the criminal inves-
tigation until substantially later.

Mr. McBRIDE. Not until July.
Senator DOMENICI. Why didn't Farmers Home take some personnel

action in the meantime?
Mr. McBRIDE. While I don't know, I may be able to shed a little light

on it. First, while we had orally briefed the State director, Mr. Cloud;
the district director, Mr. Glover; the assistant director, Ms. Quintana,
and some of the other State office staff of our findings, I would guess
that they were waiting for the final audit report, and there was some
delay on our end in issuing the final audit report. I raised questions
with my own staff about that and. both based on that delay and the
delay of the investigative referral, we have had to take disciplinary
action against two audit staff involved in this matter. The delay was
in violation of my policy and I was unaware of it at the time. However,
I do not think either of those factors excuses the State director from
taking prompt administrative action.

This has been a constant problem that I have faced and I am sure
other Inspectors General faced within their agencies. There is a ten-
dency to be paralyzed while there is any investigation, particularly
criminal investigative action, pending. Normally what I encourage
agency management to do is to call me or my staff to see if the assistant
U.S. attorney who is handling the case has any objection. If they want
to demote, fire, reprimand, transfer, and the U.S. attorney does not
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have a problem, then I encourage them to take the appropriate action.
My theory is that (1) you have protected the program, and (2) in

most cases it does not prejudice the criminal action. I was never posed
that question in this matter.

Senator DOMENICI. Let me get this summarized. This committee will
have to make a reference on the issue we are talking about. What you
are telling me is that when an investigation that you are undertaking
reveals a kind of personnel action that would justify personnel
changes-

Mr. McBRIDE. Discipline.
Senator DOMENICI [continuing]. Discipline, nothing will happen if

the USDA gets involved, because the agency won't take disciplinary
action while the charge is pending. That is a general concern.

Mr. MCBRIDE. It has been a general problem. That does not mean
that in some cases there has not been prompt and effective action, but
it is my experience that there is slowness in decisions and semiparalysis
in exercising that kind of responsibility, and I don't think that is only
characteristic of the Department of Agriculture. Talking to my col-
leagues in the IG business, it is a common problem.

Senator DOMENICI. All right.
Now I understand within your own IG office as pertains to this inves-

tigation and audit, you had to take some disciplinary action because
your people didn't follow your rules, is that correct?

Mr. McBRIDE. That is correct.
Senator DoMENICI. You discipline, too.
Mr. McBRIDE. Yes; in this instance, a supervisory, auditor, and an

assistant regional inspector general.
Senator DOMENICI. Has your office ever looked at the organizational

and administrative staff and management capabilities of Farmers
Home?

Mr. McBRIDE. Yes; we have. I would commend to your attention,
Mr. Chairman, the semiannual reports that I have filed with the Con-
gress. These contain my observations about the management com-
petencies and problems of Farmers Home Administration generally,
and observations about the problems, obstacles, and resources limita-
tions that underlie some of those problems. In fairness to those that
direct Farmers Home those obstacles are a very important factor.
During the past 11/2 years I have viewed Farmers Home as a major
problem area within the Department and I have been candid to say so
in any semiannual reports. It has been a subject obviously of both con-
cern and dispute. Under Secretary Mercure, Administrator Cava-
naugh, and I have sometimes differed but we have both felt free to call
them as we see them and have done so.

Senator DOMIF.NTCI. Which was one of the characteristics of your
Office when the IG Office was created.

Mr. McBRIDE. That is what the statute says.
Senator DOMENICI. Now let me talk to Mr. Cavanaugh and Mr. Mer-

cure for a minute.
Mr. Cavanaugh, can you tell me now in your opinion what has gone

wrong with your agenev that would allow this small program-this 504
program, a very small national program-to be administered this
poorly in my State?
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STATEMENT OF GORDON CAVANAUGH, WASHINGTON, D.C., AD-
MINISTRATOR, FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION, U.S. DE-
PARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. CAVANAUGH. Senator, there is no one that would be other than
shocked by the poor work and total failure of performance by the con-
tractor on the remodeling. The only thing I guess that is more shock-
ing is the people who live in those places even before the repair work
started.

Senator DOMENICI. That is correct.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. We believe that we have in the agency, and I think

that your staff and others have found, a very sound set of regulations
for administering the 504 program. As difficult as that program is, I
think that it has produced some very, very sound repair renovation
work nationally. I have seen hundreds of examples of it myself as I
have traveled around.

Senator DomENIcI. Mr. Cavanaugh, based on your administrative
experience, let me just ask you to experience a typical file on a $5,000
504 grant in the State of Florida. This is a typical county in Florida,
a typical program, a look at one of their files on a rehabilitated house.
Now look at a file on a New Mexico house. They are not like the same
program. Let me tell you some crazy things that are not even there
that could be worse.

No release. You know what that means.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. That means that one of these contractors, even

with the shoddy work, could end up not paying for the materials, or
not paying the labor. Then that poor homeowner would have a lien
on his house that would indeed be paramount, and have to be paid by
the sale of the property because a contractor didn't pay his bills. In the
case of P. & P., there is not even a signed contract with this contractor
where that contractor signed his name to be responsible to do the work.

Now how does all that happen?
Alex. you volunteer.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. I would like to add one thing here. I am not trying

to relieve the responsibilities of our agency, but in an effort to broaden
the coverage of that 504 program in New Mexico, we entered into
arrangements with the State and some of its personnel for them to
supply us employees to supplement our rather short staff to help con-
duct this program. It is my understanding, Senator, that many of the
houses, if not all that you have referred to and have been described
here today, were under the direction and handling of a person who
is not a career Farmers Home employee, but someone who is provided
to us under arrangements with the State, and that, in my view, that
would count in part for the fact that our regulations were not observed
fully and that we had-

Senator DOMENICI. Let me tell you on that score I agree with you.
I am a strong proponent of this program and I want more money in
this program, not less. I understand the personnel problems, but let me
tell you, Robert Madrid is not the sole culprit; they never paid him,
he was on the State's payroll. This is one of the examples of personnel
problems you are referring to, but we found these same problems in
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counties where every single employee was yours. There were no Robert
Madrids.

I think Robert Madrid did part of San Miguel and part of Mora
and that he begged other people to do inspections. They said, "We did
them for him even though we didn't know how to do them, but we
liked him." They so testified. That is not the whole story, something
else went wrong.

Mr. CAVANAUGH. I was not suggesting it was the whole answer, but
you are asking my view of how this happened, and I think that is part
of the answer. The other is failure to follow the procedures of the
agency, which follow, would not have allowed such a result as the
terrible pictures that you have seen here today.

Senator DOMENICi. One of the things that struck me and I want to
mention now, before we even start is, 1 have seen many of these homes.
You are absolutely right. They are so poorly constructed at the begin-
ning before you even start repairing them, and I began to feel maybe
you can't repair them and maybe nobody can. Maybe we should excuse
P. & P. who obviously, I say publicly, is a lousy construction firm; in
fact, I don't think they are a construction firm. Then I read one of
your regulations and it is not an excuse either, because Farmers
Home had to make a finding based on the grant and the work plan,
which end product would create and cause a home to be safe and
sanitary.

I know how hard it is when you have many poor people who need
help. There are many applicants. If you choose a home which can't
be repaired for $5,000, even though the law says it has to be healthy
and sanitary when you are finished, I don't know if we can blame the
contractor for that either.

Alex.

STATEMENT OF ALEX P. MERCURE, WASHINGTON, D.C., AS-
SISTANT SECRETARY, RURAL DEVELOPMENT, U.S. DEPART-
MENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. MERCURE. The safety and sanitary conditions have been rec-
ognized by both the Congress and the agency, there were some houses
that cannot be brought up to minimum sanitation conditions. The
clear danger to health and safety is what we are attempting to elimi-
nate. With the housing rehabilitation program it is clear that there
are some houses that cannot be brought up to the safe and sanitary
condition.

I think that one can interpret the quality of a home and the repair-
ability of a home a little too strictly. It is important to recognize this
problem.

Another element is, as you have already indicated and we agree with
your statement, it is a very useful and fruitful program when properly
administered. It is a catastrophe when not run right. The important
part to remember here in terms of the procedure, our own regulations
were not followed by our own employees and that is what first came
to our attention as a result of the newspaper stories in Rio Arriba
County. This is doubly embarrassing to me, inasmuch as that is my
own county.
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Farmers Home Administration has periodically requested audits
wherever we discover these problems. As of May 5, we received infor-
mation from the Inspector General which was responded to on May
27. I believe that most of the problems you have identified, together
with what has been done since May 27. will go a long way toward
eliminating most of the problems. I think it is also clear that this is a
difficult program, and therefore it must be monitored on a consistent
basis. It is the only way in which very poor people who don't need a
30-year mortgage can eliminate the problems of safety and unsanitary
conditions.

I think the steps that Farmers Home has taken will help us prevent
it, but I must admit, Mr. Chairman, that even under the best of cir-
cumstances you have to be alert. I believe that there was perhaps an
opportunity to prevent some of the problems that you saw, but some
of them would have occurred if we had been more alert. It is perhaps
a problem that we were not alert enough early enough to prevent from
occurring. An early warning system is obviously necessary.

You raise another more important concern, which is the human con-
cern of those 20 families or so, and as many others as we can discover.

Senator DOMENICL. That is the real tough issue.
Mr. MERCURE. Which is to a large extent that they are out in the

cold and it pains most of us to recognize, and I think all of us do
recognize, that currently we have no authority to make the reparations
which are necessary in virtually all of the 20-some loans that have been
identified as the problem loan. We estimate that it probably would
take us. even based on the information that was shown on the slides,
about $25,000 to fix those homes to the level where we believe we
eliminate most of the critical problems.

The difficulty is that the current authority we have does not permit
us to indemnify for bad construction in that repair process. The diffi-
culty again is that most people who are into home repair programs, and
this is true throughout the country. tend to be marginal contractors,
and that was the fact in Rio Arriba County. The man walked away,
there was no way to hold him accountable; he left the State.

Then finally, as I say, Farmers Home has been cooperating with
providing information. We would be more than happy to work with
you to overcome the difficulty that we have here and to work with you
to make sure that we make the program more effective.

Senator DOMENICI. Let me get this on record because a lot of New
Mexicans are concerned.

Mr. Cavanaugh. let me ask you some very specific questions. I would
like to get back to the issue of trying to help those people who thought
their homes were going to be repaired and still have unrepaired homes.
Secretary Mercure mentioned $25.000. I am not sure this amount will
cover anything more than the 13 or 14 that we know about. No one
has gone out and seen all of them or looked at every one. Have you
instituted any procedure now to control conflicts of interest among
staff members dealing with the administration of 504 grants?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. Senator, all our staff are subject to stringent rules
with regard to conflicts of interest. I think basically the result in this
kind of problem is not having alert management that stays directly
on top of the question. That is often difficult for our staff in some areas
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where we find ourselves understaffed and overburdened. There is no
excuse for this kind of result but it is a strain on the system. Basically
we believe that we have, governing our activities, strong conflict-of-
interest rules that, should they be violated, there is plenty of room for
discipline.

Senator DOMENIcI. Where did the breakdowns in this one occur, at
the State level?

Mr. MERCURE. We properly delegated authority to FmHA, and
frankly I think that is the problem.

Senator DONEENICI. So if conflicts of interest occurred as related to
Robert Madrid, who was an employee of the State and not yours, you
improperly delegated authority to him to cosign your checks, and
therefore he cannot be accused of this conflict, technically, because he
didn't work for you?

Mr. MERCUIRE. That is right.
Senator DOMENICI. So that would be a convenient way to get around

it and you will see that that does not occur again.
Mr. MERCURE. It was not supposed to occur in this case.
Senator DOIENIcI. Are you requiring mandatory, onsite inspections

of recipients' dwellings?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Yes; that is part of the established procedure.
Senator DOMENICi. Now was onsite inspection part of the procedure

when our New Mexico homes were remodeled, Mr. Cavanaugh?
Mr. CAVANAUIGH. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. So if it did not occur pursuant to sworn testi-

mony, then it did not occur at all in some instances, and they were
violating the national rules set down by Farmers Home; is that
correct?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. That is correct, Senator.
Senator DOMENICi. Are we requiring a bond and State licensing for

504 contractors or either?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Neither.
Senator DONIENIcI. All right. Now let's talk about that. There is

nothing in the statute law which requires you to have a bond. I am not
going to argue that. I assume your reasoning is that it is too difficult
to get in rural areas considering all the risks.

Mr. MERCUJRE. For 504.
Senator DOMENICT. Is that correct?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. The second part of my question is, why is there

not State licensing of 504 contractors?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. I believe that not all States license contractors.

Some State licenses of contractors, as I understand it, require the con-
tractor to be bonded and we find, as Mr. Mercure indicated, they were
dealing with very small, marginal contractors who could not get a
bond. I just say personally I am not sure that licensing really would
protect against the kind of acts that take place here. I think what we
have missed here is not having the normal procedure followed, in
which our county supervisor is careful about looking into the reputa-
tion, skills, and financial reliability of the contractor.

Senator DOMENICT. Let me give you my views. I disagree on the
following grounds. I think you should at least make it mandatory
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where the State law requires it. In New Mexico, any construction work
in excess of $500 requires a license. Let me tell you why I think it
would be very helpful; because we have some contractors who do not
even get a building permit, others do.

If they must at least have a building permit, then State inspectors
can be called in to see if State law has been complied with. Other-
wise, they can come on but they don't have any marching orders to
measure their inspections against. It appears to me that if you are
not going to have a bond, you ought to have licensed contractors where
possible.

Mr. MERCURE. I agree with you. I think we should work to that goal.
Mr. CAVANAIUGH. I supplement that. Anyone operating in our pro-

gram within a State has got to observe all of the State requirements.
If the contractor can only perform with a license at a certain level of
work, he must observe that under our program. Similarly, he must
be subject to all the code requirements.

Senator DomEnNrcI. Well, let me tell you, there again you say that,
but they didn't comply in these cases. We had subcontractors doing
general contractor's work. We had contractors who were not qualified
to install electrical outlets or lines in a home even though State law
prohibited it.

I know these are small jobs, but let me tell you, these are the ones
which create big problems. We have electrical systems exposed in these
homes, and not even put in the walls.

Mr. CAVANAUGH. I would say in light of the income of the people we
should be more careful with this program. We are talking about very
poor people.

Senator DOMENICI. OK. Now let's talk a little bit about the person-
nel situation in New Mexico. I understand the State director, as of
the date of our hearing, was not permitted to make any personnel
changes or disciplinary changes because of ongoing investigations;
is that still the case?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. I don't know what personnel might be under in-
vestigation, but I do know with regard to this case, Senator, that
the county supervisor involved, as well as the gratuitous employee
from the State, have both been removed from any involvement.

Senator DOMEENICI. What is the name of the director in San Miguel?
Mr. MERCURE. Maese.
Senator DOMENICI. Roberto Maese?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. I don't know where he was assigned, but he was

moved out of the program.
Senator DOMENICI. Would you mind giving information to us as to

why he was missed? I have my own personal thoughts about that par-
ticular man. I think he is somewhat of a victim, but that is not my
decision to make. If we have evidence, in this case where auditors
found malfeasance, and personnel were moved, all right. But they
were promoted. Now you don't want to get into that. The particular
individual was promoted to head the Gallup area after having been
found to be negligent somewhere else. Tell us what happened to
Roberto Maese.

Mr. CAVANAUGH. Yes, I will review that personally and report to
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[Subsequent to the hearing, Mr. Cavanaugh supplied the following
information:]

Mr. Maese, who previously held the position of assistant county supervisor
in San Miguel County (GS 475-11), is currently an assistant county supervisor
in the Torrence County office (GS 475-9).

Senator DomiENici. How about the fellow in Rio Arriba? Charles
Knoop, what happened to him?

Mr. MERCURE. The case is somewhat different than Rio Arriba.
Even though the work agreement may have worked out all right, I
don't know. I don't believe Knoop has been disciplined in any way.

Senator DozMENIcI. I just want to make sure if he was disciplined,
that he didn't get promoted, but you don't think that happened in this
case. Is that what you are saying?

Mr. MERcuRE. I believe neither one of them got promoted, but I am
not sure.

Senator DOMENICI. All right. Let me tell you another thing which
really bothers me about some of the very old people and the way we
do this. The 504 program has been developed nationally. It is to be
given great credit for its simplicity. It is a simple program. Deposit
$5,000 in the name of the grant recipient, and then a local staff mem-
ber of Farmers Home Administration cosigns the check as work
progresses and is paid. There is a final inspection with the grantee
and a final withdrawal.

But when you are dealing with very, very old people who have a
lot of difficulty understanding English, as is the case in this particular
part of New Mexico, there is an obvious opportunity to have them sign
checks they ought not to be signing, because they have this tremendous
faith in this young fellow, who is there telling them, "Mrs. Ortega,
you have got to sign this check." This leads to forgeries, it leads to
fraud. What procedures have we instituted to protect against that?
Are there any?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. Again, I think the procedures are there. The real
question is seeing that the staff people are attentive to those proce-
dures. In addition, we have often tried to work, particularly in this
program, with local nonprofit or other groups that are oriented to the
client population, in this case elderly people, to try to get them in-
volved to make sure that the people understand what the program
can bring them, to make sure they get a fair shake, to assist us in
seeing that good writeups are done, that good contractors are selected.

The program really works most effectively where you have that kind
of adjunct to Farmers Home. That does not excuse us for not carrying
out the program, through the county supervisor, in a sound, honest
way, or for the Government to get them what it intended them to
have. It is embarrassing, there has been a breakdown in our agency in
these cases.

We have taken every case, not only in New Mexico, but throughout
the United States, to the kinds of problems we have and the investi-
gation this committee conducted. The concerns that vou have, and
that we all share, are to see that it is a sound program, and it is going
to be reviewed very carefully with our staff, the national training
meetings, to make sure that they are attentive to these and other prob-
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lems that can occur to shortchange people on what this Congress and

the administration wanted them to have.
Senator DomENIcI. Well, Mr. Cavanaugh and Mr. Mercure, I share

your concern. I do not doubt that you are concerned. What bothers

me is that there has been a long time lapse and we still have not

figured out any way to repair any of these homes that were not

repaired.
Let me ask you this. Are you satisfied you have a procedure in place

and a policy, so that the checks which are cosigned are only for work

actually completed?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Yes, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. And you acknowledge this was not the case here.

In many of these examples, the inspectors actually signed without

knowing whether the work had been completed or whether the mate-

rials had been delivered to the site.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. It is just plain that our procedures were not fol-

lowed in this case, and that no one would honestly have seen what was

done and signed off on the check.
Senator DOMENIcI. Now I want to tell you something that bothers

me about the whole program. We had the New Mexico Construction

Industries Division director testify to Senator Chiles, Senator

Melcher, and me in New Mexico. His name is Ernest Coriz. He is

really something, because usually we have people here who are not ex-

pert, but he is an engineer, a construction authority. He told our com-

mittee Farmers Home Administration does not have a single person

in New Mexico qualified to make building inspections, or construc-

Lion progress inspections, as required by the New Mexico State stand-

ards and code. Have you ever heard that before ?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. No, sir.
Senator DOMENICI. What does this mean to you if this is the case?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. I don't know what examination the gentleman

made. I would say, first, that I can't speak specifically to New Mexico

today, but we have insisted that our State operations bolster our

strength and capability in building inspection across the line. In my

view, we do not have either the number of inspections, or in many

cases, the caliber of inspectors that we need for the broad range of

construction work that comes before the agency.
To a large measure we depend upon instruction, training, and over-

sight by architects and engineers, by training we give our own staff,

and by considerable dependence upon what are known as WAI or

WIN as the inspectors. I would like to make the observation, that in my

view, we have not been able to get the kind of grade levels that we

would like to have to be able to hire, what I think, is the level of expe-

rience and capability of construction inspectors for Farmers Home.

Senator DOMENICI. Why?
Mr. MERCURE. I believe Mr. Coriz' statement is a little extreme. There

are a few but not enough to handle the kinds of tasks that we have.

They address actually his criticism, and although somewhat overstated,

it is valid and I think reinforced by some of the suggestions and rec-

ommendations Mr. McBride has made with regard to his assessment

of FmHA management needs in the field.
Mr. McBRIDE. That is correct, Mr. Chairman.

79-347 0 - 81 - 9
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Senator DOMENICI. Let me ask you this. Why in those parts of NewMexico, where the State inspector system has enough personnel tohelp out, are they not used? Now we have evidence here that, strangelyenough, our State does not have a lot of building inspectors and thelegislature doesn't put enough money into training State inspectors.But there were some inspectors who were licensed and qualified whocould have inspected these homes and could have done so in a rathereasy way. They were in the area, they knew about it, but they werenot called upon under this program, and there is no effort to get themtogether.
Mr. CAVANAUTGH. For work under the local codes and the rules thatrequire local inspections we certainly welcome those inspections as away of supplementing our own inspections.
Senator DOMENICI. All right.
Mr. MERCUJRE. One last point. We should consider more seriouslywhere there is a structure of State inspection which, in the case ofNew Mexico it has, and perhaps other States don't have, that perhapswe ought to take a look at the capacity of our people out in the field,because it is obviously the kind of linkage of resources which is alludedto in Dr. La Vor's comments. Unfortunately in this case, although withgood intention, the linkage appears to have been less than ideal.Senator DOMENICI. Now we get to the last issue here. However, be-fore I get into that, let me say, I am firmly convinced after lookingat the programs in other States, that unless we put somebody in chargeof this type of program in a State like New Mexico, who is willingto take some innovative approaches and match resources, and encour-age contractors to do reputable work, we will continue to have second-rate people apply. Then you are going to have to have inspectors oninspectors on inspectors.

In Florida, they had a tremendous matchup of CETA trainees withsmall business assistance. The subcontractors were supervised by gen-eral contractors while learning to do the work and the general con-tractor was responsible. They did all these things, and it is a master-ful application of resources, compared to what we have in New Mexico.Mr. Mercure, when we got this all finished in New Mexico, we stillhad one question hanging over our heads, and that is: Where are wegoing to get resources to take care of these poor people whose homeshave not been fixed? So on October 28, we asked Mr. Cavanaugh,through our staff and Senator Chiles, the following: The committeefound in its hearing that certain homes were inappropriately repaired,if at all, under the 504 program. The committee would like to knowexactly what steps Farmers Home will take, if any, to properly fix upthe homes in question? Farmers Home ascertained that nothing canbe done, in a letter from Mr. Cavanaugh indicating the following:
Farmers Home has no legal basis to provide additional assistance to personswhose homes were not properly repaired, unless the amount of the 504 grantoriginally provided was less than the $5.000 legal, maximum or the family couldnow qualify for a 504 loan at 1 percent, but in any event the total assistancewould not exceed $5,000, and a total loan combination grant of $7,500.
Now, Mr. Mercure, were you a sked by Mr. Cavanaugh to check intothis, from the standpoint of the Department of Agriculture, and is thisyour conclusion also?
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Mr. MERcURE. No; the fixist answer to your question is no. No, I don't

believe Mr. Cavanaugh asked me if there was any alternative, but I

believe it is correct to say that our General Counsel has indicated
we cannot exceed $5,000 or $7,500 combination.

Then in that context we cannot do it within the resources that are

available legally from the Farmers Home Administration.
Senator DO3MENICI. So it is the official position of the Department

of Agriculture then. so we know in New Mexico, that they cannot do

anything to help those people get their homes repaired. Is that right?

Mr. MfIERCURE. Without the legislative authorization that permits

the Farmers Home to indemnify families who were victimized es-

sentially by shoddy workmanship, your answer is correct.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, let me pursue this with you. I really can't

understand that.
What if the homeowner has some rights? You know the kind of

people we are talking about. There is no way they can exercise legal

rights in this case: They don't have the money up front. They would

have to have an implied contract. and there may be one. That was

the answer of some lawyer who advised your people locally. I am

enough of a lawyer to know that is the first hurdle, and it will cost

you $800.
Mr. MERCUJRF. And if vou had $800, you could probably do the job

that should have been done in the first place.
Senator DOMIENICI. So there is no way that you can go in and take

the work or take assignment from the homeowners, or go after the

contractor, or exercise any rights in the Department of Agriculture?
Mr. MERCURE. Well, I don't know. We have not really posed that

question although we could pose it. The difficulty, again, is that the

likelihood that we can recover much from the contractor is probably

fairly remote also.
Senator DoxiENIcI. I would not doubt it. From the ones I saw, I

don't think they have anything left.
Mr. MERCURE. We pick up the pickup.
Senator DOMENICI. Yes, we pick up the pickup. Some of them were

incorporated. You cannot go beyond the corporation and the corpora-

tion does not have anything in it.
Mr. MERCURE. Yes.
Senator DOMENICI. So it is your position, even though you were not

asked previously, and you didn't sit down and talk about this with

Mr. Cavanaugh, to get this squared away before he wrote his letter

to us, that you cannot do anything to help them?

Mr. MERCURE. No; we cannot within the current legislative author-

ity we have.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Sir, may I add something to that?

Senator DOMENICI. Please.
Mr. CAVANAUGH. We do have legislation in Farmers Home relative

to new construction, that I feel I was in part instrumental in achiev-

ing for the agency, which allows us, in comparable situations, in new

construction where the homeowner is unable to get compensation in

a suitable fashion from the contractor, to be able to turn to the Govern-

ment for assistance, and the Senator may wish to recommend an ex-

tension of that kind of protection for these low-income repair loans,
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where those who have been defrauded or otherwise have not gotten thetype work that was planned, and where the contractor cannot beheld responsible, will get recompensed from the Government to put theproperty the way it should be.
We have exhausted everything, and that was out of the same kindof predicament where on occasion new houses would be built. Whenthe contractor would not be available to pay or to correct the effect,we have process whereby we can step in and do that after all the alter-natives have been exhausted. State directors and others are workinghard with both the Community Services Administration to obtainfunds that would allow the needed repairs to be made, as well as withthe New Mexico State Legislature, not because we are trying to turnto somebody else to pay for it, but because we do not have any legalauthority to take care of it ourselves.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, I can guarantee you, I think I have apretty good feel for New Mexico, and I don't think our State iegis-lature is going to appropriate money to redo the work which theyare going to say the Farmers Home Administration muffed up. I justcan't see it. I hope they will appropriate some money for the State'sactivities in housing rehabilitation. They didn't do it last year. Therewas no money for rehabilitation, but I hope they put some in. How-ever, it would be for their own activities. They are not going to repairwhat they perceive to be the Federal Government's mess.
Let me ask you this. Are there any cases where the Federal Gov-ernment has gone after a contractor to seek restitution for the grantee?Mr. MERCURE. Not to my knowledge.
Mr. McBRIDE. There have been a number of criminal actions againstcontractors. There are some claims actions pending involving these,although because of the fly-by-night character of some of these opera-tions the civil claim is often worthless. In the larger loans, such ascommunity facilities, there are quite a few. There have been a fairlylarge number of criminal actions involving contractors.
Senator DOwiENICI. Let me ask you, as Inspector General, are youaware of the fact that some people have succeeded in lawsuits againstthe Government in this kind of situation even though they have nocontract right?
Mr. McBRIDE. That was the question I raised; what action doesthe Government have against any of the contractors, either corporateor individual? I talked to the Assistant General Counsel this morningin preparation for this hearing and posed that question and got whatseemed to me a conservative answer. The Government is not a partyto the contract, and thus has no right of action.
I would commend to you, Mr. Chairman, and to the committee staffthat you might want to make an inquiry of the General Counsel him-self, Dan Marcus. I have found in the past that he is an imaginativelegal scholar, and may find a solution that has occurred to none of us.I am not sure he has been brought in on this question.
Senator DOMENICI. Well, my chief staff aide was there, as were twomembers from Mr. Marcus' office.
Mr. McBRIDE. I suggest you talk to Mr. Marcus.
Senator DONEENICI. Personally?
Mr. McBRIDE. Personally.
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Senator DoMENIcI. I am not so sure I want to continue to have to be
part of that kind of government.

Mr. McBRIDE. I will certainly be glad to take these
Senator DONEEN-IC1. If you have to go to the Governor of the State

every time an agency is not doing a job, things are in bad shape.
Mr. McBRIDE. I must say candidly, having been through issues like

this in the past, being myself a lawyer and exprosecutor, that I think
judicial remedies are unlikely to be successful because everybody who
might be liable is judgment proof, and that only some legislative or
regulatory action could be effective.

Senator DoMENIcI. Let me just summarize this then and say the
one suggestion that you made, Mr. Cavanaugh, about new construc-
tion, is not an easy application to our situation. This does not apply
readily because it is an entirely different situation. It may be stretched
to apply; is that what you are saying?

Mr. CAVANAUGH. No, sir, I don't want to play lawyer but I don't
really think that the existing provision would apply. In fact, the
notion of having it apply to repair and rehabilitation was rejected
during the course of the legislation.

Senator DO61ENICI. So there is nothing in the legislation from what
vou can tell at this point.

Mr. CAVANAUGII. Yes, sir, that is what I have been advised.
Senator Do3rENIcI. Mir. Mercure, is there anything that you can

think of that we ought to follow up on?
Mr. MERCURE. Well, I think you would probably want to consider

the suggestions Mr. Cavanaugh made.
I have a couple of points. Mr. McBride and I will talk to General

Counsel to see if there is anything that he can develop in the way of
a solution.

The third and final thing that I point out is that our experience
has been that this has been a very solid program. You made a state-
ment earlier, Senator, that we cannot just self-help in rehabilitation.
We have recently developed regulations for self-help housing which
permits us to use self-help housing approaches in rehabilitation. We
think that is going to be an important improvement but it will not
apply for section 504.

Senator DOMnENIcI. Let me ask if you will pursue that for us. 1 just
want to say there is no way I want to continue to have hearings. on
hearings, on hearings, on this issue. I don't want to abuse this process,
but I can tell you this: I have now gone as high as I intend to go in
the Department of Agriculture. I am not going to invite the Secretary
down here. I think Assistant Secretary Mfercure is as high as we have
to go. I can say that if we don't find a way to at least offer some help,
I clearly intend to take it out of some other program of the Depart-
inent of Agriculture. I am going to do it.

I am going to get money appropriated to help these poor people get
at least some of what they already paid for once. Tt just seems to me
we are dancing all around this. We know they did wrong. We know
they didn't follow the rules, but who gets punished? It is anywhere
from 15 to 100 people, principally elderly in very rural areas, that are
probably living as bad now as they were before they spent the money.
I just think we have to find a way to solve that. We hope we have
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solved the management problem. I am not sure we have, but at least wepointed it up for you.
My last questions go to you, Mr. Inspector General. Since we areabout to have a new administration, in due course, in the usual manner

in our country, a peaceful one without revolution, in your opinion does
Farmers Home need a new top-to-bottom audit of its procedures as tomanagement capabilities? Would this be the right time to do it?

Mr. McBRinE. Mr. Chairman, I think we know almost all the majorproblems in Farmers Home that need remedying, though a new admin-
istrator, new Secretary, might find some additional areas that needprobing. We have devoted intensive audit attention, and conducted
managment reviews of State and national operations. I have a number
of areas that I think require immediate attention; in fact, I have con-veyed information to the transition team and have given them my
recommendations in that respect.

I think FmHA needs a lot of work. I view it as the biggest problem
agency within the Department of Agriculture, and I do not say that incriticism of Mr. Mercure or Mr. Cavanaugh. Many of the problems
arise for reasons beyond their control. It is the most serious manage-
ment problem within the Department and I think it deserves toppriority. I have been blowing the whistle for the last 11/2 years and
indeed have talked to Members and staff of the Congress about theseproblems, because I feel they are so serious. Frankly, 1 welcome this
kind of hearing and I think greater congressional oversight would bea service in this area.

Senator DOMENICI. Mr. Cavanaugh, do you want to comment?
Mr. CAVANAUGH. Just a word on behalf of what I think is a veryfine Federal agency that has absorbed a tripling of its workload withno increase in staff. I would be glad to share with the Senator, oranyone else associated with the agency that can identify readily interms of how it can improve its service to the public. They are not allrelated to manpower, but the threshold of any agency that has grown

so fast in both the scale of its operations and the complexity and the
breadth of the operations, it is plain that the Government is being
penny-wise and pound-foolish by not maintaining adequate personnel
levels needed to properly service its programs. In the meantime Ithink that its personnel has done a remarkable job in serving the rural
public in this country.

Senator DOMENICI. Well, I want to say that it certainly may haveproblems, and your job is to do precisely what you have done, andhopefully it will be constructive. The Farmers Home Administration
has a tremendous responsibility and the potential for doing good isgreat. When we decided our rural development program was going tobe run by the Department of Agriculture, that was a major American
legislative policy decision and the Department of Agriculture under-
took some very different roles from that which it had conventionally.
I am not making excuses for anyone. It should be run right. Eventhough we don't have enough personnel, it still does not excuse the
kinds of things that are occurring in the field in New Mexico.

Mr. CAVANAUJGH. I am the first to admit that.
Senator DOMENICI. We look forward to reviewing your annual

report as we move through the legislative year.
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Do you have your findings reduced to a summary which you can
make a part of our record, or is it a very extensive document?

Mr. McBRIDE. I think it would be most useful to place in the record
that portion of my recently issued semiannual report pertaining to the
Farmers Home Administration.

Senator DOM1ENICI. I would request that you do that. If it is more
than 30 pages, let's just make an adjunct.

Mr. McBRI)E. Probably no more than five or six pages.
Senator DOMENICL. Including recommendations, I assume.
Mr. McBRIDE. Yes.
Senator DomFNIcI. Thank you. It will be made a part of the record.
[Subsequent to the hearing, Mr. McBride supplied the following

information:]
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE,

OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL,
Washington, D.C., January 13, 1981.

Hon. PETE V. DoMENIcI,
U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging,
Wa8hington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR DoMENICI: Pursuant to your request at the hearings of the

Special Committee on Aging on "Possible Abuse and Maladministration of Home
Rehabilitation Programs for the Elderly," I have enclosed pages from my last
semiannual report which point out significant problems, and recommendations
for corrective action, in programs of the Farmers Home Administration, for inclu-
sion in the hearing record.

While the semiannual report for the most part deals with problems in specific
programs of the Farmers Home Administration, you also asked for my views of

the management problems which have led to these program deficiencies. First,

I think there has been too much emphasis within FmHA on disbursing loans

and grants and too little attention paid to such things as preloan analysis, and
loan servicing. There must either be retrenchment in the number of programs
which FmHA administers, as well as the scope of the individual programs, or a
substantial staff increase.

They do not have a sufficient number of people to manage the present range
and volume of programs properly, nor do they have the correct mix of skills;
i.e. sufficient persons with skills in financial analysis, banking, engineering,
construction, building inspection, etc.

The present management information system is grossly inadequate. Timely
data such as number of deficiencies, loans by category, and other necessary
information for management decisions is not available. Closely related to the
need for an improved management information system, is the need for a qualified
Individual to fill the position of Deputy Administrator for Management. It is
one of the most important positions in the Department of Agriculture in terms
of impact on program operations.

The agency also has to clarify the line of authority relating to many of its
programs. For example, we recently conducted an audit on loan decisionmaking
for business and industry loans. We found that it was difficult to pinpoint
responsibility for loanmaking. We have made eight recommendations to the
Secretary to improve business and industry loan decisionmaking. These recom-
mendations have not yet been fully implemented. Other programs have similar
problems.

The high degree of autonomy which FmHA State offices exercise in loan and
grant decisions, coupled with the turnover among State Directors compounds
the problem of defining lines of authority and pinpointing responsibility. Further,
the noncareer status of the position of State Director enables the hiring of
persons who do not necessarily have professional backgrounds which prepare
them for the job.

The Farmers Home Administration also lacks the capability for an internal
review and analysis of its programs. We have also recommended to the agency
that they establish an internal review capability so that many of the problems
which your committee has identified and which our auditors and investigators
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have repeatedly identified, could be found by FmHA and corrected more rapidly.
To date only five positions have been established for the internal review staff.

Finally, we have consistently found procedural problems in loanmaking, i.e.
insufficient documentation, insufficient preloan analysis, checks that should have
been made prior to granting the loan have not been made, borrowers being given
misinformation by FmHA personnel, etc. Indeed, we have had cases where U.S.
attorneys have declined prosecution of borrowers because of the negligence of
the agency or its personnel. I currently have a task force looking at these pro-
cedural problems.

If you have further questions, please let me know.
Sincerely,

THOMAS F. McBRIDE,
Inspector General.

Attachments.

SIGNIFICANT PROBLEMS, ABUSES, OR DEFICIENCIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOB
CORRECTIVE ACTION

RURAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS OF THE FARMERS HOME ADMINISTRATION

In past reports we have expressed our concerns regarding the rapid growth
in the number of programs and the dollar volume of the programs administered
by FmHA, and the stress this growth has placed on the agency's capacity to
manage these programs.

Illustrative of this growth is the fact that since FmHA began as the Resettle-
ment Administration in 1935 through the end of fiscal year 1979, the agency
has advanced or obligated, through loans and grants, a total of $73.2 billion.
More than $58 billion (80 percent) of the total has been obligated between 1969
and the end of fiscal year 1979. $38 billion (45 percent) of the total has been
obligated between fiscal year 1976 and the end of fiscal year 1979. FmHA serv-
ices the accounts of approximately 1.25 million borrowers with a principal in-
debtedness of over $40 billion. In fiscal year 1979 almost $5 billion was collected
by approximately 2,000 field offices.

This growth has occurred while employment has increased very little. Recent
trends show the number of full-time FmHA employees has increased from 8,057
at the end of fiscal year 1972 to 8,456 in April 1980. Part-time employment
during the same period has increased from 1,491 to 1,674.

The result is that the number of staff years available for loanmaking and
servicing functions per $1 million in program money has decreased from 1.0 in
fiscal year 1969 to 0.21 in fiscal year 1979. Conversely, the average value of the
loan portfolio per employee has increased from $960,000 in fiscal year 1969 to
$4.7 million in fiscal year 1979.

Effective management of the FmHA loan programs, however, does not depend
totally on the adequacy of FmHA resources. An equally large part of the prob-
lem lies in FmHA management priorities, which emphasize getting the loan
made, often at the expense of careful review of the loan application, financial
statements, availability of commercial credit, and loan servicing. Our investi-
gations and audits have shown longstanding and serious problems in these areas.
We have investigated numerous instances involving alleged fraud or false state-
ments by borrowers only to find that faulty FmHA procedures or practices
were an obstacle to successful prosecution. While additional staff resources
are necessary to help deal with these problems, a fundamental reorientation of
FmHA management attitudes is likewise essential. Recently there have been
some indications that such a reorientation is occurring. For example, the Ad-
ministrator of FmHA has recently sent an administrative notice to the field
offices emphasizing the need for improved loan servicing.

The rapid growth in programs, combined with the inability to hire additional
personnel; the emphasis on loanmaking at the expense of loan servicing; the
failure to develop the Unified Management Information System (UMIS) ; and
new programs such as the economic emergency loan program and the synthetic
fuel program place new demands on employee skills and seriously strain FmHA
management capacity.
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Intradepartmental Review

In early 1979, we conducted a review of past audits of FmHA programs and
found that many of them reported the same general problems-for example
inadequate review of loan applications, inadequate servicing of loans and de-
linquent accounts, and inadequate review of borrowers to determine if they
should be graduated to commercial sources of credit. Many of the problems
were attributed to the imbalance between the size and complexity of FmHA
programs and the size and skills of its staff.

This review led to the creation of an intradepartmental group (the Deputy
Secretary, Assistant Secretary for Rural Development, Inspector General, and
FmHA Administrator) which was charged by the Secretary with the responsi-
bility of developing recommendations to improve FmHA's management controls
and lessen the susceptability of the rural rental housing, business and industrial
development, and emergency loan programs to fraud, abuse, and waste. The
group developed over 60 recommendations which FmHA has implemented or is in
the process of implementing. In addition FmHA requested audit and investigative
assistance in those program areas.

Internal Review CapacitV

At the request of FmHA, the Office of Inspector General analyzed the need for
FmHA to establish an internal review capacity. The analysis was predicated on
the fact that FmHA has evolved from a small lender of last resort for family
farmers to one of the largest financial institutions in the world. In the past
decade FmHA's loan volume has increased from $800 million to over $14 billion
annually. The typical county office (there are over 1,800) is often the largest
lending institution in the county, having the responsibility for servicing a caseload
of 591 loans with an outstanding balance of $19.6 million, making loans and grants
of $7.5 million per year; and making cash collections of $2 million per year. This
workload is usually handled by a staff of three: county supervisor, assistant
county supervisor, and county office assistant.

FmHA has traditionally relied upon OIG to provide the resources necessary to
test and monitor the internal controls in their programs and financial opera-
tions, and, to a lesser extent, has itself performed internal reviews on an ad hoc
basis. However, the tremendous growth in FmHA programs and the amount of
dollars loaned, plus the fact that the loan programs are becoming increasingly
complex, require the Office of Inspector General to focus its resources on those
program areas most susceptible to fraud, abuse, and waste. Therefore, the
checking of internal controls at the State or county offices on a standardized
cycle cannot be accomplished within available OIG resources. While we believe
that our new audit approaches have substantially reduced the need for cycle
audits of State and county offices, we recognize the need to perform control checks
at those levels, and we have therefore recommended that a permanent internal
review staff be established within FmHA. This staff would not assume any OIG
functions. Rather it would augment the FmHA Administrator's ability to detect
and respond immediately to problem areas. The internal review staff would also
enable the Administrator to insure that corrective actions for problems identified
in audits, investigations, and reviews are, in fact, implemented. This latter
function should help resolve the primary concern of OIG that effective corrective
action is taken.

Specifically, we have recommended the establishment of an internal review
staff of between 50 and 75 persons within FmHA which would be responsible
for the following functions:

-Perform postclosing credit analysis of large dollar loans and review the
independent public accountant reports required by various FmHA programs.

-Perform trend analysis on FmHA programs and operations and monitor the
activities of the Finance Office-that is, make confirmations of borrower
accounts; and

-Perform additional internal reviews of areas most susceptible to problems,
and follow up on actions taken to correct deficiencies disclosed in prior OIG
audits and internal reviews.

FmHA has recently developed a plan for creating an internal review staff, but
has not yet assigned personnel to this function.
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Special Impact Audit8

Although we continue to devote a significant portion of our resources to pro-
grams administered by FmHA, we have also concentrated on improving the effec-
tiveness of our audit effort by placing greater emphasis on special impact audits
designed to focus on problems in an entire program, as opposed to problems in the
particular office administering the program as was done under the cycle audit
concept. We have found that the special impact audit results in more comprehen-
sive correction of endemic problems.

The following audits, conducted during this reporting period are examples of
our special impact audits.

BUSINESS AND INDUSTRIAL LOAN PBOORAM

The business and industrial loan program was authorized by the Rural Devel-
opment Act of 1972. The purpose of the program is to stimulate the rural indus-
trial economy by providing loan funds to acquire, construct, reorganize, or expand
rural businesses providing new employment opportunities. It is primarily a guar-
anteed loan program. That is, FmHA can guarantee up to 90 percent of a loan
which is usually made by a commercial bank. Business and industrial loans made
through the program through fiscal year 1980 totaled approximately $4.4 billion.

During this reporting period we completed a review of 40 business and indus-
trial loans. This review resulted from concerns voiced about the business and
industrial loan guarantee decisionmaking process by persons within FmHA, the
Office of Inspector: General, and the Secretariat, and from outside the Depart-
ment. We were concerned not only with the issue of whether or not external
pressures were leading to the approval of business and industrial loan guarantees
for reasons unrelated to the financial and economic feasibility and impact, but
also with the appearance that external political or other pressures were factors in
the approval of such loans. For the loans reviewed, there was a considerable
amount of external involvement in the loanmaking process. While it is important
to note that this does not mean all loans reviewed were not worthy of being
approved, it does highlight the fact that there is an appearance that these loans
could have been made for reasons other than financial and economic considera-
tions. Since these loans were not randomly selected, we cannot project the results
of the survey to all business and industrial loan guarantee decisionmaking.

Of 40 loans in excess of $1 million selected for review, 22 loans (totaling $88
million) were selected primarily because loan approvals initially were "dis-
couraged"; that is. not recommended for approval by the State office or the
national loan review committee, or loan review officers. Eighteen loans (totaling
almost $223 million) were selected from fiscal year 1979 operations primarily
because of the large dollar amount of the loans (4 of the 18 were also rejected at
least once by the State office or national loan review committee).

We determined through interviews and record examinations that in 21 of the
40 loans reviewed there was evidence of support for the loan by outside parties;
for example, Office of the Secretary, Members of Congress, congressional staff,
White House staff, or State and local elected officials. We took into consideration
only those instances where strong letters of support for the loan guarantees were
present and/or there was evidence of meetings or personal contacts between
FmHA officials and outside interested parties concerning the loan applications.
Routine congressional or other inquiries on the status of loan applications were
disregarded.

Six of the forty loans in our sample were approved outside the normal ap-
plication review and evaluation process at both the State and national office
levels. While the regulations provide that the State Director has ultimate re-
sponsibility for final loan approval, in practice that system is not always followed.
In three cases, State officials either did not recommend approval of the loan or
were not given an opportunity to review and evaluate fully the application be-
fore the loan application was reviewed by the national office. A national office
loan review officer was assigned to evaluate the six applications, but the applica-
tions were either not fully evaluated by the officer or were not subsequently
recommended for approval by the national office loan review committee. Two of
the loan applications were approved but never reviewed by the loan committee
as required by FmHA procedures. The remaining four applications were dis-
couraged by the committee but were subsequently approved. According to inter-
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views and record examinations, the assigned loan review officers had recom-
mended or were going to recommend against guaranteeing loans to these appli-
cants because of their poor financial condition, the high risk involved, or the
lack of credit worthiness.

Of the 40 loans reviewed, 26 were discouraged at least once by the national
office prior to being approved. There were nine cases where the loan guarantee
applications were discouraged two to four times preceding final approval. From
our reviews of the loan dockets and our interviews, it appeared that considerable
support from Members of Congress or the Secretariat was given for final approval
of 14 of the 26 loan applications previously discouraged.

In many of the cases where there was outside support for loan approval, the
documentation of the processing and the factors on which approval of the ap-
plications was based were inadequate.

In addition, the loan review summaries prepared by the assigned loan re-
view officers for presentation to the loan review committee were not retained
when applications were discouraged or rejected. Only the letters to the State
offices discouraging the projects were in the loan files. However, when the
applications were resubmitted and ultimately approved, the loan review sum-
maries prepared at that time were retained. Therefore, the loan review commit-
tee in its deliberations did not have the benefit of the prior review and reasoning
for discouraging the loan guarantee application.

Recommendations
We made the following recommendations to the Secretary to improve business

and industrial loan decisionmaking. These recommendations were based on our
belief that we must insure the integrity of the business and industrial loan pro-
gram and that we should take steps necessary to assure that all loans are made
on their merits and in accordance with statutory requirements.

(1) All "outside" contacts, that is, from other than FmHA employees or the
applicant and his/her representative, should be documented. A written record of
such communications, calls, or inquiries setting forth the nature of the inquiry
and the response should be transmitted to a designated official of FmHA who
will make sure such records of contacts are placed in the loan docket.

(2) The Administrator of FmHA should have full delegation of responsibility
for business and industrial loan approvals and disapprovals. While such a dele-
gation presently exists, our review showed noncompliance with this regulation in
a number of instances.

(3) The Administrator of FmHA may delegate approval authority to subordi-
nate levels within FmHA with clear guidelines specifying the dollar size or
specific nature of the business and industrial loans subject to such delegation.

(4) Each business and industrial reviewing level within FmiHA (State or
national office) should fully document their recommendations for approval or
disapproval and the specific factors on which such recommendations are based.

(5) All loans of $1 million and'over should be reviewed by a national loan
review committee.

(6) The loan committee should make a documented committee recommendation
of approval or disapproval setting forth the specific reasons and analyses in sup-
port of that recommendation.

(7) There should be an appeal process to the FmHA Administrator for those
loans finally disapproved at the State level. For those for which the national
office has approval/denial authority, there should be no appeal.

(8) The Administrator of FmHA should immediately implement internal re-
view systems to deal with the following aspects to assure that the business and
industrial loan applications are thoroughly reviewed in depth and in detail:

(a) Economic feasibility of the venture, including review and verification
of current financial data, sales and profit projections, employment projec-
tions, adequacy of borrower equity, management capability, and any specific
feasibility studies submitted in connection with the applications.

(b) Negotiation of an appropriate level of guarantee commensurate with
the degree of risk and FmHA financial exposure.

(c) Adequacy of loan security, particularly personal guarantees.
The agency is implementing those recommendations, with one modification.

The Under Secretary for Rural Development will retain final review authority
for loans over $2.5 million which have been approved by the FmHA administrator.

We are continuing our audits of the overall administration of the business and
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selected sample of 30 business and industrial loan guarantees in 20 States.

RURAL HOUSING CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR LOANS: INTEREST CREDIT AGREEMENTS

The Housing Act of 1968 gave FmHA authority to subsidize interest on loans
approved for low-income borrowers. Under this authority FmHA can charge a
low-income borrower as little as 1-percent interest on the loan, with FmHA paying
the difference between the subsidized interest rate and the true interest cost to
FmHA, currently 11 percent.

Since 1968, FmHA has granted approximately $1.7 billion in interest credit
assistance. The interest credit program has grown from $1 million in 1969 to $442
million in 1979. The average effective interest rate paid on loans by borrowers
who receive interest credit is approximately 2.8 percent.

The interest credit agreements are for a 2-year period and are reviewed
biennially to determine the need for continued interest credit assistance. The
FmHA County Supervisor has the authority to increase the benefits if there is
a reduction in income prior to the normal review date. However, there is no
requirement to reduce benefits unless the borrower is found ineligible for the
program; nor are there requirements for the borrower to report changes in income
nor for the County Supervisor to monitor changes in income.

We conducted an audit of the interest credit program in 1976 and found that 34
percent of the 150 interest credit agreements sampled were incorrect at the time
they were approved by the County Supervisor.

The amount of interest credit was incorrect in an additional 39 percent of the
sample agreements because of changes in borrower income or other circumstances
occurring after the loan was made. The prior audit projected $50.3 million In
excessive interest credits being granted to borrowers during the term of the
181,262 agreements that were in effect at the time of the audit.

Our current audit, based on a statistical sample of 200 loans selected from
310,778 loans in effect as of October 1, 1979, was to determine what changes had
occurred in the program since our previous audit and to determine the effect of
such changes. We found that: (1) FmHA had not adopted many of our recommen-
dations, and (2) the magnitude of the problems had Increased significantly.
We found there had been a 72-percent increase in the number of interest credit
agreements and a 157-percent increase in the value of these agreements since 1976.
The error rate in interest credit computations resulting in overissuance of benefits
increased from 64.7 percent of the agreements sampled in the prior audit to 76.5
percent in the current audit; while the error rate resulting in an underissuance of
benefits increased from 8.6 to 10.5 percent.

The dollar impact of these errors increased from $50.3 million in 1976 to about
$190.7 million in 1979. Generally, the same types of problems disclosed in our pre-
vious audit were found in the current audit. For example:

-Because FmHA procedures do not require borrowers to report changes in their
income or other circumstances to the county office, we found 19 percent of the
200 borrowers sampled would have been ineligible for interest credit because
of increases in income. An additional 48 percent, while still eligible for inter-
est credit, had income increases which would have resulted in an increase in
the interest charged them on the loan.

The audit also identified certain inequities in the granting of interest credit to
rural housing borrowers. An analysis of the loan data for the period October 1,
1978, to December 31, 1979, showed that lower income interest credit borrowers on
a nationwide average were purchasing higher priced homes than are higher income
borrowers who were not eligible for interest credit. The analysis also showed that
some rural housing applicants not eligible for interest credit probably could not
afford to purchase a home because they would pay a higher percentage of their
income for housing than do the interest credit borrowers.
Recommendation8

(1) Interest credit agreements should be reviewed on an annual basis and
upon termination or renewal and. if appropriate, retroactive adjustments made
for improper interest credit benefits. Appropriate changes should be made when
a change in borrower circumstances offsets the interest credit by more than $15
per month. In addition FmHA should provide for penalties to borrowers' accounts
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to cover the expense of performing retroactive adjustments if the borrowers do
not report changes.

(2) The forms used to obtain and verify an applicant's family income should
be revised to include scheduled increases in salary, expected overtime, and any
other data necessary to evaluate and compute adjusted family income. County
office personnel should be required to document adequately their computations
of adjusted family income and interest credit.

(3) The period for reverifying income if the verification of employment is
more than 90 days prior to the date of loan approval, the date of loan closing, or
the date the interest credit agreement is approved should be maintained. FmHA
is proposing to extend that period to 120 days. We believe that FmHA will have
greater assurance that borrower income data is correct if the 90-day period is
maintained.

(4) The interest credit agreement should be revised to alert borrowers to the
fact that when they sign the agreement, they are certifying to the accuracy and
completeness of the financial and household data.

(5) The national office should emphasize to county office personnel the need
for accurately identifying and verifying all household income for persons apply-
ing for interest credit. They should be instructed to include income from tem-
porary employment and overtime. In addition, county office personnel should be
requested to interview borrowers applying for renewal of interest credit agree-
ments to determine if income or family status has changed since execution of the
interest credit agreement.

FmHA officials were in agreement with some of the audit findings: however,
they stated they did not have the staff to review interest credit agreements upon
termination or renewal nor to nmake retroactive adjustments for excessive interest
credit. While we agree the recommended reviews would be an administrative
burden, such corrective action is both desirable and cost beneficial when more
than $190 million in ineligible subsidy payments is involved. The agency is es-
tablishing a task force to review the program to determine the cost effectiveness
of implementing the recommendations.

If the recommendations contained in the prior audit had been acted upon by
FmHA, a substantial portion of the projected $190.7 million in excess interest
credit would have been saved.

ECONOMIC EMERGENCY LOAN PROGRAM

The purpose of the economic emergency loan program, enacted in 1978, is to
make financial assistance available to eligible farmers and ranchers to enable
them to maintain a viable agricultural operation during times of economic stress.
Loans can be made only to applicants who receive 50 percent or more of their
gross income from agricultural production or expend more than 50 percent of
their time operating the farm or ranch. Originally the loans could be used for:
(1) Refinancing outstanding indebtedness on farm or home real estate and for
other essential farm and home debts; (2) reorganization of the agricultural
operation; (3) purchase of water rights, supplies, and irrigation facilities; (4)
purchase of livestock and farm equipment; (5) purchase of feed, seed, fertilizer,
insecticides, and other farm supplies; (6) financing land and water develop-
ment; (7) family subsistence; and (8) loan closing costs.

Legislation enacted in 1980 prohibits the refinancing of outstanding indebted-
ness on farm or home real estate unless such real estate was purchased by the
applicant at least 1 year prior to the date of the loan application.

The interest rate charged for these loans is "the cost of money to the Govern-
ment," currently 11 percent for real estate loans and 11.5 percent for operating
loans. For insured loans and guaranteed loans the interest rate is negotiated
between the borrower and the lender. Insured loans are those loans made by
FmHA directly to the borrower. Guaranteed loans are made to the borrower by
commercial lenders and FmHA guarantees repayment of a portion, usually 90
percent, of the loan.

The purpose of the loan reviews conducted by this office was to determine
whether the economic emergency loans were made to eligible applicants for
authorized purposes, and whether there were reasonable efforts to consider mak-
ing guaranteed loans before consideration was given to making insured loans.

Our review of 276 loans disclosed the following problems:
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Extended Loan Amortization Periods

Economic emergency loans were made to refinance borrowers' operating debts
over periods as long as 40 years without determining the borrowers' ability to
repay the loans over shorter periods of time. FmHA procedures provide that
loans for operating debts shall be repaid in 7 years. A 10-year repayment period
can be approved, however, if certain provisions are met. Some FmHA county
office personnel were of the opinion that if real estate was used as loan security,
the repayment period could be scheduled for periods up to 40 years. As a result,
42 of the 276 loans reviewed were made to finance operating debts (totaling
$3.9 million) for periods of up to 40 years.

The effect of this practice is to increase substantially the interest cost to the
borrower and to hinder the graduation of these loans to private sources of credit,
because commercial lenders usually limit the repayment schedule for operating
debts to much shorter periods even when the debt is secured by real estate.

Insured Loans Versus Other Sources of Credit

Although FmHA established a policy of making insured loans only when loan
guarantees were not available through local agricultural lenders, as of Decem-
ber 1979, only 4 percent of the $3 billion in outstanding economic emergency
loans represented guaranteed loans. While FmHA personnel attributed this to
the higher interest rates charged by commercial lenders, a projection based on
a statistically selected sample of 30 of 377 economic emergency loans in 11
county offiees in Indiana showed that as many as 146 of the 377 loans were
probably made without adequate FmHA determination of whether borrowers
could obtain credit from commercial lenders either through commercial loans
or FmHA loan guarantees.

Ineligible Borrowers and Unauthorized Loan Purposes

Of the 276 loans included in the review, 31 loans totaling $3 million were
made to borrowers who were ineligible, or the loans were made for purposes
not authorized by the program. Many of the improper loans occurred because
FmHA personnel approved substitution of economic emergency loans for farm
ownership and operating loans when applicants did not meet the economic
emergency loan eligibility requirements, or the loans were for purposes not
authorized by the program.

Our survey disclosed that 12 loans totaling $1.9 million were made to bor-
rowers who were ineligible because they did not meet the FmHA criteria of
deriving more than 50 percent of gross income from agricultural production or
contributing over 50 percent of their time to operate the farm. Nineteen of the
loans reviewed were made for unauthorized purposes, such as the expansion of
farming operations; purchasing, repairing, or constructing personal dwellings;
and financing real estate debt.

In addition to conducting the audit, we reviewed the data base of the St.
Louis Finance Office and determined that over J.000 borrowers with loans total-
ing $199 million reported receiving less than 50 percent of their income from
agricultural production. Field verification of this information revealed than 7
of 27 borrowers in two counties were not primarily and directly engaged in agri-
cultural production as is required by the statute.
Recommend ations

(1) The procedures for approval of loans for refinancing operating indebted-
ness should be revised to place more emphasis on the applicant's repayment abil-
ity, as a condition for loan approval, rather than relying solely on the assets
used as security for the loan; and to further define what other debts can be
included in real estate loans.

(2) In order to carry out the stated policy of making guaranteed loans in pref-
erence to insured loans, the FmHA or Congress should consider establishing
interest rates keyed to the mortgage market and establishing separate fund
limitations for insured and guaranteed loans. Subsequent to the audit, the
economic emergency loan program was extended by Congress. In extending the
program, several amendments were made, one of which requires that before
approving an insured loan of more than $300,000, FmHA determine that the
applicant Is unable to secure a loan commitment from a commercial lender that
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could be guaranteed by FmHA. This requirement should improve the balance
between insured and guaranteed loans.

(3) The FmHA national office should rewrite and clarify the intent of operating
instructions pertaining to the applicant's eligibility, authorized loan purposes,
and repayment terms. In addition, the national office should monitor more closely
critical problem areas.

The 1980 amendments also included a requirement that the FmHA conduct a
comprehensive study of the operation and effectiveness of the economic emergency
loan program and the need for extension of the program beyond September 30,
1981. Other provisions of the study include: (1) The effect of the loans on the
overall financial condition of the borrowers and their ability to maintain viable
agricultural operations, (2) the effect of the credit elsewhere test, (3) the loan
delinquency rate and the percentage of borrowers subsequently graduated, (4)
the use of loan guarantees compared with insured loans, (5) the purposes for
which the loans are obtained compared to the purposes specified in the act, (6)
the methods of servicing loans and encouraging repayment, and (7) program
alternatives, including merging the program with the farm ownership and opera-
ting loan programs or the combination of all programs into a single program.

The agency is revising the economic emergency loan program instructions to
incorporate the provisions of the amendments and to provide the clarification
necessary to assure loans are made only to eligible applicants and that such loans
are used for authorized purposes.

UNIFIED MANAGEMENT INFORMATION SYSTEM

In November 1979, we pointed out that FmHA had experienced serious prob-
lems and cost escalation in its efforts to develop the Unified Management Informa-
tion System. Since that time the following events have occurred:

-In January 1980, a departmental task force was formed, under the direction
of the Assistant Secretary for Administration, to evaluate the status of the
Unified Management Information System, to determine what portions of the
project could be salvaged.

-In July 1980, the House Subcommittee on Legislation and National Security
of the Committee on Government Operations held hearings to examine the
cause of the failure of the project and to determine what corrective actions
are needed to insure that FmHA will develop a modern and efficient manage-
ment information system.

-In September 1980, the subcommittee issued a report entitled "Management
Failures in Developing the Farmers Home Administration's Unified Man-
agement Information System." The report contains several recommenda-
tions, including: (1) The Secretary should direct that all UMIS develop-
ment efforts be halted; (2) the Assistant Secretary of Administration
should develop a project plan to design and develop a new Management
Information System; and (3) the Assistant Secretary for Administra-
tion should assume overall management control for the development of
FmHA's Management Information System.

It is essential that FmHA have a viable Management Information System
and we will continue to monitor its development.

Senator DOMENICI. We stand adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 3:45 p.m., the committee adjourned.]
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